Lecture Notes in Mathematics

1914

Editors: J.-M. Morel, Cachan F. Takens, Groningen B. Teissier, Paris

Gitta Kutyniok

Affine Density in Wavelet Analysis



Author

Gitta Kutyniok

Until September 2007
Program in Applied and Computational
Mathematics
Princeton University
Princeton, NJ 08544
USA

e-mail: kutyniok@math.princeton.edu

From October 2007 Department of Statistics Stanford University Stanford, CA 94305 USA

e-mail: kutyniok@stat.stanford.edu

Library of Congress Control Number: 2007928330 Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 42C40, 42C15, 94A12

ISSN print edition: 0075-8434 ISSN electronic edition: 1617-9692

ISBN 978-3-540-72916-7 Springer Berlin Heidelberg New York

DOI 10.1007/978-3-540-72949-5

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilm or in any other way, and storage in data banks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September 9, 1965, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Violations are liable for prosecution under the German Copyright Law.

Springer is a part of Springer Science+Business Media springer.com

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2007

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

Typesetting by the author and SPi using a Springer LATEX macro package

Cover design: design & production GmbH, Heidelberg

Printed on acid-free paper SPIN: 12070794 41/SPi 5 4 3 2 1 0

Dedicated to my Parents

Preface

During the last 20 years, wavelet analysis has become a major research area in mathematics, not only because of the beauty of the mathematical theory of wavelet systems (sometimes also called affine systems), but also because of its significant impact on applications, especially in signal and image processing. After the extensive exploration of orthonormal bases of classical affine systems that has occupied much of the history of wavelet theory, recently both wavelet frames — redundant wavelet systems — and irregular wavelet systems — wavelet systems with an arbitrary sequence of time-scale indices — have come into focus as a main area of research. Two main reasons for this are to serve new applications which require robustness against noise and erasures, and to derive a deeper understanding of the theory of classical affine systems. However, a comprehensive theory to treat irregular wavelet frames does not exist so far. The main difficulty consists of the highly sensitive interplay between geometric properties of the sequence of time-scale indices and frame properties of the associated wavelet system.

In this research monograph, we introduce the new notion of affine density for sequences of time-scale indices to wavelet analysis as a highly effective tool for studying irregular wavelet frames. We present many results concerning the structure of weighted irregular wavelet systems with finitely many generators, adding considerably to our understanding of the relation between the geometry of the time-scale indices of these general wavelet systems and their frame properties.

This book is the author's Habilitationsschrift in mathematics at the Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen. It is organized as follows. The introduction presents a detailed overview of the recent developments in the study of irregular wavelet frames and of the already quite established theory of the relation between Beurling density and the geometry of sequences of time-frequency indices of Gabor systems. Furthermore, it explains our main results in an informal way. Chapter 2 reviews the terminology and notations from

frame theory as well as from wavelet and time-frequency analysis employed in this book.

The notion of weighted affine density, which will turn out to be a most effective tool for studying the geometry of sequences of time-scale indices associated with weighted irregular wavelet systems, will be introduced in Chapter 3. We illustrate the new notion by giving several examples. We further compare this notion of affine density with the affine density that was independently and simultaneously introduced by Sun and Zhou [119] and point out the advantages of our notion.

In Chapter 4, we prove that the notion of weighted affine density leads to very elegant necessary conditions for the existence of general wavelet frames on the sequence of time-scale indices. The usefulness of this notion is emphasized by its utility for the study of a rather technical-appearing hypothesis known as the *local integrability condition (LIC)* of a characterization result for weighted wavelet Parseval frames by Hernández, Labate, and Weiss [77]. In fact, we show that under a mild regularity assumption on the analyzing wavelets, the LIC is in fact solely a density condition.

Chapter 5 is devoted to the study of a quantitative relation between frame bounds and affine density conditions, since the complexity of frame algorithms is strongly related to the values of the frame bounds. A striking result here is a fundamental relationship between the affine density of the sequence of time-scale indices, the frame bounds, and the admissibility constant of a weighted irregular wavelet frame with finitely many generators. Several implications of this result are outlined, among which is the revelation of a reason for the non-existence of a Nyquist phenomenon for wavelet systems and the uniformity of sequences of time-scale indices associated with tight wavelet frames. In addition, we also present the first result in which the existence of particular wavelet frames is completely characterized by density conditions. The non-existence of very general co-affine frames is then shown to follow as a corollary.

In Chapter 6, we show that most irregular wavelet frames (and even wavelet Schauder bases) satisfy a so-called *Homogeneous Approximation Property (HAP)*. This property not only implies certain invariance properties under time-scale shifts when approximating with wavelet frames, but is also shown to have impact on density considerations. In addition to these main results, our techniques introduce some very useful new tools for the study of wavelet systems, e.g., certain Wiener amalgam spaces and — related with these objects — a particular class of analyzing wavelets.

Chapter 7 is devoted to the study of shift-invariance, i.e., invariance under integer translations, which is a desirable feature for many applications, since this ensures that similar structures in a signal are more easily detectable. The oversampling theorems from wavelet analysis show that most classical affine systems can be turned into a shift-invariant wavelet system with comparable frame properties. Most interestingly, the process also leaves density properties invariant, and the question concerning necessity of this fact for irregular wavelet systems arises. In this chapter we study the analog of this problem in

time-frequency analysis and give a complete answer for irregular Gabor systems. Along the way we introduce a new notion of weighted Beurling density and derive extensions of results from H. Landau [97], and Balan, Casazza, Heil, and Z. Landau [7]. The results obtained in this chapter are not only interesting by itself, but can also be regarded as an important step towards the study of similar questions in wavelet analysis.

Acknowledgments

I am first and foremost indebted to Christopher Heil, who initiated the research for this book by inviting me as a Visiting Assistant Professor to the School of Mathematics at the Georgia Institute of Technology for the Fall Term of 2001. He has been a great friend and wonderful collaborator since then. I am deeply grateful to him for agreeing to include generalizations to multiple generators of our joint papers [73, 75], joint results on the HAP for Schauder bases (see Chapter 6), and a result from our joint paper [74] in this book. I also owe special thanks to Guido Weiss for inviting me to the Department of Mathematics at Washington University in St. Louis several times and for numerous inspiring discussions about my work. Further, I am indebted to Pete Casazza for introducing me to frame theory, for inviting me to the Department of Mathematics at the University of Missouri, and for being a great collaborator in several joint research projects.

I would like to thank Akram Aldroubi, Radu Balan, Marcin Bownik, Maria Carro, Ole Christensen, Charles Chui, Wojciech Czaja, Hans Feichtinger, Karlheinz Gröchenig, Jeffrey Hogan, Mihail Kolountzakis, Ilya Krishtal, Demetrio Labate, Zeph Landau, Ursula Molter, Amos Ron, Zouwei Shen, Javier Soria, Darrin Speegle, Yang Wang, and Edward Wilson for their interest in my work and for their many useful suggestions and hints. Further thanks go to Martin Buhmann and Christopher Heil for careful reading of parts of this book.

I am thankful to the Institutes of Mathematics at the Universität Paderborn and the Justus—Liebig—Universität Gießen for creating a pleasant working atmosphere. I would also like to acknowledge support from the German Research Foundation (DFG) in the form of DFG Research Fellowship KU 1446/5-1. This enabled me to spent one year in the U.S. during which a large portion of research for this book was developed. In this regard I am also thankful to the Department of Mathematics at Washington University in St. Louis and the School of Mathematics at the Georgia Institute of Technology for their hospitality and support during this year. I am indebted to Martin Buhmann and Tomas Sauer for supporting this research stay and consenting to my absence from the Institute of Mathematics at the Justus—Liebig—Universität Gießen during that period of time.

I would like to thank the staff at Springer-Verlag Heidelberg for editorial advise and help. I am grateful to Fernanda Laezza, Demetrio and Francesca

X Preface

Labate, and Shelby, Bernie, and Lindsay Johnson for accepting me as a family member during my times in St. Louis and Atlanta and thereby contributing to make these stays a wonderful experience. Finally, I wish to thank my parents Hildegard and Norbert Kutyniok for their endless support which I can always count on.

Gießen, June 2006

 $Gitta\ Kutyniok$

Contents

T	Inti	roduction	1	
	1.1	Irregular Wavelet and Gabor Frames	1	
	1.2	Density for Gabor Systems	3	
	1.3	Geometry of Time-Scale Indices	5	
	1.4	Overview of Main Results	7	
2	Wavelet and Gabor Frames			
	2.1	Frame Theory	11	
	2.2	Wavelet Analysis	13	
	2.3	Time-Frequency Analysis	16	
	2.4	Amalgam Spaces	19	
3	We	ighted Affine Density	21	
	3.1	Definitions		
	3.2	Basic Properties	24	
	3.3	The Notion of Affine Density by Sun and Zhou	27	
	3.4	Comparison of Both Notions of Affine Density	32	
4	Qualitative Density Conditions 35			
	4.1	Existence of an Upper Frame Bound		
	4.2	Existence of a Lower Frame Bound	37	
	4.3	Examples of Wavelet Systems	42	
	4.4	Density of Sequences in \mathbb{R}^+	45	
	4.5	Affine Density and the Local Integrability Condition	48	
		4.5.1 Amalgam Spaces on $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$	48	
		4.5.2 A Density Version of the Local Integrability Condition .	50	
		4.5.3 A Characterization of Wavelet Parseval Frames	56	
5	Qua	antitative Density Conditions	59	
	5.1			
	5.2	Density of Product Sequences		

XII	C	Contents
	5.3	A Fundamental Relationship
	5.4	The Nyquist Phenomenon
	5.5	Sufficient Density Conditions for Wavelet Frames
	5.6	Existence of Special Weight Functions
	5.7	Co-Affine Systems
6	Hor	mogeneous Approximation Property 87
	6.1	Amalgam Spaces and the Continuous Wavelet Transform 87
	6.2	The Basic Class \mathcal{B}_0
	6.3	The Homogeneous Approximation Property
		for Wavelet Frames
	6.4	The Comparison Theorem for Wavelet Frames
	6.5	Density Results for Wavelet Schauder Bases
7	Wei	ighted Beurling Density and Shift-Invariant Gabor
	\mathbf{Sys}	tems
	7.1	Motivation and Outline of Chapter
	7.2	Weighted Beurling Density
	7.3	Littlewood–Paley Type Inequalities
	7.4	Equivalent Definition of Weighted Beurling Density
	7.5	Beurling Density, Frame Bounds, and Gabor Generators119
	7.6	Shift-Invariant Gabor Systems
Ref	eren	nces
Ind	ex	

Introduction

1.1 Irregular Wavelet and Gabor Frames

Wavelet analysis has attracted rapidly increasing attention since Daubechies' groundbreaking book [41] in 1992 and is nowadays one of the major research areas in applied mathematics. The analyzing systems commonly used in wavelet analysis are the classical affine systems. Such a system consists of the collection of time-scale shifts of a function $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, called the analyzing wavelet, associated with two parameters a > 1 and b > 0 and is given by

$${a^{-\frac{j}{2}}\psi(a^{-j}x-bk)}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}}.$$

The origins of time-frequency analysis trace back to Gabor's article [59] on information theory, which appeared in 1946. This theory has also since become an important, independent branch of applied harmonic analysis. The function systems most often employed in this theory are the regular Gabor systems, which comprise the collection of time-frequency shifts determined by a function $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and two parameters a, b > 0, specifically

$${e^{2\pi ibnx}g(x-ak)}_{k,n\in\mathbb{Z}}.$$

There exist extensions to the higher dimensional situation for both systems, but in this introduction we restrict our discussion to the one-dimensional case for simplicity.

Both wavelet and Gabor systems play important roles in signal processing and data compression, e.g., in developing JPEG 2000, in solving MRI problems, and for the FBI fingerprint database (see, for instance, the books by Benedetto and Ferreira [8], Chui [25, 26], Feichtinger and Strohmer [56, 57], and Mallat [100]). These two types of systems are also a source of many intriguing mathematical problems and a useful tool in other areas of mathematics, see, e.g., the applications of wavelets to the study of Navier-Stokes or Euler equations (see, for instance, the books authored by Debnath [44] and Hogan and Lakey [82]).

Until some years ago the focus of research in wavelet analysis had been mainly on the construction of orthonormal bases. But recently the theory of frames, which generalize the notion of bases by allowing redundancy yet still providing a reconstruction formula, has been growing rapidly, since several new applications have been developed. Due to their robustness not only against noise but also against losses, and due to their freedom in design, frames — especially tight frames — have proven themselves an essential tool for a variety of applications such as, for example, nonlinear sparse approximation, coarse quantization, data transmission with erasures, and wireless communications (see, for instance, Benedetto, Powell, and Yilmaz [10], Candès and Donoho [13], Goyal, Kovačević, and Kelner [60], and Strohmer and Heath [116]). Gabor frames have already been studied for a longer time (cf. the books by Feichtinger and Strohmer [56, 57]), but recently also wavelet frames have become a main area of research in the wavelet community. (See, for example, the various papers authored by Chan, Chui, Czaja, Daubechies, Gröchenig, Han, He, Hernández, Labate, Maggioni, Riemenschneider, Ron, L. Shen, Z. Shen, Shi, Stöckler, Q. Sun, and Weiss [109, 67, 34, 27, 28, 29, 77, 32, 42, 19, 30, 31, 111].)

However, most results concerning wavelet and Gabor frames are restricted to the special cases of classical affine systems and regular Gabor systems. Recently, general irregular wavelet and Gabor systems, which can be built by using arbitrary time-scale or time-frequency shifts, have attracted increasing attention (see, for instance, the papers by Aldroubi, Balan, Cabrelli, Casazza, Christensen, Deng, Favier, Feichtinger, Felipe, Heil, Kaiblinger, Kutyniok, Lammers, Z. Landau, Molter, Ramanathan, Steger, W. Sun, and Zhou [107, 22, 23, 18, 118, 15, 73, 92, 119, 120, 1, 55, 121, 7, 93, 94, 95, 117]). An irregular wavelet system is determined by an analyzing wavelet $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and a sequence of time-scale indices $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}$, regarded as a sequence in the affine group \mathbb{A} , and is defined by

$$\mathcal{W}(\psi, \Lambda) = \{a^{-\frac{1}{2}}\psi(a^{-1}x - b)\}_{(a,b)\in\Lambda}.$$

Given a function $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and a sequence of time-frequency indices $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$, an *irregular Gabor system* is given by

$$\mathcal{G}(g,\Lambda) = \{e^{2\pi ibx}g(x-a)\}_{(a,b)\in\Lambda}.$$

The necessity of studying these general systems occurs since in practice a sequence of time-scale or time-frequency indices might be perturbed due to the impact of noise or other disturbances or may be directly imposed by the application at hand. Therefore results about the impact of properties of the sequence of time-scale or time-frequency indices on frame properties of the associated wavelet or Gabor system will turn out to be essentiell. Moreover, the study of irregular systems is very interesting from the mathematical point of view in deriving a deeper understanding of the theory of wavelet systems or

Gabor systems and, in particular, of the special case of classical affine systems or regular Gabor systems.

Later, it will become necessary to additionally equip the analyzing functions contained in the system with weights and also to consider systems with finitely many generators.

1.2 Density for Gabor Systems

Since time-scale and time-frequency indices associated with irregular wavelet and Gabor systems are initially completely arbitrary, we are led naturally to questions concerning the relation between their geometrical structure and the frame properties of the associated system. In order to put our results into perspective, let us review the density results that exist for the case of Gabor frames and the Heisenberg group.

Classical results are mostly concerned with regular Gabor systems, i.e., with rectangular lattices of the form $A = a\mathbb{Z} \times b\mathbb{Z}$, where a, b > 0. Baggett [4] and Daubechies [40] proved that if $\mathcal{G}(g, a\mathbb{Z} \times b\mathbb{Z})$ is a complete subset of $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ then necessarily $ab \leq 1$. Since every frame is complete (but not conversely), it follows as a corollary that if ab > 1, then $\mathcal{G}(g, a\mathbb{Z} \times b\mathbb{Z})$ cannot form a frame. Baggett's proof uses deep results from the theory of von Neumann algebras, while Daubechies provided a constructive proof of this result by using signal-theoretic methods (the Zak transform). However, her result is restricted to the case that ab is rational. Daubechies also noted that a proof for general ab can be inferred from results of Rieffel [108] on C^* -algebras. Another proof of this result based on von Neumann algebras was given by Daubechies, H. Landau, and Z. Landau in [43], and a new proof appears in Bownik and Rzeszotnik [12].

H. Landau [98] extended the result on Gabor frames to much more general sequences Λ in \mathbb{R}^2 , deriving a necessary condition for $\mathcal{G}(q,\Lambda)$ to be a frame in terms of the Beurling density of Λ , but requiring some restrictions on g and Λ . For the rectangular lattice case, Janssen [86] gave an elegant direct proof that if $\mathcal{G}(q, a\mathbb{Z} \times b\mathbb{Z})$ is a frame then $ab \leq 1$. This proof relies on the algebraic structure of the rectangular lattice $a\mathbb{Z} \times b\mathbb{Z}$ and the Wexler-Raz Theorem for Gabor frames. Perhaps the most elegant development along these lines was due to Ramanathan and Steger [107]. They proved that all Gabor frames $\mathcal{G}(g,\Lambda)$, without restrictions on $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, but only for separated sequences $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$, satisfy a certain Homogeneous Approximation Property (HAP). This is a fundamental result that is of independent interest, and in particular they deduced necessary density conditions on the sequence of time-frequency indices of irregular Gabor frames as a corollary. Ramanathan and Steger were also able to recover the completeness result of Rieffel by using this technique as a main tool. However, the proof by Ramanathan and Steger required Λ to be uniformly separated. Christensen, Deng, and Heil removed this hypothesis in [22]. Also, [22] extended the result to higher dimensions and to finitely

many generators, and made several other contributions. Christensen, Deng, and Heil derived the following general result on the density of Gabor systems which we state for simplicity only in the one-dimensional, singly generated case.

Theorem 1.1. Let $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$ be given. Then the Gabor system $\mathcal{G}(g,\Lambda)$ has the following properties.

- (i) If $\mathcal{G}(g,\Lambda)$ is a frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, then $1 \leq D^-(\Lambda) \leq D^+(\Lambda) < \infty$.
- (ii) If $\mathcal{G}(g,\Lambda)$ is a Riesz basis for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, then $D^-(\Lambda) = D^+(\Lambda) = 1$.

Here $D^{\pm}(\Lambda)$ are the upper and lower Beurling densities of Λ , which measure in some sense the largest and smallest number of points of Λ that lie on average in unit squares. The group structure employed for this notion of density is the one coming from the Heisenberg group modulo its center. The cutoff density 1 is called the Nyquist density. In the special case $\Lambda = a\mathbb{Z} \times b\mathbb{Z}$, we have $D^{\pm}(a\mathbb{Z} \times b\mathbb{Z}) = \frac{1}{ab}$. Gröchenig and Razafinjatovo adapted the Ramanathan/Steger argument to prove an analogous result for windowed exponentials in [66].

Ramanathan and Steger conjectured in [107] that Theorem 1.1(i) should be improvable to say that if $\mathcal{D}^-(\Lambda) < 1$ then $\mathcal{G}(g,\Lambda)$ is incomplete in $L^2(\mathbb{R})$. However, Benedetto, Heil, and Walnut [9] showed that the Rieffel result does not extend to non-lattices: there exist complete (but non-frame) Gabor systems with upper Beurling density ε . The counterexample built fundamentally on the work of H. Landau on the completeness of exponentials in $L^2(S)$ where S is a finite union of intervals. Another counterexample, in which Λ is a subset of a lattice, appears in Y. Wang [123]. Moreover, Olevskii and Ulanovskii [103, 104] constructed a system consisting solely of translates which is complete in $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, but even the upper density of the set of indices regarded as a subset of \mathbb{R}^2 equals zero.

Recently, Balan, Casazza, Heil, and Z. Landau showed that such necessary density conditions, including the Nyquist density cutoff, apply to a much broader class of abstract frames called *localized frames* [6]. Localized frames were also independently introduced by Gröchenig [64] for quite different purposes.

Finally, we remark that density theorems for Gabor frames $\mathcal{G}(g,\Lambda)$ generated by Gaussian functions g are related to density questions in the Bargmann–Fock spaces, see, e.g., Seip [112]. We further mention that the notion of Beurling density was also employed by Heil and Kutyniok [74] to derive conditions on the existence of frames and Schauder bases of windowed exponentials, and an adapted notion of density and a new notion of dimension were the main tools to study wave packet frames and also Gabor pseudoframes for affine subspaces in the papers by Czaja, Kutyniok, and Speegle [36, 37].

For more details and extended references we refer to the recent survey paper on the history of the density theorem for Gabor systems by Heil [72].

1.3 Geometry of Time-Scale Indices

It is natural to ask whether wavelet systems share similar properties, and the immediate answer is that there is clearly no exact analogue of the Nyquist density for wavelet systems. In particular, consider the case of the classical affine systems $\mathcal{W}(\psi, \Lambda)$ with dilation parameter a>1 and translation parameter b>0, i.e.,

$$\Lambda = \{(a^j, bk)\}_{j,k \in \mathbb{Z}}.$$

It can be shown that for each a>1 and b>0 there exists a wavelet $\psi\in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ such that $\mathcal{W}(\psi,\Lambda)$ is a frame or even an orthonormal basis for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$. In fact, the wavelet set construction of Dai, Larson, and Speegle [39] shows that this is true even in higher dimensions: wavelet orthonormal bases in the classical affine form exist for any expansive dilation matrix. For additional demonstrations of the impossibility of a Nyquist density, even given constraints on the norm or on the admissibility condition of the wavelet, see the example of Daubechies in [40, Thm. 2.10] and the more extensive analysis by Balan in [5].

However, the more general question remains: for what sequences $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ and what weights $w_\ell : \Lambda_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ is it possible to construct wavelet frames of the form

$$\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, \Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell}) = \bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \{ w_{\ell}(a, b)^{\frac{1}{2}} a^{-\frac{1}{2}} \psi_{\ell}(a^{-1}x - b) \}_{(a, b) \in \Lambda_{\ell}}$$

with finitely many generators $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$? Two important examples of wavelet systems other than classical affine systems are the quasi-affine and co-affine systems.

Quasi-affine systems, introduced by Ron and Shen [109], are obtained by replacing the sequence Λ associated with a classical affine system by the new sequence

$$\Lambda = \{(a^j, bk)\}_{j < 0, k \in \mathbb{Z}} \cup \{(a^j, a^{-j}bk)\}_{j \ge 0, k \in \mathbb{Z}},$$

and using the weight function

$$\begin{split} w(a^j,bk) &= 1, & j < 0, \ k \in \mathbb{Z}, \\ w(a^j,a^{-j}bk) &= a^{-j}, & j \geq 0, \ k \in \mathbb{Z}. \end{split}$$

In other words, "extra" elements are added to an affine system, and additionally the norms of the extra elements are adjusted. Ron and Shen proved that if a is an integer and b=1 then an affine system is a frame if and only if the quasi-affine system is a frame. The utility of the quasi-affine system is that it is shift-invariant, i.e., integer translation-invariant, unlike the original classical affine system. Shift-invariance, i.e., invariance under integer translations, is a desirable feature for many applications, since it ensures that similar structures in a signal are more easily detectable. Quasi-affine systems were also studied

in the papers by Bownik [11], Chui, Shi, and Stöckler [35], Gressman, Labate, Weiss, and Wilson [61], and Johnson [88].

Co-affine systems were studied recently by Gressman, Labate, Weiss, and Wilson [61]. If we write an affine system as $\{D_{a^j}T_k\psi\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}}$, where D_{a^j} and T_k are the appropriate dilation and translation operators, then the associated co-affine system is $\{T_kD_{a^j}\psi\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}}$. This amounts, in the terminology of this book, to taking

$$\Lambda = \{(a^j, a^{-j}k)\}_{j,k \in \mathbb{Z}},$$

and w = 1. It was shown in [61] that such a system $\mathcal{W}(\psi, \Lambda, w)$ can never form a frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, and, moreover, this impossibility remains even when allowing weights of the form $w(a^j, a^{-j}k) = w(a^j)$. An extension of this result to higher dimensions was derived by Johnson [90].

Considering the Gabor situation we come to the conclusion that a notion of density for wavelet systems, despite the lack of a Nyquist density, should be exactly the right method to explain, for instance, the difference between affine/quasi-affine and co-affine systems, but even more to relate frame properties of a wavelet system with properties of the associated sequence of time-scale indices. It was already conjectured by Daubechies in [41, Sec. 4.1], that the value $\frac{1}{b \ln a}$ might play the role of a density for classical affine systems, since it is an ubiquitous constant in a variety of formulas in wavelet analysis. For example, if $\mathcal{W}(\psi, \{(a^j, bk)\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}})$ is a tight frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and $\int_0^\infty |\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2/|\xi| d\xi = 1$, then the frame bounds are exactly $\frac{1}{b \ln a}$. In [113], Seip introduced a notion of density for Bergman-type spaces on the unit disk, and it is possible to derive some density results for wavelet frames $\mathcal{W}(\psi, \Lambda)$ generated by certain wavelets ψ from those results. Some preliminary results relating density to wavelet frames also appeared in a paper by Olson and Seip [105], but until now there has been no general theory of density properties of wavelet frames; there did not even exist a notion of density for general irregular wavelet systems.

To build such a theory is a fascinating challenge, since the situation for wavelet systems is much more delicate than the one for Gabor systems due to the non-commutativity of the affine group. Results in this direction should lead to a much deeper understanding of the geometrical structure of the time-scale indices associated with a wavelet frame, thereby also delivering tools to construct irregular wavelet frames and to examine their stability.

Summarizing, this research monograph has the following aims.

- ▷ Derive a notion of weighted affine density for weighted sequences of time-scale indices of weighted irregular wavelet frames with finitely many generators in such a way that classical affine systems possess a uniform density equal to the ubiquitous constant $\frac{1}{b \ln a}$.
- ▶ Study whether the non-existence of co-affine frames is related to density properties.
- ▷ Derive necessary and sufficient density conditions for the existence of weighted irregular wavelet frames with finitely many generators.

- ▶ Relate the density of the weighted sequences of time-scale indices to the frame bounds of weighted irregular wavelet frames with finitely many generators.
- ▶ Reveal reasons why a Nyquist phenomenon does not exist for wavelet systems.
- ▷ Study the HAP for wavelet systems and its relation (or lack thereof) to density conditions.
- Study the affine density of a classical affine system and the weighted affine density of its associated quasi-affine system and examine whether their relation is enforced by the property that one system is a frame if and only if the other system is a frame.

1.4 Overview of Main Results

In the following we outline the organization of this book and present some of the highlights in an informal way.

In Chapter 2 we present some background and notation from frame theory and wavelet and time-frequency analysis which will be employed throughout. We further give a brief overview of Wiener amalgam spaces in the general setting of locally compact groups, since we will consider different group settings in this book. These spaces will serve as regularity conditions for analyzing wavelets as well as for Gabor generators.

We proceed in Chapter 3 to introduce the new notion of upper and lower weighted affine density for weighted irregular wavelet systems with finitely many generators and to study several of its properties. We show that it satisfies the property that classical affine systems possess a uniform affine density, i.e., upper and lower density coincide, and this density is exactly equal to the magical constant $\frac{1}{b \ln a}$. Moreover, we compare this density with another notion of density for wavelet systems simultaneously introduced by Sun and Zhou [119]. We show that for their density a weighted form has to be used to derive the same uniform density for the classical wavelet systems, thereby emphasizing our notion as more naturally in this sense.

In Chapter 4, we derive necessary conditions on the upper and lower weighted affine density for the existence of a weighted irregular wavelet frame with finitely many generators. These results only rely on conditions concerning finite upper and positive lower density, in this sense on *qualitative* density conditions. More precisely, we prove that if such a wavelet system possesses an upper frame bound, then necessarily the upper density has to be finite (Theorem 4.1). This result confirms the intuitive view of the density as the amount to which the time-scale indices are concentrated. We further show that provided that the wavelet system possesses a lower frame bound, then, under some hypotheses on the time-scale indices and with weights being equal to

one, the lower density must be positive (Theorem 4.2). Another result in the same spirit only under a mild regularity hypothesis on the analyzing wavelets will be derived in Chapter 6 (Corollary 6.12). For our proofs we rely on techniques from frame theory, Fourier analysis, and complex analysis. We apply these results to oversampled affine systems, co-affine systems, and systems consisting only of dilations, obtaining some new results relating density to the frame properties of these systems.

Using the methods developed in the first part of this chapter we then study a certain rather technical-appearing hypothesis known as the *local integrability condition (LIC)* of a characterization result of weighted wavelet Parseval frames with finitely many generators and with arbitrary sequences of scale indices by Hernández, Labate, and Weiss [77], and show that under some mild regularity assumption on the analyzing wavelets, the LIC is solely a very natural density condition on the sequences of scale indices. More precisely, it will be shown that the LIC is in fact equivalent to the condition that the weighted sequences of scale indices possess a finite upper weighted density (Theorem 4.22). Using this new interpretation of the LIC, we further discuss when the characterization result holds.

Chapter 5 is devoted to the study of quantitative density conditions in which the precise value of the density plays a role. The systems under consideration are weighted wavelet systems with finitely many generators and with arbitrary weighted sequences of time and scale indices satisfying some mild condition on the weighted sequences of time indices. A striking result here is a fundamental relationship between the affine weighted density, the frame bounds, and the admissibility constants for the analyzing wavelets (Theorem 5.6).

Several applications of this result are discussed. We show that such an irregular wavelet frame can only be tight if its weighted sequence of timescale indices has a *uniform* weighted affine density (Corollary 5.9). This result provides new insight into tight irregular wavelet frames, since the classical affine systems, no matter whether they are tight or not, always possess a uniform density. In particular, we show that the sequence of time-scale indices of an orthonormal wavelet basis of the considered form has a uniform affine density. However, we show that this density does not rely on the norm of the generator as in the Gabor case, but instead on the admissibility constant, thereby revealing one reason why there does not exist a Nyquist phenomenon for wavelet systems (Section 5.4). We further derive the first result in which the existence of particular wavelet frames is completely characterized by density conditions (Theorem 5.11). This result is especially surprising since density conditions are independent of the analyzing wavelet itself and do not capture local features of the time-scale indices; hence they appear almost too weak to serve as a sufficient condition. Finally, we use the fundamental relationship to prove that certain weighted irregular co-affine systems can never form a frame (Theorem 5.18).

In Chapter 6 we derive several results related to the *Homogeneous Approximation Property (HAP)* for irregular wavelet systems with finitely many generators. The (Weak and Strong) HAP for Gabor systems states that approximating with a particular finite set of Gabor elements is invariant under time-frequency shifts. Moreover, it is a key property which leads to necessary conditions for Gabor frames in terms of the Beurling density of the associated sequence of time-frequency indices of the generator. We will show that, with a mild regularity assumption on the analyzing wavelets, irregular wavelet frames with finitely many generators satisfy an analog of the Strong HAP with respect to the affine group (Theorem 6.10). We further prove that irregular wavelet frames with finitely many generators satisfying the Weak HAP must fulfill certain density conditions with respect to other wavelet Riesz bases (Theorem 6.11). As an application we obtain necessary conditions for the existence of such frames in terms of the affine density (Corollary 6.12), which should be compared to those derived in Chapter 4.

In the second part of Chapter 6 we consider irregular wavelet Schauder bases with finitely many generators, and in fact this is the first time that those systems are systematically studied. We obtain results in the same spirit as in the first part of this chapter on the density of these Schauder bases, where the Strong HAP has to be replaced by the Weak HAP (Theorems 6.15 and 6.16, and Corollary 6.17).

In addition to these main results, our techniques introduce some new tools for the study of wavelet systems. In particular, we show that any generator of a wavelet frame which satisfies our regularity assumption has a continuous wavelet transform that lies in a particular Wiener amalgam space (Theorem 6.4). We further show that the class of analyzing wavelets which satisfy this regularity condition is in particular dense in the set of admissible wavelets.

In Chapter 7 we deviate a little from our main line of investigation and devote this chapter to Gabor systems. We introduce and study a new notion of weighted Beurling density for multiple weighted sequences of time-frequency indices suited to the study of weighted irregular Gabor systems with finitely many generators. We further prove that using arbitrary piecewise continuous, positive functions of a particular amalgam space instead of just characteristic functions of different boxes to measure the density of a weighted sequence leads to exactly the same notion of Beurling density. We think this result (Theorem 7.15) is interesting in its own right, since it, in particular, implies that for functions contained in the modulation space M^1 the associated short-time Fourier transform can serve as a measuring function for (weighted) Beurling density.

Then we establish a useful relationship between this density, the frame bounds, and the norms of the generators for the Gabor frames under consideration (Theorem 7.19).

Shift-invariance, i.e., invariance under integer translations, is a desirable feature for many applications, since this ensures that similar structures in

10 1 Introduction

a signal are more easily detectable. Regular Gabor systems have the great advantage over wavelet systems in that they are almost always automatically shift-invariant. However, most irregular Gabor systems lack this desirable property. We discuss the terminology of shift-invariance for these systems and introduce a machinery to associate a shift-invariant Gabor system to an irregular Gabor system. We further show that, provided frame properties are to remain unchanged, the shift-invariant counterpart has to be equipped with weights and that density conditions must be imposed on the sequences of time-frequency indices of both systems (Theorem 7.28).

We complete this section by conjecturing that for wavelet systems results similar to the ones obtained in Chapter 7 on the density properties of Gabor systems and its shift-invariant counterparts also hold, most likely in some weaker form. Therefore one future project will be to study these questions in the wavelet setting. We also mention that in this book we consider the univariate situation for wavelet systems, where we derive a complete theory. In the Gabor case the treatment of the multivariate case does not differ much from the one of the univariate case. However, in wavelet analysis the situation is completely different. Recent studies by Speegle [115] show that even for some multivariate classical affine systems it is not clear whether there exists an analyzing wavelet so that the resulting wavelet system forms an orthonormal basis. To derive an appropriate notion of density for multivariate wavelet systems will become one further topic for future research.

Wavelet and Gabor Frames

In this section we give a brief survey of the main notations, definitions, and results from frame theory, wavelet analysis, and time-frequency analysis which will be used throughout the book. We conclude this chapter with a section on amalgam spaces in the setting of locally compact groups, since in the sequel amalgam spaces will be employed in different group settings.

2.1 Frame Theory

In this section we briefly recall the definition and basic properties of frames and Schauder bases in Hilbert spaces. For more information on frame theory we refer to the various books and papers authored by Casazza [14], Christensen [20, 21], Daubechies [41], Heil and Walnut [76], and Young [128], and concerning Schauder bases theory we refer to Heil [70], Lindenstrauss and Tzafriri [99], Marti [101], Singer [114], and Young [128].

Let \mathcal{H} be a separable Hilbert space, and let I be an indexing set. A sequence $\{f_i\}_{i\in I}\subseteq \mathcal{H}$ is a *frame* for \mathcal{H} if there exist constants $0< A\leq B<\infty$ such that

$$A \|f\|^2 \le \sum_{i \in I} |\langle f, f_i \rangle|^2 \le B \|f\|^2 \quad \text{for all } f \in \mathcal{H}.$$
 (2.1)

The constants A and B are called *lower* and *upper frame bounds*, respectively. If A and B can be chosen such that A = B, then $\{f_i\}_{i \in I}$ is a *tight frame*. If we can take A = B = 1, it is called a *Parseval frame*.

Let $\{f_i\}_{i\in I}$ be a frame for \mathcal{H} . Then the frame operator

$$Sf = \sum_{i \in I} \langle f, f_i \rangle f_i$$

is a bounded, positive, and invertible mapping of \mathcal{H} onto itself, which satisfies

$$A \operatorname{Id} \leq S \leq B \operatorname{Id}$$

where Id denotes the identity operator. The canonical dual frame is $\{\tilde{f}_i\}_{i\in I}$, where $\tilde{f}_i = S^{-1}f_i$. For each $f \in \mathcal{H}$ we have the frame expansions

$$f = \sum_{i \in I} \langle f, f_i \rangle \, \tilde{f}_i = \sum_{i \in I} \langle f, \tilde{f}_i \rangle f_i.$$

In the special case that $\{f_i\}_{i\in I}$ forms a Parseval frame, the frame operator S is the identity, the dual frame coincides with the frame itself, and the frame expansions reduce to $f = \sum_{i\in I} \langle f, f_i \rangle f_i$.

A sequence which satisfies the upper frame bound estimate in (2.1), but not necessarily the lower estimate, is called a *Bessel sequence* and *B* is a *Bessel bound*. In this case,

$$\left\| \sum_{i \in I} c_i f_i \right\|^2 \le B \sum_{i \in I} |c_i|^2 \quad \text{for any } (c_i)_{i \in I} \in \ell^2(I).$$
 (2.2)

In particular, $||f_i||^2 \leq B$ for every $i \in I$.

A sequence $\{f_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a *Schauder basis* for \mathcal{H} if for each $f\in\mathcal{H}$ there exist unique scalars $c_i(f)$, $i\in\mathbb{N}$, such that

$$f = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} c_i(f) f_i. \tag{2.3}$$

Then there exists a unique biorthogonal system $\{\hat{f}_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ in \mathcal{H} , which is also a Schauder basis, called the *dual basis*, and which satisfies

$$f = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \langle f, f_i \rangle \ \tilde{f_i} = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \langle f, \tilde{f_i} \rangle f_i \quad \text{for all } f \in \mathcal{H}.$$

The associated partial sum operators are $S_N(f) = \sum_{i=1}^N \langle f, \tilde{f}_i \rangle f_i$ for $f \in \mathcal{H}$. The basis constant is the finite number $C = \sup_N \|S_N\|$. If for each $f \in \mathcal{H}$ the series $f = \sum_i c_i(f) f_i$ converges with respect to any ordering of the indices, then $\{f_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ is called an unconditional basis. Consequently, for a Schauder basis the ordering in (2.3) can be crucial. If $0 < \inf_i \|f_i\| \le \sup_i \|f_i\| < \infty$ then $\{f_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a bounded basis. A sequence $\{f_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ which is a Schauder basis for its closed linear span within \mathcal{H} , denoted by $\overline{\operatorname{span}}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}\{f_i\}$, is called a Schauder basic sequence.

We conclude this section with the following well-known result concerning the relationship between Schauder bases, Riesz bases, and frames (compare Casazza [14] or Christensen [21]).

Proposition 2.1. The following three statements are equivalent:

- (i) $\{f_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a Schauder basis and a frame for \mathcal{H} ,
- (ii) $\{f_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a Riesz basis for \mathcal{H} ,
- (iii) $\{f_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a bounded unconditional basis for \mathcal{H} .

2.2 Wavelet Analysis

In this section we will focus on the basic definitions, notations, and results in wavelet analysis which will be used in the sequel. For more information on wavelet theory we refer the reader to the books by Chui [24], Daubechies [41], and Hernández and Weiss [79], and the papers authored by Heil and Walnut [76] and Weiss and Wilson [124]. Most of the following definitions can be generalized to higher dimensions, but since in this book we focus on the one-dimensional situation, we just state the one-dimensional definitions. Let $\mathbb{A} = \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}$ denote the *affine group*, endowed with the multiplication

$$(a,b)\cdot(x,y) = \left(ax,\frac{b}{x}+y\right).$$

The identity element of \mathbb{A} is e = (1,0), and inverses are given by

$$(a,b)^{-1} = (\frac{1}{a}, -ab).$$

The left-invariant Haar measure on \mathbb{A} is $\mu_{\mathbb{A}} = \frac{dx}{x} dy$. We denote the norm and inner product on $L^2(\mathbb{A})$ with respect to this Haar measure by $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\mathbb{A})}$ and $\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{A})}$, respectively, whereas the norm and inner product on $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ will be denoted by $\|\cdot\|$ or $\|\cdot\|_2$ and $\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle$.

Let σ be the unitary representation of \mathbb{A} on $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ defined by

$$(\sigma(a,b)\psi)(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}}\psi(\frac{x}{a} - b) = D_a T_b \psi(x),$$

where D_a denotes the dilation operator $D_a f(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}} f(\frac{x}{a})$ and T_b denotes the translation operator $T_b f(x) = f(x-b)$.

For $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$, we will use the following convention for the Fourier transform:

$$\hat{f}(\xi) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(x)e^{-2\pi i \langle x,\xi \rangle} dx.$$

Its extension to a unitary mapping from $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ will also be denoted by \hat{f} . The inverse Fourier transform shall be denoted by f^{\vee} .

Given $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, called an analyzing wavelet, the continuous wavelet transform (CWT) $W_{\psi}f$ of $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ with respect to ψ is

$$W_{\psi}f(a,b) = \langle f, \sigma(a,b)\psi \rangle = \langle f, D_a T_b \psi \rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(x) \overline{\psi(\frac{x}{a} - b)} dx.$$

We have

$$|W_{\psi}f(a,b)| \le ||f||_2 ||\psi||_2$$
 for all $(a,b) \in \mathbb{A}$

and $W_{\psi}f \in C(\mathbb{A})$. However, W_{ψ} does not map $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ into $L^2(\mathbb{A})$ for each $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$. We say that $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ is admissible if the admissibility constant C_{ψ} defined by

$$C_{\psi} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{|\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2}{|\xi|} d\xi$$

is finite. This condition is also sometimes called the *admissibility condition*. In particular, this is equivalent to the condition that both integrals

$$C_{\psi}^{-} = \int_{-\infty}^{0} \frac{|\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2}{|\xi|} d\xi \quad \text{and} \quad C_{\psi}^{+} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{|\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2}{|\xi|} d\xi$$

are finite. We further set

$$L_A^2(\mathbb{R}) = \{ \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) : \psi \text{ is admissible} \}.$$

Note that if $\psi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}) \cap L^2_A(\mathbb{R})$, then we must have $\hat{\psi}(0) = 0$, since $\hat{\psi}$ is continuous. If ψ is admissible, then W_{ψ} maps $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ into $L^2(\mathbb{A})$, cf. Heil and Walnut [76, Cor. 3.3.6]. Precisely, we have that if $\psi \in L^2_A(\mathbb{R})$ and $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, then

$$||W_{\psi}f||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{A})}^{2} = C_{\psi}^{+} \int_{0}^{\infty} |\hat{f}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi + C_{\psi}^{-} \int_{-\infty}^{0} |\hat{f}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi \le C_{\psi} ||f||_{2}^{2}.$$

Furthermore, the roles of f and ψ can be interchanged by using the relation $W_f\psi(a,b) = \overline{W_\psi f((a,b)^{-1})}$. We remark that this lack of symmetry is due to the fact that the Haar measure on \mathbb{A} is not unimodular.

The next lemma lists several useful equivalent forms of the CWT:

Lemma 2.2. If $f, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, then

$$W_{\psi}f(a,b) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(x) \, \overline{\psi(\frac{x-ab}{a})} \, dx$$
$$= \sqrt{a} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{f}(\xi) \, \overline{\hat{\psi}(a\xi)} \, e^{2\pi i ab\xi} \, d\xi$$
$$= (\hat{f} \cdot D_{a^{-1}} \overline{\hat{\psi}})^{\vee}(ab).$$

The Besov spaces $B_{p,q}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$, where $\alpha>0$ and $1\leq p,q\leq\infty$, are the natural function spaces associated with the CWT, namely, their norms quantify time-scale concentration of functions or distributions. They consist of functions in $L^p(\mathbb{R})$ with "smoothness α ," with the parameter q allowing for a finer graduation of the quantification of smoothness. There are many equivalent definitions of the Besov spaces, and we refer to Triebel [122] for more information. An important fact is that equivalent norms for the Besov spaces can be formulated in terms of the discrete wavelet transform (see Meyer [102]) or the continuous wavelet transform (see Perrier and Basdevant [106]).

For practical purposes, however, discrete wavelet systems are needed, i.e., wavelet systems $\{\sigma(a,b)\psi\}_{(a,b)\in\Lambda}$, where Λ does not equal $\mathbb A$, but instead is just a sequence in $\mathbb A$. We remark that although Λ will always denote a countable sequence of points in $\mathbb A$ and not merely a subset, for simplicity

we will write $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{A}$. In particular, this means that we allow repetitions of points. Further recall that the *disjoint union* $S = \bigcup_{i=1}^n S_i$ of a finite collection of sequences S_1, \ldots, S_n contained in some set is the sequence $S = \{s_{11}, \ldots, s_{1n}, s_{21}, \ldots, s_{2n}, \ldots\}$, where each S_i is indexed as $S_i = \{s_{ki}\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$, i.e., S is the sequence obtained by amalgamating S_1, \ldots, S_n .

Definition 2.3. (a) Given an analyzing wavelet $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, a sequence of time-scale indices $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{A}$, and a weight function $w : \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}^+$, the weighted (irregular) wavelet system generated by ψ , Λ , and w is defined by

$$\mathcal{W}(\psi, \Lambda, w) = \{w(a, b)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sigma(a, b)\psi\}_{(a, b) \in \Lambda}$$
$$= \{w(a, b)^{\frac{1}{2}} D_a T_b \psi\}_{(a, b) \in \Lambda}$$
$$= \{w(a, b)^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}} \psi(\frac{x}{a} - b)\}_{(a, b) \in \Lambda}.$$

If w = 1 we omit writing it.

(b) Let $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, and let $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : \Lambda_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given. Then the weighted (irregular) wavelet system generated by $\{(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L$ is the disjoint union

$$\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell, w_\ell).$$

This definition of weighted wavelet systems includes as special cases the classical affine systems, the quasi-affine systems, and the co-affine systems (defined below). In particular, it is important to allow the case of nonconstant weights in order to obtain the quasi-affine systems.

The most often employed and studied wavelet systems are the classical affine systems

$$\mathcal{W}(\psi, \{(a^j, bk)\}_{i,k\in\mathbb{Z}}),$$

where $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and a > 1, b > 0. Since these systems lack the property of being shift-invariant, i.e., of being invariant under integer translations, the so-called *quasi-affine systems*

$$\mathcal{W}(\psi, \{(a^j, bk)\}_{i < 0, k \in \mathbb{Z}} \cup \{(a^j, a^{-j}bk)\}_{i > 0, k \in \mathbb{Z}}, w),$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} w(a^j,bk) &= 1, & j < 0, \ k \in \mathbb{Z}, \\ w(a^j,a^{-j}bk) &= a^{-j}, & j \geq 0, \ k \in \mathbb{Z}, \end{aligned}$$

were developed for $a \in \mathbb{Z}$, b > 0 by Ron and Shen [109] and for $a \in \mathbb{Q}$ by Bownik [11]. Further contributions werde made by Chui, Shi, and Stöckler [35], Gressman, Labate, Weiss, and Wilson [61], and Johnson [88]. In [61] Gressman, Labate, Weiss, and Wilson also studied classical affine systems for

b=1 with interchanged ordering of dilation and translation, i.e., wavelet systems of the form

$$\{T_k D_{a^j} \psi\}_{j,k \in \mathbb{Z}} = \{D_{a^j} T_{a^{-j}k} \psi\}_{j,k \in \mathbb{Z}},$$

where a > 1. This amounts, in the terminology of this book and letting b > 0 be arbitrary, to taking

$$\mathcal{W}(\psi, \{(a^j, a^{-j}bk)\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}}).$$

These are the so-called *co-affine systems*. We also refer to Johnson [90].

Recently a general notion of oversampled affine systems was introduced by Hernández, Labate, Weiss, and Wilson [78] and extended by Johnson [89], which includes not only the classical affine, but also the quasi-affine and co-affine systems as special cases.

Definition 2.4. Given $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, a > 1, b > 0, and $\{r_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$, an oversampled affine system is a weighted wavelet system of the form $W(\psi, \Lambda, w)$ with

$$\varLambda = \left\{ (a^j, \frac{bk}{r_j}) \right\}_{j,k \in \mathbb{Z}} \qquad and \qquad w(a^j, \frac{bk}{r_j}) = \frac{1}{r_j}.$$

Example 2.5. The following are special cases of oversampled affine systems.

- (i) The classical affine systems are obtained by setting $r_j \equiv 1$.
- (ii) The quasi-affine systems of Ron and Shen [109] are obtained when a is an integer, b=1, and

$$r_j = \begin{cases} 1, & j < 0, \\ a^j, & j \ge 0. \end{cases}$$

(iii) The quasi-affine systems of Bownik [11] are obtained when $a=\frac{p}{q}$ is rational, b=1, and

$$r_j = \begin{cases} q^{-j}, & j < 0, \\ p^j, & j \ge 0. \end{cases}$$

(iv) The co-affine systems of Gressman, Labate, Weiss, and Wilson [61] are obtained by setting $r_i = a^j$ and b = 1.

2.3 Time-Frequency Analysis

As in the section before, we will state the basic definitions, notations, and results from time-frequency analysis as far as we will need them later. We mention the books by Daubechies [41], Feichtinger and Strohmer [56, 57], and Gröchenig [63] as references for further details.

In time-frequency analysis, time-frequency shifts play the role that time-scale shifts play in the wavelet setting. The time-frequency plane is actually the Heisenberg group $\mathbb{H} = \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{T}$ endowed with the multiplication

$$(a, b, c)(a', b', c') = (a + a', b + b', cc'e^{-2\pi i \langle a, b' \rangle}).$$

The toral component will later be ignored. This group is equipped with the so-called Schrödinger representation, which is the irreducible unitary representation of \mathbb{H} on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ defined by

$$(\rho(a,b,c)g)(x) = c e^{2\pi i \langle b,x \rangle} g(x-a) = cM_b T_a g(x),$$

where M_b denotes the modulation operator $M_b f(x) = e^{2\pi i \langle b, x \rangle} f(x)$.

The analogue of the continuous wavelet transform is the *Short-Time* Fourier transform (STFT) of $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with respect to $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ given by

$$V_g f(a,b) = \langle f, \rho(a,b,1)g \rangle = \langle f, M_b T_a g \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(x) e^{-2\pi i \langle b, x \rangle} \overline{g(x-a)} dx$$

for $(a, b) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d = \mathbb{R}^{2d}$. We have

$$|V_q f(a,b)| \le ||f||_2 ||g||_2$$
 for all $(a,b) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$

and $V_g f \in C(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$. Unlike the wavelet case, all vectors in $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ are admissible, because the Haar measure on the Heisenberg group is unimodular. The STFT V_g maps $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ into $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ for all $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Given $g_1, g_2 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $f_1, f_2 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, the *orthogonality relations* for the STFT are

$$\langle V_{g_1} f_1, V_{g_2} f_2 \rangle = C_{g_1, g_2} \langle f_1, f_2 \rangle,$$
 (2.4)

where $C_{g_1,g_2} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \overline{g_1(x)} \, g_2(x) \, dx$. There is a great deal of symmetry between g and f in the STFT; more precisely, $V_f g(a,b) = e^{-2\pi i \langle a,b \rangle} \overline{V_g f(-a,-b)}$, hence, in particular, $\|V_g f\|_2 = \|V_f g\|_2$.

The modulation spaces are the natural function spaces associated with the STFT, namely, their norms quantify time-frequency concentration of functions or distributions in the same way that the Besov space norms quantify time-scale concentration. In particular, the modulation space $M^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ consists of all functions $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for which the following norm is finite:

$$||f||_{M^1(\mathbb{R}^d)} = ||V_g f||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^{2d})} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |V_g f(a, b)| \, db \, da,$$

where g is any nonzero Schwartz-class function (each choice of g yields the same space under an equivalent norm). This modulation space was first defined by Feichtinger in [47] and is therefore also called the *Feichtinger algebra* (and is sometimes denoted by S_0); it is an algebra under both pointwise multiplication and convolution, and has many other remarkable properties. Notice that $M^1(\mathbb{R}^d) \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Moreover, we have the following well-known result on the relation between integrable STFTs and generators being in $M^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Proposition 2.6. The following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) $f \in M^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$.
- (ii) $V_f f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$.

For more details on modulation spaces we refer the reader to Gröchenig [63].

As in wavelet theory discrete versions of the continuous Gabor systems are of considerable interest. Notice that also in this case, although Λ will always denote a sequence of points in \mathbb{R}^d and not merely a subset, for simplicity we will write $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$. Recall the definition of a disjoint union of sequences from Section 2.2.

Definition 2.7. (a) Given a generator $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, a sequence of time-frequency indices $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2d}$, and a weight function $w : \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}^+$, the weighted (irregular) Gabor system generated by g, Λ , and w is defined by

$$\mathcal{G}(g, \Lambda, w) = \{w(a, b)^{\frac{1}{2}} \rho(a, b, 1)g\}_{(a, b) \in \Lambda}$$

$$= \{w(a, b)^{\frac{1}{2}} M_b T_a g\}_{(a, b) \in \Lambda}$$

$$= \{w(a, b)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{2\pi i \langle b, x \rangle} g(x - a)\}_{(a, b) \in \Lambda}.$$

If w = 1 we omit writing it.

(b) Let $g_1, \ldots, g_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, and let $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2d}$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : \Lambda_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given. Then the weighted (irregular) Gabor system generated by $\{(g_\ell, \Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L$ is the disjoint union

$$\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{G}(g_{\ell}, \Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell}).$$

This definition of weighted Gabor systems includes as special cases the socalled regular Gabor systems, which are Gabor systems of the form $\mathcal{G}(g, a\mathbb{Z}^d \times b\mathbb{Z}^d)$, where a, b > 0.

One tool for studying irregular nonweighted Gabor systems is the notion of Beurling density. For h>0 and $x=(x_1,\ldots,x_d)\in\mathbb{R}^d$, we let $Q_h(x)$ denote the cube centered at x with side length h, i.e., $Q_h(x)=\prod_{j=1}^d \left[x_j-\frac{h}{2},x_j+\frac{h}{2}\right)$. Then the *upper Beurling density* of a sequence Λ in \mathbb{R}^d is defined by

$$\mathcal{D}^{+}(\Lambda) = \limsup_{h \to \infty} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\#(\Lambda \cap Q_h(x))}{h^d},$$

and its lower Beurling density is

$$\mathcal{D}^{-}(\Lambda) = \liminf_{h \to \infty} \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\#(\Lambda \cap Q_h(x))}{h^d}.$$

If $\mathcal{D}^-(\Lambda) = \mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda)$, then we say that Λ has uniform Beurling density and denote this density by $\mathcal{D}(\Lambda)$. For example, the lattice $\Lambda = a\mathbb{Z} \times b\mathbb{Z} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$, a, b > 0 has the uniform Beurling density $\mathcal{D}(\Lambda) = \frac{1}{ab}$.

It was shown by H. Landau [97, Lem. 4], that these densities do not depend on the particular choice of sets $Q_h(x)$, h > 0, $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, in the sense that we can substitute these sets by sets x + hU, where $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ is a compact set with |U| = 1, i.e., of Lebesgue measure 1, whose boundary has measure zero, yet still obtain the same notion.

For more details on Beurling density and its connections to Gabor frames we refer the reader to the papers authored by Balan, Casazza, Heil, and Z. Landau [7] and by Christensen, Deng, and Heil [22]. New characterizations and an extension of the notion of Beurling density to weighted sequences can be found in Kutyniok [93]. This paper also contains a fundamental relationship between this density, the frame bounds, and the norm of the generator for weighted Gabor frames.

2.4 Amalgam Spaces

An amalgam space combines a local criterion for membership with a global criterion. The first amalgam spaces were introduced by Wiener in his study of generalized harmonic analysis [125, 126]. A comprehensive general theory of amalgam spaces on locally compact groups was introduced and extensively studied by Feichtinger and Gröchenig, e.g., [48, 52, 53, 50]. For an expository introduction to Wiener amalgams on $\mathbb R$ with extensive references to the original literature, we refer to Heil [71]. In the following we will give a brief survey of amalgam spaces of the type $W_G(L^\infty, L^p)$ and $W_G(C, L^p)$, where $1 \leq p < \infty$ and G is a locally compact group. For the theory of locally compact groups we refer the reader to Folland [58] and Hewitt and Ross [80, 81].

Let G be a locally compact group and let μ_G denote a left-invariant Haar measure on G. Then the Wiener amalgam spaces $W_G(L^\infty, L^p)$ and $W_G(C, L^p)$ are defined as follows.

Definition 2.8. Given $1 \leq p < \infty$, the amalgam space $W_G(L^{\infty}, L^p)$ on the locally compact group G consists of all functions $f: G \to \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$||f||_{W_G(L^{\infty},L^p)} = \left(\int_G \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{a\in G} |f(a) \phi(x^{-1}a)|^p d\mu_G(x)\right)^{1/p} < \infty,$$

where ϕ is a fixed continuous function with compact support satisfying $0 \le \phi(x) \le 1$ for all $x \in G$, and $\phi(x) = 1$ on some compact neighborhood of the identity. The amalgam space $W_G(C, L^p)$ is the closed subspace of $W_G(L^\infty, L^p)$ consisting of the continuous functions in $W_G(L^\infty, L^p)$.

 $W_G(L^{\infty}, L^p)$ is a Banach space, and its definition is independent of the choice of ϕ , in the sense that each choice of ϕ yields the same space under an

equivalent norm. For proofs and more details, see Feichtinger and Gröchenig [52, 53].

The space $W_G(L^\infty, L^p)$ can be equipped with an equivalent discrete-type norm. For this, we first require some notation. Given some neighborhood U of the identity in G, a sequence $\{x_i\}_{i\in I}$ in G is called U-dense, if $\bigcup_{i\in I} x_iU = G$. It is called V-separated, if for some relatively compact neighborhood V of the identity the sets $\{x_iV\}_{i\in I}$ are pairwise disjoint. The sequence is called relatively separated, if it is the finite union of V-separated sequences.

Definition 2.9. A sequence of continuous functions $\{\phi_i\}_{i\in I}$ on G is called a bounded partition of unity, or BUPU, if

- (i) $0 \le \phi_i(x) \le 1$ for all $i \in I$ and $x \in G$.
- (ii) $\sum_{i \in I} \phi_i \equiv 1$.
- (iii) There exists a compact neighborhood U of the identity in G with nonempty interior and a U-dense, relatively separated sequence $\{x_i\}_{i\in I}$ such that $\operatorname{supp}(\phi_i)\subseteq x_iU$ for all $i\in I$.

Then we have the following result from Feichtinger [49] (compare also Feichtinger and Gröchenig [52]).

Theorem 2.10. If $\{\phi_i\}_{i\in I}$ is a BUPU, then

$$||f||_{W_G(L^{\infty},L^p)} \simeq \left(\sum_{i\in I} ||f\phi_i||_{\infty}^p\right)^{\frac{1}{p}},$$

where \approx denotes the equivalence of norms.

Weighted Affine Density

In this chapter we introduce the notion of weighted affine density for multiple weighted sequences in the affine group. We study its basic properties, which will be used in the subsequent chapters. Then we discuss the notion of affine density introduced by Sun and Zhou [119] and study the exact relation to the affine density we will employ in this book.

This chapter contains a generalization of the notion of weighted affine density as introduced by Heil and Kutyniok in [73] to multiple weighted sequences. Further, some of the results in this chapter generalize the results obtained in Kutyniok [92] to multiple weighted sequences.

3.1 Definitions

The notion of affine density, which we will introduce in this section, will employ the affine group A defined in Section 2.2. The density defined by Sun and Zhou [119], which will be studied in Section 3.3 is suited to the geometry of an isomorphic version of the affine group. Surprisingly, it turns out that both notions of density behave very differently.

In \mathbb{R}^d , Beurling density is a measure of the "average" number of points of a sequence that lie inside a unit cube. We will transfer the definition of Beurling density for sequences in \mathbb{R}^2 to sequences in the affine group and extend it in order to allow multiple weighted sequences.

Before we can state the definition of affine density, we first require some notation. For h>0, we let Q_h denote a fixed family of increasing, exhaustive neighborhoods of the identity element e=(1,0) in $\mathbb A$. For simplicity, we will take

$$Q_h = [e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}) \times [-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2}).$$

For $(x,y) \in \mathbb{A}$, we let $Q_h(x,y)$ be the set Q_h left-translated via the group action so that it is "centered" at the point (x,y), i.e.,

$$Q_h(x,y) = (x,y) \cdot Q_h = \{(xa, \frac{y}{a} + b) : a \in [e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}), b \in [-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2})\}.$$

We remark that although Q_h is a rectangle, the sets $Q_h(x,y)$ do not share this property. However, for simplicity we will still refer to the sets $Q_h(x,y)$ as "boxes".

A locally compact group is always equipped with a left-invariant Haar measure, which is unique up to a constant multiple. For \mathbb{A} such a measure is given by $\mu_{\mathbb{A}} = \frac{dx}{x}dy$. Since $\mu_{\mathbb{A}}$ is left-invariant, we have that

$$\mu_{\mathbb{A}}(Q_h(x,y)) = \mu_{\mathbb{A}}(Q_h) = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \int_{e^{-\frac{h}{2}}}^{e^{\frac{h}{2}}} \frac{dx}{x} dy = h^2.$$

Next, given a sequence Λ in \mathbb{A} and a weight function $w: \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}^+$, we define the weighted number of elements of Λ lying in a subset K of Λ to be

$$\#_w(K) = \sum_{(a,b)\in K} w(a,b).$$

A sequence Λ together with its associated weight function w will always be denoted by (Λ, w) .

Now we can state the definition of affine density for multiple weighted sequences $\{(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}$.

Definition 3.1. Let $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : \Lambda_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given. Then the upper weighted affine density of $\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L$ is defined by

$$\mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) = \limsup_{h \to \infty} \sup_{(x,y) \in \mathbb{A}} \frac{\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{w_{\ell}}(\Lambda_{\ell} \cap Q_{h}(x,y))}{h^{2}},$$

and the lower weighted affine density of $\{(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}$ is

$$\mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) = \liminf_{h \to \infty} \inf_{(x, y) \in \mathbb{A}} \frac{\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{w_{\ell}}(\Lambda_{\ell} \cap Q_{h}(x, y))}{h^{2}}.$$

If $\mathcal{D}^-(\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) = \mathcal{D}^+(\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L)$, then we say that $\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L$ has uniform weighted affine density and denote this density by $\mathcal{D}(\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L)$. If $w_1 = \ldots = w_L = 1$, we write $\mathcal{D}^-(\{\Lambda_\ell\}_{\ell=1}^L)$ and $\mathcal{D}^+(\{\Lambda_\ell\}_{\ell=1}^L)$.

We first make the following basic observations.

Remark 3.2. (a) Let $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ be given. The definition of affine density for multiple sequences can be reduced to a simpler form using the disjoint union $\Lambda = \bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \Lambda_\ell$ of the sequences $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L$. Employing this new sequence we obtain

$$\mathcal{D}^+(\{\Lambda_\ell\}_{\ell=1}^L) = \mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{D}^-(\{\Lambda_\ell\}_{\ell=1}^L) = \mathcal{D}^-(\Lambda).$$

(b) Let $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : \Lambda_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given. Then

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{D}^{-}(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell}) \leq \mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \leq \mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{D}^{+}(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell}).$$

These inequalities may be strict, for instance, consider $\Lambda_1 = \{(2^j, k)\}_{j \geq 0, k \in \mathbb{Z}}$ and $\Lambda_2 = \{(2^j, k)\}_{j < 0, k \in \mathbb{Z}}$ and $w_1 = w_2 = 1$, where L = 2.

The best known class of wavelet systems are the classical affine systems, which are $\mathcal{W}(\psi,\{(a^j,bk)\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}})$ with a>1,b>0, and $\psi\in L^2(\mathbb{R})$. For Gabor systems $\mathcal{G}(g,a\mathbb{Z}\times b\mathbb{Z})$ with a,b>0, the Beurling density $\frac{1}{ab}$ of the lattice $a\mathbb{Z}\times b\mathbb{Z}$ is a ubiquitous constant in a variety of formulas. For example, if $\mathcal{G}(g,a\mathbb{Z}\times b\mathbb{Z})$ is a tight frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and $\|g\|_2=1$, then the frame bounds are exactly $\frac{1}{ab}$. Many of these formulas have analogues for classical affine systems, with the number $\frac{1}{b\ln a}$ playing the role that $\frac{1}{ab}$ plays for Gabor systems. For this reason, Daubechies already suggested in [41, Sec. 4.1], that $\frac{1}{b\ln a}$ might play the role of a density for affine systems, but she also demonstrated that affine systems cannot possess an analogue of the Nyquist density that Gabor systems possess. The following result shows that our notion of density in fact leads to exactly this value. In Section 4.3 it will be shown that this is a special case of a larger class of wavelet systems, the oversampled affine systems, which surprisingly all possess the same uniform weighted affine density $\frac{1}{b\ln a}$.

Lemma 3.3. Let a > 1, b > 0, and define $\Lambda = \{(a^j, bk)\}_{j,k \in \mathbb{Z}}$. Then Λ has uniform affine density

$$\mathcal{D}(\Lambda) = \frac{1}{h \ln a}.$$

Proof. Fix $(x,y) \in \mathbb{A}$. If $(a^j,bk) \in Q_h(x,y)$, then

$$\left(\frac{a^j}{x}, bk - \frac{xy}{a^j}\right) = (x, y)^{-1} \cdot (a^j, bk) \in Q_h.$$

In particular, $\frac{a^j}{x} \in [e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})$. There are at least $\frac{h}{\ln a}$ and at most $\frac{h}{\ln a} + 1$ integers j satisfying this condition. Additionally, we have $\frac{xy}{a^jb} - \frac{h}{2b} \le k < \frac{xy}{a^jb} + \frac{h}{2b}$. For a given j, there are at least $\frac{h}{b}$ and at most $\frac{h}{b} + 1$ integers k satisfying this condition. We conclude that

$$\tfrac{h}{\ln a} \cdot \tfrac{h}{b} \leq \#(\Lambda \cap Q_h(x,y)) \leq \left(\tfrac{h}{\ln a} + 1 \right) \left(\tfrac{h}{b} + 1 \right).$$

Thus

$$\mathcal{D}^{+}(\Lambda) \leq \limsup_{h \to \infty} \frac{\left(\frac{h}{\ln a} + 1\right)\left(\frac{h}{b} + 1\right)}{h^{2}} = \frac{1}{b \ln a},$$

and similarly $\mathcal{D}^-(\Lambda) \geq \frac{1}{h \ln a}$.

In Section 3.3 it will be shown that employing a different, yet isomorphic version of the affine group yields a different value for the affine density of classical affine systems.

3.2 Basic Properties

The following proposition, whose proof will be given at the end of this section, indicates that provided we are only interested in "qualitative" values of upper affine density, it suffices to consider the single weighted sequences separately. We further show that the multiple weighted sequences have uniform affine density if this is true for each of the single weighted sequences.

Proposition 3.4. Let $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : \Lambda_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given. Then the following statements hold.

(i) We have

$$\mathcal{D}^+(\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty \iff \mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell) < \infty \text{ for all } \ell = 1, \dots, L.$$

(ii) If for each $\ell = 1, ..., L$ the pair $(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell})$ has uniform affine density, then also $\{(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}$ has uniform affine density.

Thus we now focus on single weighted sequences in \mathbb{A} . We will derive some equivalent ways to view the meaning of finite upper weighted affine density and positive lower weighted affine density. First, however, we will require the following technical lemma, which will be used throughout. It studies the number of overlaps of boxes of the form $Q_h(x,y)$. In particular, we derive a covering of the affine group with special boxes, however not a disjoint one.

Lemma 3.5. Let h > 0, $r \ge 1$, and $(p,q) \in \mathbb{A}$ be given.

- (i) $\{Q_h(e^{jh}, khe^{-\frac{h}{2}}) \cdot (p,q)\}_{j,k \in \mathbb{Z}}$ covers \mathbb{A} .
- (ii) Any set $Q_h(x,y)$ intersects at most $3(e^h(p+1)+e^{\frac{h}{2}}p|q|+1)$ different sets of the form $Q_h(e^{jh},khe^{-\frac{h}{2}})\cdot(p,q)$.
- (iii) Any set $Q_{rh}(x,y)$ intersects at most $(r+2)(e^h(r+1)+1)$ different sets of the form $Q_h(e^{jh}, khe^{-\frac{h}{2}})$.
- (iv) Any set $Q_{rh}(x,y)$ contains at least $(r-1)(\frac{r-1}{e^h}-1)$ disjoint sets of the form $Q_h(e^{jh}, khe^{-\frac{h}{2}})$.

Proof. (i) Since \mathbb{A} is invariant under right-shifts, it suffices for this part to consider the case (p,q)=(1,0). Fix any $(x,y)\in \mathbb{A}$. Then there is a unique $j\in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a\in [e^{-\frac{h}{2}},e^{\frac{h}{2}})$ such that $x=e^{jh}a$, or $\ln x=jh+\ln a$. Further, since $\frac{h}{a}e^{-\frac{h}{2}}\leq h$, there exist at least one $k\in \mathbb{Z}$ and $b\in [-\frac{h}{2},\frac{h}{2})$ such that $y=\frac{kh}{a}e^{-\frac{h}{2}}+b$. Consequently,

$$(x,y) = (e^{jh}a, \frac{kh}{a}e^{-\frac{h}{2}} + b) = (e^{jh}, khe^{-\frac{h}{2}}) \cdot (a,b) \in Q_h(e^{jh}, khe^{-\frac{h}{2}}).$$

(ii) Fix $(x, y) \in \mathbb{A}$, and suppose that $(u, v) \in Q_h(x, y) \cap Q_h(e^{jh}, khe^{-\frac{h}{2}}) \cdot (p, q)$. Then there exist points $(a, b), (c, d) \in Q_h$ such that

$$(u, v) = (x, y) \cdot (a, b) = (ax, \frac{y}{a} + b) \in Q_h(x, y)$$

and

$$\begin{split} (u,v) &= (e^{jh},khe^{-\frac{h}{2}}) \cdot (c,d) \cdot (p,q) \\ &= (e^{jh}cp,\frac{kh}{cp}e^{-\frac{h}{2}} + \frac{d}{p} + q) \in Q_h(e^{jh},khe^{-\frac{h}{2}}) \cdot (p,q). \end{split}$$

In particular, $\frac{ax}{cp} = e^{jh}$ with $e^{-\frac{h}{2}} \le a, c < e^{\frac{h}{2}}$, so $\frac{x}{e^h p} \le e^{jh} \le \frac{e^h x}{p}$. Therefore

$$\frac{1}{h}(\ln x - h - \ln p) \le j \le \frac{1}{h}(\ln x + h - \ln p),$$

which is satisfied for at most 3 values of j. Further, $khe^{-\frac{h}{2}} = \frac{xy}{e^{jh}} + bcp - cd - cpq$, so

$$\frac{e^{\frac{h}{2}}}{h} \left(\frac{xy}{e^{jh}} - \frac{h}{2} e^{\frac{h}{2}} p - \frac{h}{2} e^{\frac{h}{2}} - \frac{h}{2} p |q| \right) \leq k \leq \frac{e^{\frac{h}{2}}}{h} \left(\frac{xy}{e^{jh}} + \frac{h}{2} e^{\frac{h}{2}} p + \frac{h}{2} e^{\frac{h}{2}} + \frac{h}{2} p |q| \right).$$

For a given value of j, this is satisfied for at most $e^h(p+1) + e^{\frac{h}{2}}p|q| + 1$ values of k. Thus, $Q_h(x,y)$ can intersect at most $3(e^h(p+1) + e^{\frac{h}{2}}p|q| + 1)$ sets of the form $Q_h(e^{jh}, khe^{-\frac{h}{2}})$.

(iii), (iv) The proofs are similar to the proof of part (ii).
$$\hfill\Box$$

Using this lemma, we can give a useful reinterpretation of finite upper weighted affine density, which is inspired by a result for (nonweighted) Beurling density by Christensen, Deng, and Heil [22, Lem. 2.3].

Proposition 3.6. If $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ and $w : \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}^+$, then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda, w) < \infty$.
- (ii) There exists h > 0 such that $\sup_{(x,y) \in \mathbb{A}} \#_w(\Lambda \cap Q_h(x,y)) < \infty$.
- (iii) For every h > 0 we have $\sup_{(x,y) \in \mathbb{A}} \#_w(\Lambda \cap Q_h(x,y)) < \infty$.

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (ii) and (iii) \Rightarrow (ii) are trivial.

(ii) \Rightarrow (i), (iii). Suppose there exists h > 0 such that

$$M = \sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{A}} \#_w(\Lambda \cap Q_h(x,y)) < \infty.$$

For 1 < t < h, we have $Q_t(x,y) \subseteq Q_h(x,y)$, so $\sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{A}} \#_w(\Lambda \cap Q_t(x,y)) < \infty$. On the other hand, if $t \geq h$ then we have t = rh with $r \geq 1$. If we let $N_r = (r+2)(e^h(r+1)+1)$ be as given in Lemma 3.5(iii), then each set $Q_{rh}(x,y)$ is covered by a union of at most N_r sets of the form $Q_h(e^{jh}, khe^{-\frac{h}{2}})$. Consequently,

$$\sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{A}} \#_w(\Lambda\cap Q_{rh}(x,y)) \le N_r \sup_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}} \#_w(\Lambda\cap Q_h(e^{jh},khe^{-\frac{h}{2}})) \le N_r M < \infty.$$

Thus statement (iii) holds. Further,

$$\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda, w) \le \limsup_{r \to \infty} \frac{N_r M}{(rh)^2} = \frac{Me^h}{h^2} < \infty,$$

so statement (i) holds as well.

A similar result holds for the case of positive lower weighted affine density.

Proposition 3.7. If $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ and $w : \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}^+$, then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) $\mathcal{D}^{-}(\Lambda, w) > 0$.
- (ii) There exists some h > 0 such that $\inf_{(x,y) \in \mathbb{A}} \#_w(\Lambda \cap Q_h(x,y)) > 0$.

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (ii) is trivial.

(ii) \Rightarrow (i). Suppose there exists h>0 such that $M=\inf_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{A}}\#_w(\Lambda\cap Q_h(x,y))>0$. Let r>1. If we let $N_r=(r-1)(\frac{r-1}{e^h}-1)$ be as given in Lemma 3.5(iv), then each set $Q_{rh}(x,y)$ contains at least N_r disjoint sets of the form $Q_h(e^{jh},khe^{-\frac{h}{2}})$. Consequently,

$$\inf_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{A}} \#_w(\Lambda\cap Q_{rh}(x,y)) \ge N_r \inf_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}} \#_w(\Lambda\cap Q_h(e^{jh},khe^{-\frac{h}{2}})) \ge N_r M > 0.$$

Therefore,

$$\mathcal{D}^-(\varLambda,w) \geq \liminf_{r \to \infty} \frac{N_r M}{(rh)^2} = \frac{Me^{-h}}{h^2} > 0,$$

which is (i). \Box

We finish this section by giving the proof of Proposition 3.4.

Proof (of Proposition 3.4). (i) Assume $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$ and fix some $\ell \in \{1, \ldots, L\}$. Then, by definition, there exist h > 0 and $N < \infty$ such that $\#_{w_\ell}(\Lambda_\ell \cap Q_h(x,y)) < N$ for all $(x,y) \in \mathbb{A}$. By Proposition 3.6, this implies $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell) < \infty$ for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$.

Conversely, if $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell) < \infty$ for all $\ell = 1, \dots, L$, then, by Remark 3.2(b),

$$\mathcal{D}^+(\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) \le \sum_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell) < \infty.$$

(ii) Suppose that $\mathcal{D}^-(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell) = \mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell) = \mathcal{D}(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)$ for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. By Remark 3.2(b), this implies

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{D}(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell}) \leq \mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \leq \mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{D}(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell}),$$

hence

$$\mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) = \mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{D}(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell}).$$

This proves (ii).

3.3 The Notion of Affine Density by Sun and Zhou

As already mention in Section 3.1, the notion of affine density can also be defined by employing a group isomorphic to \mathbb{A} . Let $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}} = \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}$ denote this group, which is endowed with multiplication given by

$$(a,b) \star (x,y) = (ax, b + ay).$$

To distinguish this group multiplication from the one associated with the group \mathbb{A} , we use the operator sign \star here. The identity element of $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ is e = (1,0), and the inverse of an element $(a,b) \in \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ is given by $(a,b)^{-1} = (\frac{1}{a}, -\frac{b}{a})$.

To construct a wavelet system adapted to this group, let $\tilde{\sigma}$ be the unitary representation of $\tilde{\mathbb{A}}$ on $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ defined by

$$(\tilde{\sigma}(a,b)\psi)(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}}\psi(\frac{x-b}{a}).$$

Given a function $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, a sequence $\Lambda \subseteq \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$, and a weight function $w : \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}^+$, the weighted (irregular) wavelet system generated by ψ , Λ , and w is defined by

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{W}}(\psi, \Lambda, w) = \{w(a, b)^{\frac{1}{2}} \widetilde{\sigma}(a, b)\psi\}_{(a, b) \in \Lambda}$$

$$= \{w(a, b)^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}} \psi(\frac{x - b}{a})\}_{(a, b) \in \Lambda}$$

$$= \{w(a, b)^{\frac{1}{2}} T_b D_a \psi\}_{(a, b) \in \Lambda}.$$

Given $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : \Lambda_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$, the weighted (irregular) wavelet system generated by $\{(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L$ is the disjoint union

$$\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \widetilde{\mathcal{W}}(\psi_{\ell}, \Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell}).$$

Now density with respect to the geometry of \mathbb{A} can be defined in a similar way as in Section 3.1. Recall that the boxes Q_h were chosen to be $Q_h = \mathbb{A}$

 $[e^{-\frac{h}{2}},e^{\frac{h}{2}})\times[-\frac{h}{2},\frac{h}{2})$. Then, for h>0 and $(x,y)\in\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$, we define the boxes $\widetilde{Q}_h(x,y)$ by

$$\widetilde{Q}_h(x,y) = (x,y) \star Q_h = \{(xa,y+xb) : a \in [e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}), b \in [-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2})\}$$

We remark that in this situation the sets $\widetilde{Q}_h(x,y)$ remain rectangles, thus the geometry of the measuring boxes is easier in this sense.

A left-invariant Haar measure for the group $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ is given by $\mu_{\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}} = \frac{dx}{x^2} dy$. Hence the volume of a box $\widetilde{Q}_h(x,y)$ equals

$$\mu_{\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}}(\widetilde{Q}_h(x,y)) = \mu_{\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}}(Q_h) = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \int_{e^{-\frac{h}{2}}}^{e^{\frac{h}{2}}} \frac{dx}{x^2} dy = h(e^{\frac{h}{2}} - e^{-\frac{h}{2}}).$$

The definition of weighted affine density with respect to the group $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ is then as follows. Let $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : \Lambda_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given. Then the *upper weighted affine density with respect* to $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ of $\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L$ is defined by

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{+}(\{(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) = \limsup_{h \to \infty} \sup_{(x,y) \in \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}} \frac{\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{w_{\ell}}(\Lambda_{\ell} \cap \widetilde{Q}_{h}(x,y))}{h(e^{\frac{h}{2}} - e^{-\frac{h}{2}})},$$

and the lower weighted affine density with respect to $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ of $\{(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}$ is

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{-}(\{(\Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) = \liminf_{h \to \infty} \inf_{(x,y) \in \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}} \frac{\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{w_{\ell}}(\Lambda_{\ell} \cap \widetilde{Q}_{h}(x,y))}{h(e^{\frac{h}{2}} - e^{-\frac{h}{2}})}.$$

If $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^-(\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) = \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^+(\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L)$, then we say that $\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L$ has uniform weighted affine density with respect to $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ and denote this density by $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L)$. If $w_1 = \ldots = w_L = 1$, we omit writing it.

In contrast to Lemma 3.5, the sets $\widetilde{Q}_h(x,y)$ can be chosen to form a disjoint covering of $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$.

Lemma 3.8. Let h > 0 and $r \ge 1$ be given.

- (i) $\{\widetilde{Q}_h(e^{jh}, khe^{jh})\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ is a disjoint covering of $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$.
- (ii) Any set $\widetilde{Q}_{rh}(x,y)$ intersects at most $\frac{r(e^{h(\frac{r+5}{2})}-e^{-h(\frac{r+3}{2})})}{e^h-1}+2(r+2)$ sets of the form $\widetilde{Q}_h(e^{jh},khe^{jh})$.
- (iii) Any set $\widetilde{Q}_{rh}(x,y)$ contains at least $\frac{r(e^{h(\frac{r-5}{2})}-e^{-h(\frac{r-3}{2})})}{e^h-1}-2(r+2)$ disjoint sets of the form $\widetilde{Q}_h(e^{jh},khe^{jh})$.

Proof. (i) Fix any $(x,y) \in \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$. Then $[\ln x - \frac{h}{2}, \ln x + \frac{h}{2})$ contains a unique integer of the form jh, and for fixed j there exists a unique $a \in [e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})$ such that

 $\ln x = jh + \ln a$. Further there exists a unique $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and some $b \in [-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2})$ such that $y = e^{jh}(kh + b)$. Hence

$$(x,y) = (e^{jh}a, khe^{jh} + e^{jh}b) = (e^{jh}, khe^{jh}) \star (a,b) \in \widetilde{Q}_h(e^{jh}, khe^{jh})$$

with unique $j, k \in \mathbb{Z}$.

(ii) Fix $(x,y) \in \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$, and suppose that $(u,v) \in \widetilde{Q}_{rh}(x,y) \cap \widetilde{Q}_h(e^{jh},khe^{jh})$. Then there exist points $(a,b) \in Q_{rh}$, $(c,d) \in Q_h$ such that

$$(u,v) = (x,y) \star (a,b) = (ax,y+xb) \in \widetilde{Q}_{rh}(x,y)$$

and

$$(u, v) = (e^{jh}, khe^{jh}) \star (c, d) = (e^{jh}c, khe^{jh} + e^{jh}d) \in \widetilde{Q}_h(e^{jh}, khe^{jh}).$$

In particular, $\frac{ax}{c}=e^{jh}$ with $e^{-\frac{rh}{2}}\leq a< e^{\frac{rh}{2}}$ and $e^{-\frac{h}{2}}\leq c< e^{\frac{h}{2}}$, so $\frac{x}{e^{\frac{h}{2}(r+1)}}\leq e^{jh}\leq xe^{\frac{h}{2}(r+1)}$. Therefore

$$\frac{\ln x}{h} - \frac{r+1}{2} \le j \le \frac{\ln x}{h} + \frac{r+1}{2}.$$

Further, $k = \frac{1}{h} \left(\frac{y}{e^{jh}} + \frac{xb}{e^{jh}} - d \right)$, so

$$\frac{y}{he^{jh}} - \frac{rx}{2e^{jh}} - \frac{1}{2} \le k < \frac{y}{he^{jh}} + \frac{rx}{2e^{jh}} + \frac{1}{2}.$$

For a given value of j, this is satisfied for at most $\frac{rx}{e^{jh}} + 2$ values of k. Thus, $\widetilde{Q}_{rh}(x,y)$ can intersect at most

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{j=\lfloor\frac{\ln x}{h}-\frac{r+1}{2}\rfloor}^{\lceil\frac{\ln x}{h}+\frac{r+1}{2}\rceil} \frac{rx}{e^{jh}} + 2\\ &\leq rx \left[\frac{e^h - e^{-h(\frac{\ln x}{h}+\frac{r+1}{2}+1)}}{e^h - 1} - \frac{e^h - e^{-h(\frac{\ln x}{h}-\frac{r+1}{2}-2)}}{e^h - 1} \right] + 2(r+2)\\ &= \frac{r(e^{h(\frac{r+5}{2})} - e^{-h(\frac{r+3}{2})})}{e^h - 1} + 2(r+2) \end{split}$$

sets of the form $\widetilde{Q}_h(e^{jh}, khe^{jh})$.

(iii) The proof is similar to the proof of part (ii).

Certainly, this fact makes this notion of affine density attractive. However, the following result destroys the nice picture, since it shows that classical affine systems do not possess a uniform density equal to the ubiquitous constant $\frac{1}{b \ln a}$, such as the density defined in Section 3.1 (see Lemma 3.3). Thus it seems that it is not possible to have both the tiling property and the "correct" uniform affine density for classical affine systems.

Due to the definition of the wavelet transform adapted to the group structure of $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$, a classical affine system is now of the form $\widetilde{\mathcal{W}}(\psi,\{(a^j,a^jbk)\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}})$ for $a>1,\ b>0$, and $\psi\in L^2(\mathbb{R})$.

Lemma 3.9. If $\widetilde{\mathcal{W}}(\psi, \Lambda)$ is a classical affine system, then we have

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^-(\varLambda) = \frac{1}{b(a-1)} \quad and \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^+(\varLambda) = \frac{a}{b(a-1)}.$$

Proof. Fix h > 0 and $(x, y) \in \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$. If $(a^j, a^j bk) \in \widetilde{Q}_h(x, y)$, then

$$\left(\frac{a^j}{x}, \frac{a^j bk}{x} - \frac{y}{x}\right) = (x, y)^{-1} \star (a^j, a^j bk) \in Q_h.$$

This requires

$$\frac{2\ln x - h}{2\ln a} \leq j < \frac{2\ln x + h}{2\ln a} \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{2y - xh}{2a^j b} \leq k < \frac{2y + xh}{2a^j b}.$$

Since terms ± 1 are not significant in the limit (cf. the proof of Lemma 3.3), it suffices to observe that

$$\#(\Lambda \cap \widetilde{Q}_h(x,y)) \approx \frac{xh}{b} \sum_{\substack{j=\lceil \frac{2\ln x + h}{2\ln a} \rceil - 1\\ \frac{2\ln x - h}{2\ln a} \rceil}}^{\lceil \frac{2\ln x + h}{2\ln a} \rceil - 1} \frac{1}{a^j}.$$

By choosing x appropriately, this implies that

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{-}(\Lambda) = \liminf_{h \to \infty} \inf_{(x,y) \in \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}} \frac{\#(\Lambda \cap \widetilde{Q}_{h}(x,y))}{h(e^{\frac{h}{2}} - e^{-\frac{h}{2}})}$$

$$= \liminf_{h \to \infty} \frac{h(e^{\frac{h}{2}} - e^{-\frac{h}{2}})}{b(a-1)h(e^{\frac{h}{2}} - e^{-\frac{h}{2}})} = \frac{1}{b(a-1)}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{+}(\Lambda) &= \limsup_{h \to \infty} \sup_{(x,y) \in \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}} \frac{\#(\Lambda \cap \widetilde{Q}_h(x,y))}{h(e^{\frac{h}{2}} - e^{-\frac{h}{2}})} \\ &= \limsup_{h \to \infty} \frac{h(ae^{\frac{h}{2}} - e^{-\frac{h}{2}})}{b(a-1)h(e^{\frac{h}{2}} - e^{-\frac{h}{2}})} = \frac{a}{b(a-1)}, \end{split}$$

which finishes the proof.

In [119] Sun and Zhou defined a notion of affine density for nonweighted sequences by employing the affine group $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$. However, due to Lemma 3.9, they had to use weights in the computation of both the cardinality $\#(\Lambda \cap \widetilde{Q}_h(x,y))$ and the volume $\mu_{\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}}(\widetilde{Q}_h(x,y))$ to ensure that classical affine systems have a uniform affine density equal to $\frac{1}{b \ln a}$, cf. [119, Rem. 3.1]. In our approach classical affine systems possess this uniform affine density without adding artificial weights. We further remark that Sun and Zhou chose the boxes \widetilde{Q}_h to be dependent on two parameters; thus it is possible to change the height

and the width of the boxes independently. But it can be seen that this does not make any difference.

However, we can show that if we choose another exhaustive sequence of boxes in $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$, we in fact obtain the "correct" density for classical affine systems without the necessity to add weights. But then we loose the property of having a sequence of rectangular neighborhoods of the identity and the property of tiling the affine group at each level h.

To prove this result we employ the group isomorphism connecting $\mathbb A$ and $\widetilde{\mathbb A}$.

Remark 3.10. Let $\Phi: \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}$ be defined by

$$\Phi(x,y) = (x,xy).$$

We have

$$\Phi((a,b)\cdot(x,y)) = (ax,ab + axy) = \Phi(a,b) \star \Phi(x,y).$$

Since Φ is also bijective, $\Phi: \mathbb{A} \to \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ is the wanted group isomorphism.

Now define $(\widetilde{K}_h)_{h>0}$ to be the exhaustive sequence of neighborhoods of the identity in $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ given by $\widetilde{K}_h = \Phi(Q_h)$ and let $\widetilde{K}_h(x,y)$ for $(x,y) \in \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ be defined by $\widetilde{K}_h(x,y) = (x,y) \star \widetilde{K}_h$. Then this choice of neighborhoods has the desired property.

Lemma 3.11. Let a > 1, b > 0, and define $\Lambda = \{(a^j, a^j bk)\}_{j,k \in \mathbb{Z}}$, i.e., Λ is the sequence in $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ associated with a classical affine system. Then

$$\limsup_{h\to\infty}\sup_{(x,y)\in\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}}\frac{\#(\Lambda\cap\widetilde{K}_h(x,y))}{\mu_{\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}}(\widetilde{K}_h)}=\liminf_{h\to\infty}\inf_{(x,y)\in\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}}\frac{\#(\Lambda\cap\widetilde{K}_h(x,y))}{\mu_{\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}}(\widetilde{K}_h)}=\frac{1}{b\ln a}.$$

Proof. First notice that

$$\mu_{\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}}(\widetilde{K}_h) = \mu_{\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}}(\varPhi(Q_h)) = \int_{e^{-\frac{h}{2}}}^{e^{\frac{h}{2}}} \int_{-\frac{xh}{2}}^{\frac{xh}{2}} dy \frac{dx}{x^2} = h^2.$$

Since Φ is an isomorphism, we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \limsup_{h \to \infty} \sup_{(x,y) \in \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}} \frac{\# (\Lambda \cap \widetilde{K}_h(x,y))}{\mu_{\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}}(\widetilde{K}_h)} \\ &= \limsup_{h \to \infty} \sup_{(x,y) \in \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}} \frac{\# (\varPhi(\Phi^{-1}(\Lambda)) \cap (x,y) \star \varPhi(Q_h))}{h^2} \\ &= \limsup_{h \to \infty} \sup_{(x,y) \in \mathbb{A}} \frac{\# (\varPhi(\Phi^{-1}(\Lambda) \cap Q_h(x,y)))}{h^2} \\ &= \limsup_{h \to \infty} \sup_{(x,y) \in \mathbb{A}} \frac{\# (\varPhi(\Phi^{-1}(\Lambda) \cap Q_h(x,y)))}{h^2} \end{split}$$

$$= \mathcal{D}^{+}(\Phi^{-1}(\Lambda))$$
$$= \frac{1}{b \ln a}.$$

The last equality follows from Lemma 3.3. A similar argument proves the remaining claim. \Box

3.4 Comparison of Both Notions of Affine Density

In the following we will show that although the two affine densities differ in the exact value for classical affine systems, they are equivalent in a special sense, i.e., they are equal in a *qualitative* sense concerning the upper density.

For this, we need the following two technical results, which are similar to Propositions 3.6 and 3.4. Since the proofs are similar to those (only Lemma 3.8 instead of Lemma 3.5 is used), we omit them.

Proposition 3.12. If $\Lambda \subseteq \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ and $w : \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}^+$, then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^+(\Lambda, w) < \infty$.
- (ii) There exists h > 0 such that $\sup_{(x,y) \in \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}} \#_w(\Lambda \cap \widetilde{Q}_h(x,y)) < \infty$.
- (iii) For every h > 0 we have $\sup_{(x,y) \in \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}} \#_w(\Lambda \cap \widetilde{Q}_h(x,y)) < \infty$.

Proposition 3.13. Let $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : \Lambda_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given. Then we have

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^+(\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty \iff \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^+(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell) < \infty \text{ for all } \ell = 1, \dots, L.$$

The next result states the above-mentioned equivalence in a precise way.

Theorem 3.14. Let $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : \Lambda_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$.
- (ii) $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^+(\{(\Phi(\Lambda_\ell), w_\ell \circ \Phi^{-1})\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty.$

Proof. Notice that by employing Propositions 3.4 and 3.13, it suffices to only consider the case L=1. Hence we let Λ be a sequence in $\mathbb A$ with associated weight function given by $w:\Lambda\to\mathbb R^+$.

By Proposition 3.6, (i) holds if and only if there exists some h > 0 such that we have $\sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{A}} \#_w(\Lambda \cap Q_h(x,y)) < \infty$. Now $\#_w(\Lambda \cap Q_h(x,y)) = \#_{w\circ\Phi^{-1}}(\Phi(\Lambda) \cap \Phi(Q_h(x,y)))$ and $\Phi(Q_h(x,y)) = \Phi(x,y) \star \Phi(Q_h)$. This shows that (i) is equivalent to the existence of some h > 0 such that

$$\sup_{(x,y)\in\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}} \#_{w\circ\Phi^{-1}}(\Phi(\Lambda)\cap(x,y)\star\Phi(Q_h)) < \infty.$$

On the other hand, using Proposition 3.12, we get that (ii) holds if and only if there exists h>0 such that $\sup_{(x,y)\in\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}}\#_{w\circ\Phi^{-1}}(\varPhi(\Lambda)\cap(x,y)\star Q_h)<\infty$. It is easy to check that we have $Q_{he^{-\frac{h}{2}}}\subseteq \varPhi(Q_h)\subseteq Q_{he^{\frac{h}{2}}}$ for all h>0. This implies

$$\begin{split} \sup_{(x,y)\in\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}} \#_{w\circ\Phi^{-1}}(\varPhi(\varLambda)\cap(x,y)\star Q_{he^{-\frac{h}{2}}}) \\ &\leq \sup_{(x,y)\in\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}} \#_{w\circ\Phi^{-1}}(\varPhi(\varLambda)\cap(x,y)\star\varPhi(Q_h)) \\ &\leq \sup_{(x,y)\in\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}} \#_{w\circ\Phi^{-1}}(\varPhi(\varLambda)\cap(x,y)\star Q_{he^{\frac{h}{2}}}), \end{split}$$

which shows that there exists h > 0 such that

$$\sup_{(x,y)\in\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}} \#_{w\circ\Phi^{-1}}(\varPhi(\Lambda)\cap(x,y)\star\varPhi(Q_h))<\infty$$

if and only if there exists h > 0 such that

$$\sup_{(x,y)\in\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}} \#_{w\circ\Phi^{-1}}(\varPhi(\Lambda)\cap(x,y)\star Q_h)<\infty.$$

This shows that (i) and (ii) are equivalent.

In Theorem 4.1 it will be shown that $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$ is a necessary condition for $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)$ to possess an upper frame bound. Thus since the relation $\mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell, w_\ell) = \widetilde{\mathcal{W}}(\psi_\ell, \Phi(\Lambda_\ell), w_\ell \circ \Phi^{-1})$ holds, concerning determining necessary conditions on the existence of upper frame bounds for wavelet systems both affine densities yield the same results. However, in Chapter 5 we will show that affine density can also be related to the frame bounds of a wavelet frame and the admissibility constant of the generator in which case the exact value of the affine density will indeed play a vital role.

Qualitative Density Conditions

We prove that there exist necessary conditions on a weighted wavelet system with finitely many generators in order that it possesses frame bounds. Specifically, we prove that if such a system possesses an upper frame bound, then the upper weighted affine density is finite. Further, under some hypotheses, we prove that if such a system possesses a lower frame bound, then the lower affine density is strictly positive.

We then apply these results to oversampled affine systems (which include the classical affine and the quasi-affine systems as special cases), to co-affine systems, and to systems consisting only of dilations, obtaining some new results relating density to the frame properties of these systems.

In 2002 Hernández, Labate, and Weiss [77] gave a characterization of when a weighted wavelet system with finitely many generators and with arbitrary sequences of scale indices forms a Parseval frame, assuming that a certain hypothesis known as the local integrability condition (LIC) holds. We show that, under some mild regularity assumption on the analyzing wavelets, the LIC is solely a density condition on the sequences of scale indices, thereby emphasizing the utility of the notion of density. More precisely, it will be proven that the LIC is equivalent to the condition that the weighted sequences of scale indices possess a finite upper weighted density. This condition is very natural, since applying the results obtained in the first part of this chapter shows that wavelet frames of the considered form must have finite upper weighted density.

The main results in this chapter generalize the results obtained in Heil and Kutyniok [73] to multiple generators and the results obtained in Kutyniok [94] to wavelet systems with finitely many generators equipped with weights.

4.1 Existence of an Upper Frame Bound

First we study necessary conditions for the existence of an upper frame bound, i.e., for a wavelet system to be Bessel, in terms of affine density. Intuitively,

a wavelet system being Bessel should imply that its sequences of time-scale indices do not contain "too many" elements, i.e., that there cannot be too much "crowding together" of points. And in fact, affine density gives a precise formalism for this intuition. This result is inspired by a similar result for unweighted Gabor systems by Christensen, Deng, and Heil [22, Thm. 1.1(a)]. We remark that a similar result for singly generated nonweighted wavelet systems was simultaneously derived by Sun and Zhou [119, Thm. 3.2] for their notion of density.

Theorem 4.1. Let $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$, and let $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ be given with associated weight functions $w_\ell : \Lambda_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. If the system $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)$ possesses an upper frame bound for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, then $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$.

Proof. Assume that $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ with associated weight functions w_ℓ : $\Lambda_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ are given such that $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) = \infty$. We will show that $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)$ does not possess an upper frame bound for any collection of analyzing wavelets $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$.

Fix some $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ with $||f||_2 = 1$. Since $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(\Lambda_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) = \infty$, by Proposition 3.4(i) there exists $\ell_0 \in \{1, \ldots, L\}$ with $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda_{\ell_0}, w_{\ell_0}) = \infty$. Now since $W_{\psi_{\ell_0}}f$ is nonzero and continuous, there must exist some $(c, d) \in \mathbb{A}$ and some h > 0 such that $W_{\psi_{\ell_0}}f$ does not vanish on the closure of $Q_h(c, d)$, and consequently,

$$\inf_{(x,y)\in Q_h(c,d)} |W_{\psi_{\ell_0}} f(x,y)| = \delta > 0.$$

Now choose any N > 0. Since $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda_{\ell_0}, w_{\ell_0}) = \infty$, it follows from Proposition 3.6 that

$$\sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{A}} \#_{w_{\ell_0}}(\Lambda_{\ell_0} \cap Q_h(x,y)) = \infty,$$

so there must exist a point $(p,q) \in \mathbb{A}$ such that $\#_{w_{\ell_0}}(\Lambda_{\ell_0} \cap Q_h(p,q)) \geq N$. Define

$$g = \sigma((p,q) \cdot (c,d)^{-1})f$$

and note that $\|g\|_2 = \|f\|_2 = 1$. Now,

$$(a,b) \in Q_h(p,q) = (p,q) \cdot Q_h \Longrightarrow (c,d) \cdot (p,q)^{-1} \cdot (a,b) \in (c,d) \cdot Q_h = Q_h(c,d),$$

so we can compute that

$$\sum_{(a,b)\in\Lambda_{\ell_0}} |\langle g, w_{\ell_0}(a,b)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sigma(a,b) \psi_{\ell_0} \rangle|^2$$

$$\geq \sum_{(a,b)\in\Lambda_{\ell_0}\cap Q_h(p,q)} |\langle \sigma((p,q)\cdot (c,d)^{-1})f, w_{\ell_0}(a,b)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sigma(a,b) \psi_{\ell_0} \rangle|^2$$

$$= \sum_{(a,b)\in\Lambda_{\ell_0}\cap Q_h(p,q)} |w_{\ell_0}(a,b)| \left| \langle f, \sigma((c,d)\cdot (p,q)^{-1}\cdot (a,b)) \psi_{\ell_0} \rangle \right|^2$$

$$= \sum_{(a,b)\in \Lambda_{\ell_0}\cap Q_h(p,q)} |w_{\ell_0}(a,b)| |W_{\psi_{\ell_0}} f((c,d)\cdot (p,q)^{-1}\cdot (a,b))|^2$$

$$\geq \delta^2 \#_{w_{\ell_0}} (\Lambda_{\ell_0}\cap Q_h(p,q))$$

$$\geq \delta^2 N.$$

Since N is arbitrary and $\|g\|_2 = 1$, we conclude that $\mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell_0}, \Lambda_{\ell_0}, w_{\ell_0})$, and hence in particular $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, \Lambda_{\ell}, w_{\ell})$, cannot possess an upper frame bound.

4.2 Existence of a Lower Frame Bound

In a similar way as for the upper frame bound, our intuition tells us that the existence of a lower frame bound for a wavelet system should imply that the associated sequences of time-scale indices should possess "enough" elements, i.e., there should not be "gaps" in the distribution of points of the sequences of time-scale indices of arbitrarily large size. Due to Theorem 4.1, we expect that, provided a weighted wavelet system with finitely many (admissible) generators possesses a lower frame bound, the lower weighted affine density of its weighted sequences of time-scale indices should be at least positive. This general claim and even the claim for unweighted wavelet systems is still unsolved. In this section we will prove the following result which does not restrict the choice of the analyzing wavelets, but only poses restrictions on the sequences of time-scale indices. In Section 6.4 we will derive another partial result (Corollary 6.12) for any finite number of sequences of time-scale indices but with a mild regularity condition on the analyzing wavelets. We also refer to partial results derived by Sun in [117].

Theorem 4.2. Let $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, and let $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ with disjoint union denoted by $\Lambda = \bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \Lambda_\ell$. Suppose that $\mathcal{D}^+(\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \Lambda_\ell^{-1}) < \infty$. If $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ possesses a lower frame bound for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, then $\mathcal{D}^-(\Lambda) > 0$.

Before stating the proof of Theorem 4.2, in addition to Proposition 3.6, we give a further interpretation of finite upper affine density in terms of the following definition.

Definition 4.3. We will say that a set $K \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ is affinely h-separated if

$$(a,b) \neq (c,d) \in K \implies Q_h(a,b) \cap Q_h(c,d) = \emptyset.$$

Before proving a characterization of finite upper affine density in terms of this notion, we require the following technical lemma.

Lemma 4.4. Let h > 0 be given. If $Q_h(x,y) \cap Q_h(a,b) \neq \emptyset$, then $(x,y) \in Q_{2he^{\frac{h}{2}}}(a,b)$.

Proof. Suppose that $(c,d) \in Q_h(x,y) \cap Q_h(a,b)$. Then we would have

$$(c,d) = (x,y)(t,u) = (a,b)(r,s)$$

for some $(t, u), (r, s) \in Q_h$. Therefore,

$$(a,b)^{-1} \cdot (x,y) = (r,s) \cdot (t,u)^{-1} = (\frac{r}{t}, st - tu) \in Q_{2he^{\frac{h}{2}}},$$

so
$$(x,y) \in Q_{2he^{\frac{h}{2}}}(a,b)$$
.

Now we derive a further interpretation of finite upper affine density. This should be compared to the characterization result in Proposition 3.6.

Proposition 4.5. If $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{A}$, then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda) < \infty$.
- (ii) There exists h > 0 such that Λ can be written as a finite union of sequences $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_N$, each of which is affinely h-separated.
- (iii) For every h > 0, Λ can be written as a finite union of sequences $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_N$, each of which is affinely h-separated.

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (iii). Assume that $D^+(\Lambda) < \infty$, and let h > 0 be given. Then by Proposition 3.6, we have $M = \sup_{(x,y) \in \mathbb{A}} \#(\Lambda \cap Q_h(x,y)) < \infty$. Fix any $(a,b) \in \Lambda$. If $(c,d) \in \Lambda$ is such that $Q_h(a,b) \cap Q_h(c,d) \neq \emptyset$, then we have by Lemma 4.4 that $(c,d) \in Q_{2he^{\frac{h}{2}}}(a,b)$. Now by Lemma 3.5(ii), there exists an integer N, independent of (a,b), such that $Q_{2he^{\frac{h}{2}}}(a,b)$ is contained in a union of at most N sets of the form $Q_h(e^{jh},khe^{-\frac{h}{2}})$. However, each set $Q_h(e^{jh},khe^{-\frac{h}{2}})$ can contain at most M points of Λ . Hence $Q_{2he^{\frac{h}{2}}}(a,b)$ can contain at most MN points of Λ .

Thus, each $Q_h(a,b)$ with $(a,b) \in \Lambda$ can intersect at most MN sets $Q_h(c,d)$ with $(c,d) \in \Lambda$. By the disjointization principle of Feichtinger and Gröbner [51, Lem. 2.9], it follows that Λ can be divided into at most MN subsequences $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_{MN}$ such that for each fixed i, the sets $Q_h(a,b)$ with $(a,b) \in \Lambda_i$ are disjoint, or in other words, Λ_i is affinely h-separated.

(ii) \Rightarrow (i). Assume that $\Lambda = \Lambda_1 \cup \cdots \cup \Lambda_N$ with each Λ_i affinely h-separated. Fix δ so that $1 < 2\delta e^{\frac{\delta}{2}} < h$, and suppose that two points (a,b) and (c,d) of some Λ_i were both contained in some $Q_\delta(x,y)$. Then by Lemma 4.4, we would have $(x,y) \in Q_{2\delta e^{\frac{\delta}{2}}}(a,b) \subseteq Q_h(a,b)$ and $(x,y) \in Q_{2\delta e^{\frac{\delta}{2}}}(c,d) \subseteq Q_h(c,d)$. Hence (a,b)=(c,d) since Λ_i is affinely h-separated. Thus, each $Q_\delta(x,y)$ contains at most one point of Λ_i , so $\sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{A}}\#(\Lambda\cap Q_\delta(x,y))\leq N<\infty$. It therefore follows from Proposition 3.6 that $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda)<\infty$.

Since (iii)
$$\Rightarrow$$
 (ii) is obvious, the proposition is proved.

For the proof of our main result in this section, in addition, we require the following technical lemmas.

П

Lemma 4.6. If $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ satisfies $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda) < \infty$, then $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda \cdot (p,q)) < \infty$ for each $(p,q) \in \mathbb{A}$.

Proof. Since $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda) < \infty$, we have by Proposition 3.6 that

$$M = \sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{A}} \#(\Lambda \cap Q_1(x,y)) < \infty.$$

Fix any $(p,q) \in \mathbb{A}$. By Lemma 3.5, we have that $\{Q_1(e^j,ke^{-\frac{1}{2}})\cdot (p,q)\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ covers \mathbb{A} , and there exists an integer N independent of (x,y) such that each $Q_1(x,y)$ intersects at most N of the sets $Q_1(e^j,ke^{-\frac{1}{2}})\cdot (p,q)$. Therefore,

$$\#(\Lambda \cdot (p,q) \cap Q_1(x,y)) \leq N \sup_{j,k \in \mathbb{Z}} \#(\Lambda \cdot (p,q) \cap Q_1(e^j, ke^{-\frac{1}{2}}) \cdot (p,q))$$

$$= N \sup_{j,k \in \mathbb{Z}} \#(\Lambda \cap Q_1(e^j, ke^{-\frac{1}{2}}))$$

$$< NM,$$

and therefore $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda \cdot (p,q)) < \infty$ by Proposition 3.6.

Lemma 4.7. Let $\delta, R > 1$ be given. If $T > e^{\frac{R}{2}}(R + \delta)$, then we have for every $(p,q) \in \mathbb{A}$ that

$$(a,b) \notin Q_T(p,q) \implies Q_R \cap Q_\delta((a,b)^{-1} \cdot (p,q)) = \emptyset.$$

Proof. Suppose that there exists a point $(x,y) \in Q_R \cap Q_\delta((a,b)^{-1} \cdot (p,q))$. Then $(x,y) = (a,b)^{-1} \cdot (p,q) \cdot (c,d)$ for some $(c,d) \in Q_\delta$. Since we also have $(x,y) \in Q_R$, we can check that

$$(p,q)^{-1} \cdot (a,b) = (c,d) \cdot (x,y)^{-1} = (\frac{c}{x}, dx - xy) \in Q_T.$$

Therefore $(a,b) \in (p,q) \cdot Q_T = Q_T(p,q)$.

The following lemma is similar to a result by Christensen, Deng, and Heil [22, Lem. 3.3] for Gabor systems, where here we make use of the Bergman transform instead of the Bargmann transform and choose a different function η .

Lemma 4.8. Let $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, and define $\eta \in L^2_A(\mathbb{R})$ by

$$\hat{\eta}(\xi) = \begin{cases} 2\xi e^{-\xi}, & \xi \ge 0, \\ 0, & \xi < 0. \end{cases}$$

For each $\delta > 1$, there exists a constant $C_{\delta} > 0$ such that for every $(p, q), (a, b) \in \mathbb{A}$,

$$\left| \left\langle \sigma(p,q)\eta, \sigma(a,b)\psi \right\rangle \right|^2 \le C_\delta \iint_{Q_\delta((a,b)^{-1}\cdot(p,q))} \left| \left\langle \psi, \, \sigma(x,y)\eta \right\rangle \right|^2 d\mu_{\mathbb{A}}(x,y).$$

Proof. It is easy to check that $\|\eta\|_2 = 1$ and $C_{\eta} = 1 < \infty$. Therefore η is an admissible function. The wavelet transform $\mathcal{W}_{\eta}f$ associated with this particular analyzing wavelet η possesses a stronger property than continuity. Let $\mathbb{C}^+ = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{Im}(z) > 0\}$ denote the complex upper half-plane. The Bergman transform of $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ is the function Gf defined on \mathbb{C}^+ by

$$Gf(b+ai) = \frac{1}{2\pi a^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left\langle f, \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}} \eta(\frac{\cdot -b}{a}) \right\rangle = \frac{1}{2\pi a^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left\langle f, \sigma(a, \frac{b}{a}) \eta \right\rangle = \frac{1}{2\pi a^{\frac{3}{2}}} \mathcal{W}_{\eta} f(a, \frac{b}{a}).$$

For each $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, Gf is an analytic function on \mathbb{C}^+ , cf. [41, Sec. 2.5], [68, p. 308]. In particular, if we identify \mathbb{A} with \mathbb{C}^+ in the obvious way, then since \overline{Q}_h is a compact neighborhood of i = 0 + 1i in \mathbb{C}^+ , we have by [84, Thm. 2.2.3] that for each h > 0 there exists a constant K_h , independent of $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, such that

$$|Gf(i)| = |Gf(0+1i)| \le K_h \iint_{\Omega_h} |Gf(z)| dz.$$
 (4.1)

Now let $\delta > 1$ and $(p,q), (a,b) \in \mathbb{A}$ be given. Set $f = \sigma((p,q)^{-1} \cdot (a,b))\psi$ and choose h > 0 such that $he^{\frac{h}{2}} = \delta$. Using (4.1), we compute as follows:

$$\begin{split} & |\langle \sigma(p,q)\eta,\sigma(a,b)\psi\rangle|^2 \\ & = \left|\langle \eta,\sigma((p,q)^{-1}\cdot(a,b))\psi\rangle\right|^2 \\ & = \left|\langle f,\sigma(1,0)\eta\rangle\right|^2 \\ & = (2\pi)^2 \left|Gf(i)\right|^2 \\ & \leq 4\pi^2 \left(K_h \iint_{Q_h} |Gf(z)| \, dz\right)^2 \\ & = 4\pi^2 K_h^2 \left(\iint_{Q_h} \frac{1}{2\pi x^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left|\langle f,\sigma(x,\frac{y}{x})\eta\rangle\right| \, dy \, dx\right)^2 \\ & = K_h^2 \left(\int_{e^{-\frac{h}{2}}}^{e^{\frac{h}{2}}} \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \frac{1}{x^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left|\langle f,\sigma(x,\frac{y}{x})\eta\rangle\right| \, dy \, dx\right)^2 \\ & = K_h^2 \left(\int_{e^{-\frac{h}{2}}}^{e^{\frac{h}{2}}} \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \frac{1}{x^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left|\langle f,\sigma(x,t)\eta\rangle\right| \, x \, dt \, dx\right)^2 \\ & \leq K_h^2 \left(\int_{e^{-\frac{h}{2}}}^{e^{\frac{h}{2}}} \int_{-\frac{h}{2}e^{\frac{h}{2}}}^{\frac{h}{2}e^{\frac{h}{2}}} \frac{1}{x^{\frac{1}{2}}} \left|\langle f,\sigma(x,t)\eta\rangle\right| \, dt \, dx\right)^2 \\ & \leq K_h^2 \left(\int_{e^{-\frac{h}{2}}}^{e^{\frac{h}{2}}} \int_{-\frac{h}{2}e^{\frac{h}{2}}}^{\frac{h}{2}e^{\frac{h}{2}}} dt \, dx\right) \left(\iint_{Q_{he^{\frac{h}{2}}}} \left|\langle f,\sigma(x,t)\eta\rangle\right|^2 \, dt \, \frac{dx}{x}\right) \\ & = C_\delta \iint_{Q_\delta} \left|\langle f,\sigma(x,t)\eta\rangle\right|^2 \, d\mu_{\mathbb{A}}(x,t) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &= C_{\delta} \iint_{Q_{\delta}} \left| \left\langle \sigma((p,q)^{-1} \cdot (a,b)) \psi, \sigma(x,t) \eta \right\rangle \right|^{2} d\mu_{\mathbb{A}}(x,t) \\ &= C_{\delta} \iint_{Q_{\delta}} \left| \left\langle \psi, \sigma((a,b)^{-1} \cdot (p,q) \cdot (x,t)) \eta \right\rangle \right|^{2} d\mu_{\mathbb{A}}(x,t) \\ &= C_{\delta} \iint_{Q_{\delta}((a,b)^{-1} \cdot (p,q))} \left| \left\langle \psi, \sigma(x,t) \eta \right\rangle \right|^{2} d\mu_{\mathbb{A}}(x,t). \end{split}$$

This proves the claim.

Now we can give the proof of Theorem 4.2.

Proof (of Theorem 4.2). Assume that functions $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and sequences $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ are given such that $\mathcal{D}^+(\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \Lambda_\ell^{-1}) < \infty$ and $\mathcal{D}^-(\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \Lambda_\ell) = 0$. Our goal is to show that $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ does not possess a lower frame bound.

Employing Proposition 3.4(i) we obtain that we have $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda_\ell^{-1}) < \infty$ for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. Now fix $\varepsilon > 0$, and let $\eta \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ denote the analyzing wavelet defined in Lemma 4.8. We have $W_{\eta}\psi_{\ell} \in L^2(\mathbb{A}, d\mu_{\mathbb{A}})$, so, since the sets Q_h , h > 0 form a nested, increasing, exhaustive sequence of subsets of \mathbb{A} there must exist some R > 1 such that

$$\iint_{\mathbb{A}\backslash Q_R} \left| \left\langle \psi_{\ell}, \, \sigma(x, y) \eta \right\rangle \right|^2 d\mu_{\mathbb{A}}(x, y) < \varepsilon \quad \text{for all } \ell = 1, \dots, L. \tag{4.2}$$

Fix $T > e^{\frac{R}{2}}(R+2)$. Then, since $\mathcal{D}^-(\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \Lambda_\ell) = 0$, by Proposition 3.7 and the definition of disjoint union we can find a point $(p,q) \in \mathbb{A}$ such that

$$\Lambda_{\ell} \cap Q_T(p,q) = \emptyset$$
 for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$.

Let $\delta = 2$. Then we have $e^{\frac{R}{2}}(R+\delta) < T$, and, by Lemma 4.7, we obtain

$$\bigcup_{(a,b)\in A_{\ell}} Q_{\delta}((a,b)^{-1}\cdot (p,q)) \subseteq \mathbb{A}\backslash Q_{R} \quad \text{for all } \ell=1,\ldots,L.$$

Now, since $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda_\ell^{-1}) < \infty$, we have by Lemma 4.6 that $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda_\ell^{-1} \cdot (p,q)) < \infty$ as well. Therefore, by Proposition 4.5 we can write each Λ_ℓ as a finite union $\Lambda_\ell = \Lambda_{\ell 1} \cup \cdots \cup \Lambda_{\ell N_\ell}$ in such a way that $\Lambda_{\ell i}^{-1} \cdot (p,q)$ is affinely δ -separated for each $i = 1, \ldots, N_\ell$. Consequently, for each ℓ and i we have

$$\bigcup_{(a,b)\in\Lambda_{\ell i}} Q_{\delta}((a,b)^{-1}\cdot(p,q)) \subseteq \mathbb{A}\backslash Q_R, \tag{4.3}$$

with the union being disjoint.

Finally, applying Lemma 4.8 and equations (4.2) and (4.3), we compute that

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b) \in \Lambda_{\ell}} \left| \langle \sigma(p,q) \eta, \sigma(a,b) \psi_{\ell} \rangle \right|^{2} \\ &\leq C_{\delta} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{i=1}^{N_{\ell}} \sum_{(a,b) \in \Lambda_{\ell i}} \iint_{Q_{\delta}((a,b)^{-1} \cdot (p,q))} \left| \langle \psi_{\ell}, \sigma(x,y) \eta \rangle \right|^{2} d\mu_{\mathbb{A}}(x,y) \\ &\leq C_{\delta} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{i=1}^{N_{\ell}} \iint_{\mathbb{A} \backslash Q_{R}} \left| \langle \psi_{\ell}, \sigma(x,y) \eta \rangle \right|^{2} d\mu_{\mathbb{A}}(x,y) \\ &\leq C_{\delta} L \max_{\ell=1,\dots,L} \{N_{\ell}\} \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

Since $\|\sigma(p,q)\eta\|_2 = \|\eta\|_2 = 1$, it follows that $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ cannot possess a lower frame bound, which completes the proof.

Even in the situation of a single generator, we do not know if the hypothesis $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda^{-1}) < \infty$ in Theorem 4.2 is necessary. Adding the assumption $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda) < \infty$ does not resolve this question, since, for example, if Λ is the sequence associated with the classical affine system, then Λ^{-1} is the sequence corresponding to the co-affine system, so for this Λ we have $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda) < \infty$ yet $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda^{-1}) = \infty$. Further, it is not true that if both $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda) < \infty$ and $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda^{-1}) < \infty$ then necessarily $\mathcal{D}^-(\Lambda) > 0$; for example, consider the sequence $\Lambda = \{(a^j, bk)\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}, k \geq 0}$.

4.3 Examples of Wavelet Systems

In this section we will apply our results derived in the previous two sections to several types of weighted wavelet systems.

We saw already that the sequence of time-scale indices of classical affine systems has uniform affine density equal to the constant $\frac{1}{b \ln a}$ (Lemma 3.3). This is a special case of the following result which proves this property for any oversampled affine system.

Proposition 4.9. Let a>1 and b>0, and define $\Lambda\subseteq\mathbb{A}$ and $w:\Lambda\to\mathbb{R}^+$ by $\Lambda=\left\{(a^j,\frac{bk}{r_j})\right\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ and $w(a^j,\frac{bk}{r_j})=\frac{1}{r_j}$. Then (Λ,w) has uniform weighted affine density

$$\mathcal{D}(\Lambda, w) = \frac{1}{b \ln a}.$$

Proof. Fix $(x,y) \in \mathbb{A}$. If $(a^j, \frac{bk}{r_j}) \in Q_h(x,y)$, then

$$\left(\frac{a^j}{x}, \frac{bk}{r_j} - \frac{xy}{a^j}\right) = (x, y)^{-1} \cdot (a^j, \frac{bk}{r_j}) \in Q_h.$$

In particular, $\frac{a^j}{x} \in [e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})$. There are at least $\frac{h}{\ln a}$ and at most $\frac{h}{\ln a} + 1$ integers j satisfying this condition. Additionally, we have $\frac{xyr_j}{a^jb} - \frac{hr_j}{2b} \leq k < 1$

 $\frac{xyr_j}{a^jb} + \frac{hr_j}{2b}$. For a given j, there are at least $\frac{hr_j}{b}$ and at most $\frac{hr_j}{b} + 1$ integers k satisfying this condition. Taking the weight into account, we conclude that

$$\frac{h}{\ln a} \cdot \frac{1}{r_j} \cdot \frac{hr_j}{b} \leq \#_w(\varLambda \cap Q_h(x,y)) \leq \left(\frac{h}{\ln a} + 1\right) \frac{1}{r_j} \left(\frac{hr_j}{b} + 1\right).$$

Thus

$$\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda, w) \le \limsup_{h \to \infty} \frac{\left(\frac{h}{\ln a} + 1\right) \frac{1}{r_j} \left(\frac{hr_j}{b} + 1\right)}{h^2} = \frac{1}{b \ln a},$$

and similarly $\mathcal{D}^-(\Lambda, w) \geq \frac{1}{h \ln a}$

Next we will consider the co-affine systems studied in Gressman, Labate, Weiss, and Wilson [61]. By employing merely density conditions, we show that unweighted co-affine systems can possess neither an upper nor a lower frame bound, thereby rediscovering a result in [61] for these systems in the case b=1.

Proposition 4.10. Let a>1 and b>0, and define $\Lambda\subseteq\mathbb{A}$ by $\Lambda=\{(a^j,\frac{bk}{a^j})\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}}$. Then

$$\mathcal{D}^{-}(\Lambda) = 0$$
 and $\mathcal{D}^{+}(\Lambda) = \infty$.

Consequently, for any $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, $\psi \neq 0$, a co-affine system $W(\psi, \Lambda)$ cannot possess an upper or a lower frame bound.

Proof. Fix $(x,y) \in \mathbb{A}$. If $(a^j, \frac{bk}{a^j}) \in Q_h(x,y)$, then

$$\left(\frac{a^j}{x}, \frac{bk}{a^j} - \frac{xy}{a^j}\right) = (x, y)^{-1} \cdot \left(a^j, \frac{bk}{a^j}\right) \in Q_h.$$

This requires

$$\frac{2\ln x - h}{2\ln a} \le j < \frac{2\ln x + h}{2\ln a}$$

and

$$\frac{2xy - a^j h}{2b} \le k < \frac{2xy + a^j h}{2b}.$$

As in the proof of Proposition 4.9, terms ± 1 are not significant in the limit, so it suffices to observe that

$$\#(\Lambda \cap Q_h(x,y)) \approx \sum_{j=\lceil \frac{2\ln x + h}{2\ln a} \rceil}^{\lceil \frac{2\ln x + h}{2\ln a} \rceil - 1} \frac{ha^j}{b}.$$

By changing x, we can make this quantity arbitrarily large or small, which yields the conclusion $\mathcal{D}^-(\Lambda)=0$ and $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda)=\infty$. Finally, since Λ^{-1} is the sequence corresponding to the classical affine system, by Lemma 3.3 we have $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda^{-1})=1/(b\ln a)<\infty$. The nonexistence of frame bounds therefore follows from Theorems 4.1 and 4.2.

In Section 5.7 we further show that special *weighted* co-affine systems do not exist by again using the notion of affine density.

Finally, we examine systems which consist only of translates or of dilations of a finite set of functions.

Proposition 4.11. Let $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, let $T_1, \ldots, T_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}$, and let $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ be given.

- (i) $\{\psi_{\ell}(x-t)\}_{t\in T_{\ell},\ell=1,\ldots,L}$ is not a frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$.
- (ii) $\{\frac{1}{\sqrt{s}}\psi_{\ell}(\frac{x}{s})\}_{s\in S_{\ell},\ell=1,\ldots,L}$ is not a frame for $L^{2}(\mathbb{R})$.

Proof. Note that both of these systems are special cases of irregular wavelet systems, namely,

$$\{\psi_{\ell}(x-t)\}_{t\in T_{\ell},\ell=1,...,L} = \bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell},\{1\} \times T_{\ell})$$

and

$$\{\frac{1}{\sqrt{s}}\psi_{\ell}(\frac{x}{s})\}_{s\in S_{\ell},\ell=1,...,L} = \bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, S_{\ell} \times \{0\}).$$

Consider first the case of pure dilations. Note that $\mathcal{D}^-(\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L S_\ell \times \{0\}) = 0$. If $\mathcal{D}^+(\{S_\ell \times \{0\}\}_{\ell=1}^L) = \mathcal{D}^+(\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L S_\ell \times \{0\}) = \infty$ (see Remark 3.2(a) for the first equality), then $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{D}(\psi_\ell, S_\ell)$ cannot possess an upper frame bound by Theorem 4.1.

Suppose on the other hand that $\mathcal{D}^+(\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L S_{\ell} \times \{0\}) < \infty$. By Proposition 3.4(i), $\mathcal{D}^+(S_{\ell} \times \{0\}) < \infty$ for $\ell = 1, \dots, L$. Fix $\ell \in \{1, \dots, L\}$. If $(c, 0) \in (S_{\ell} \times \{0\})^{-1} \cap Q_h(x, y)$, then $(\frac{c}{x}, -\frac{xy}{c}) = (x, y)^{-1} \cdot (c, 0) \in Q_h$. Hence $e^{-\frac{h}{2}} \leq \frac{c}{x} < e^{\frac{h}{2}}$, so $-\frac{h}{2}e^{-h} < -\frac{cy}{x} = -\frac{xy}{c}\frac{c}{x}\frac{c}{x} < \frac{h}{2}e^{h}$. Therefore $(\frac{x}{c}, -\frac{cy}{x}) = (\frac{1}{x}, y)^{-1} \cdot (\frac{1}{c}, 0) \in Q_{he^h}$, so $(\frac{1}{c}, 0) \in Q_{he^h}(\frac{1}{x}, y)$. Thus

$$\sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{A}} \#((S_{\ell}\times\{0\})^{-1}\cap Q_h(x,y)) \le \sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{A}} \#((S_{\ell}\times\{0\})\cap Q_{he^h}(x,y)) < \infty,$$

so $\mathcal{D}^+((S_\ell \times \{0\})^{-1}) < \infty$ for all $\ell = 1, ..., L$ by Proposition 3.6. Thus $\mathcal{D}^+(\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L (S_\ell \times \{0\})^{-1}) < \infty$ by Proposition 3.4(i). Consequently, Theorem 4.2 implies that the system $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, S_\ell \times \{0\})$ cannot possess a lower frame bound in this case.

The proof for $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, \{1\} \times T_{\ell})$ is similar, and was also obtained by Christensen, Deng, and Heil [22] by using the fact that a system of pure translations is a Gabor system of the form $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{G}(g_{\ell}, T_{\ell} \times \{0\})$.

4.4 Density of Sequences in \mathbb{R}^+

In this section we will derive a notion of weighted density for multiple weighted sequences in \mathbb{R}^+ adapted to the geometry of the multiplicative group \mathbb{R}^+ in the spirit of the definition of Beurling density on Euclidean space and affine density on the affine group. This notion will be employed in the next section as well as also in Chapter 5. Notice that throughout, although S will always denote a sequence of points in \mathbb{R}^+ and not merely a subset, for simplicity we will write $S \subset \mathbb{R}^+$.

We consider a fixed increasing family of neighborhoods of the identity element 1 in \mathbb{R}^+ . For simplicity of computation, we will take

$$\{[e^{-\frac{h}{2}},e^{\frac{h}{2}})\}_{h>0}.$$

Let $\mu_{\mathbb{R}^+} = \frac{dx}{x}$ denote the Haar measure on \mathbb{R}^+ . Since $\mu_{\mathbb{R}^+}$ is invariant under multiplication, we have that

$$\mu_{\mathbb{R}^+}(x[e^{-\frac{h}{2}},e^{\frac{h}{2}})) = \mu_{\mathbb{R}^+}([e^{-\frac{h}{2}},e^{\frac{h}{2}})) = \int_{e^{-\frac{h}{2}}}^{e^{\frac{h}{2}}} \frac{dx}{x} = h.$$

Then the upper and lower densities of some multiple weighted sequence $\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}$ in \mathbb{R}^{+} are defined as follows. Notice that we use the same notion as for the density of sequences in \mathbb{A} . The type of density is then always completely determined by the sequence to which it is applied.

Definition 4.12. Given $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with associated weight functions $w_{\ell}: S_{\ell} \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. Then the upper weighted density of $\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^L$ is defined by

$$\mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) = \limsup_{h \to \infty} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{+}} \frac{\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{w_{\ell}}(S_{\ell} \cap x[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}))}{h},$$

and the lower weighted density of $\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}$ is

$$\mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) = \liminf_{h \to \infty} \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{+}} \frac{\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{w_{\ell}}(S_{\ell} \cap x[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}))}{h}$$

If $\mathcal{D}^-(\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^L) = \mathcal{D}^+(\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^L)$, then $\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^L$ has uniform density, which is denoted by $\mathcal{D}(\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^L)$.

We first make the following basic observations.

Remark 4.13. (a) Let $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ be given. Then, using the disjoint union $S = \bigcup_{\ell=1}^L S_\ell$ of the sequences S_1, \ldots, S_L , we obtain the following simpler form:

$$\mathcal{D}^+(\{S_\ell\}_{\ell=1}^L) = \mathcal{D}^+(S)$$
 and $\mathcal{D}^-(\{S_\ell\}_{\ell=1}^L) = \mathcal{D}^-(S)$.

46

(b) Let $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : S_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given. Then

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{D}^{-}(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell}) \leq \mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \leq \mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{D}^{+}(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell}).$$

The following result shows that this density is robust against perturbations of the sequence of scale indices.

Lemma 4.14. Let $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$, $w: S \to \mathbb{R}^+$, and $\varepsilon > 0$. For each $\tilde{S} = \{s\delta_s : s \in S, \delta_s \in [e^{-\frac{\varepsilon}{2}}, e^{\frac{\varepsilon}{2}}]\}$ equipped with a weight function $v: \tilde{S} \to \mathbb{R}^+$ defined by $v(s\delta_s) = w(s)$, we have $\mathcal{D}^-(S, w) = \mathcal{D}^-(\tilde{S}, v)$ and $\mathcal{D}^+(S, w) = \mathcal{D}^+(\tilde{S}, v)$.

Proof. For h > 0 and $x \in \mathbb{R}^+$, we obtain the following estimates for $\#_w(S \cap x[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}))$:

$$\#_v(\tilde{S} \cap x[e^{-\frac{h-\varepsilon}{2}}, e^{\frac{h-\varepsilon}{2}})) \le \#_w(S \cap x[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})) \le \#_v(\tilde{S} \cap x[e^{-\frac{h+\varepsilon}{2}}, e^{\frac{h+\varepsilon}{2}})).$$

Dividing the terms by h, and observing that

$$\limsup_{h \to \infty} \frac{\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^+} \#_v(\tilde{S} \cap x[e^{-\frac{h-\varepsilon}{2}}, e^{\frac{h-\varepsilon}{2}}))}{h}$$

$$= \mathcal{D}^+(\tilde{S}, v)$$

$$= \limsup_{h \to \infty} \frac{\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^+} \#_v(\tilde{S} \cap x[e^{-\frac{h+\varepsilon}{2}}, e^{\frac{h+\varepsilon}{2}}))}{h},$$

proves $\mathcal{D}^+(S, w) = \mathcal{D}^+(\tilde{S}, v)$.

The claim concerning the lower density can be treated similarly.

Next we obtain a useful reinterpretation of finite upper density of a single weighted sequence (compare also Proposition 3.6).

Proposition 4.15. Let $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with weight function $w : S \to \mathbb{R}^+$ be given. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) $\mathcal{D}^+(S, w) < \infty$.
- (ii) There exists an interval $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with $0 < \mu_{\mathbb{R}^+}(I) < \infty$ such that $\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^+} \#_w(S \cap xI) < \infty$.
- (iii) For every interval $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with $0 < \mu_{\mathbb{R}^+}(I) < \infty$, we have $\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^+} \#_w(S \cap xI) < \infty$.

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (ii) and (iii) \Rightarrow (ii) are trivial.

(ii) \Rightarrow (i), (iii). Suppose there exists an interval $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with $0 < \mu_{\mathbb{R}^+}(I) < \infty$ and some constant $N < \infty$ with $\#_w(S \cap xI) < N$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^+$. Let J be another interval in \mathbb{R}^+ with $0 < \mu_{\mathbb{R}^+}(J) < \infty$. If there exists $y \in \mathbb{R}^+$ with

 $yJ \subseteq I$, then $\#_w(S \cap xJ) < N$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^+$. On the other hand, if there exists $y \in \mathbb{R}^+$ with $yI \subseteq J$, then $\mu_{\mathbb{R}^+}(J) = r\mu_{\mathbb{R}^+}(I)$ for some $r \ge 1$, and J is covered by a union of at most r+1 sets of the form xI. Consequently,

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^+} \#_w(S \cap xJ) \le (r+1) \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^+} \#_w(S \cap xI) \le (r+1)N.$$

Thus statement (iii) holds. Further,

$$\mathcal{D}^+(S) \leq \limsup_{r \to \infty} \frac{\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^+} \#_w(S \cap xJ)}{r\mu_{\mathbb{R}^+}(I)} \leq \limsup_{r \to \infty} \frac{(r+1)N}{r\mu_{\mathbb{R}^+}(I)} = \frac{N}{\mu_{\mathbb{R}^+}(I)} < \infty,$$

so statement (i) holds as well.

The following result for the lower density follows in a similar way.

Proposition 4.16. Let $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with weight function $w : S \to \mathbb{R}^+$ be given. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) $\mathcal{D}^{-}(S, w) > 0$.
- (ii) There exists an interval $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with $0 < \mu_{\mathbb{R}^+}(I) < \infty$ such that $\inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^+} \#_w(S \cap xI) > 0$.

The next result compares qualitative statements about the upper density of a collection of weighted sequences in \mathbb{R}^+ with the upper density of the single weighted sequences.

Proposition 4.17. Let $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : S_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) We have $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(S_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$.
- (ii) For all $\ell = 1, ..., L$, we have $\mathcal{D}^+(S_\ell, w_\ell) < \infty$.

Proof. First assume that $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(S_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$ and fix some $\ell \in \{1, \dots, L\}$. By definition, there exist h > 0 and $N < \infty$ such that $\#_{w_\ell}(S_\ell \cap x[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})) < N$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^+$. By Proposition 4.15, this implies $\mathcal{D}^+(S_\ell, w_\ell) < \infty$, which yields condition (ii).

Conversely, if $\mathcal{D}^+(S_\ell, w_\ell) < \infty$ for all $\ell = 1, ..., L$, then, by Remark 4.13(b),

$$\mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{D}^{+}(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell}) < \infty,$$

hence (i) is satisfied.

4.5 Affine Density and the Local Integrability Condition

In this section we focus on weighted wavelet systems with finitely many generators of the form

$$\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, S_{\ell} \times b_{\ell} \mathbb{Z}, (w_{\ell}, 1)) = \bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \{ \sqrt{\frac{w_{\ell}(s)}{s}} \psi_{\ell}(\frac{x}{s} - b_{\ell}k) : s \in S_{\ell}, k \in \mathbb{Z} \}, \tag{4.4}$$

where $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ are finitely many sequences of arbitrary dilations with associated weight functions $w_\ell: S_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L, b_1, \ldots, b_L > 0$, and $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ are analyzing wavelets. In [77] (compare also Guo and Labate [69] for a correction and some improvements in the situation of classical affine systems in higher dimensions) Hernández, Labate, and Weiss gave a characterization of when a system of the form (4.4) constitutes a Parseval frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, assuming that this system satisfies a certain hypothesis known as the local integrability condition, which is defined as follows.

Definition 4.18. A system of the form (4.4) satisfies the local integrability condition (LIC), if for all $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ with $\hat{f} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ and supp \hat{f} being compact in $\mathbb{R}\setminus\{0\}$,

$$I(f) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \frac{1}{b_{\ell}} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{\text{supp}\hat{f}} |\hat{f}(\xi + \frac{m}{sb_{\ell}})|^{2} |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^{2} d\xi < \infty.$$

We will show that, under some mild regularity assumption on the analyzing wavelets, this rather technical-appearing hypothesis is solely a density condition on the sequence of scale indices. More precisely, in Section 4.5.2 it will be proven that the LIC is equivalent to the condition that the sequences of scale indices possess a finite upper weighted density. This condition is very natural, since every wavelet frame of the form (4.4) must have finite upper weighted density as we saw in Section 4.1. Using this new interpretation of the LIC, in Section 4.5.3 we derive a characterization of wavelet Parseval frames with finitely many generators and with arbitrary dilations provided that the sequences of scale indices possess a finite upper weighted density and the analyzing wavelets belong to an amalgam space which are shown to be very natural hypotheses.

4.5.1 Amalgam Spaces on $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$

We refer the reader to Section 2.4 for the required notation and a brief overview of the general theory of amalgam spaces. For our purposes, we will need only the following particular amalgam space on the group \mathbb{R}^* , where $\mathbb{R}^* = \mathbb{R}\setminus\{0\}$. The backbone of our definition of the discrete-type norm of this amalgam space is the choice of a collection of subsets of \mathbb{R}^* . For each h > 0, we let $K_h := (-e^{\frac{h}{2}}, -e^{-\frac{h}{2}}] \cup [e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})$, and we will use the notation

 $K_h(x) = xK_h$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}^*$. It is easily checked that $\{K_1(e^k)\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$ provides us with a tiling of \mathbb{R}^* . Using this particular tiling we can define the amalgam space $W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$ on the group \mathbb{R}^* as follows.

Definition 4.19. A function $f: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ belongs to the amalgam space $W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$ if

$$||f||_{W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)} = \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in K_1(e^k)} |f(x)|^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} < \infty.$$

Remark 4.20. We remark that this norm is indeed an equivalent discrete-type norm for the amalgam space $W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^\infty,L^2)$ defined by Definition 2.8. Let $\phi:\mathbb{R}\to\mathbb{R}$ be a continuous function with $0\leq\phi(x)\leq1$ for all $x\in\mathbb{R}$ satisfying that $\mathrm{supp}(\phi)\subseteq K_2,\ \phi|_{K_1}\equiv1,\ \mathrm{and}\ \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\phi(e^k\cdot)\equiv1$ (this can always be achieved by normalization). Then $\{\phi(e^k\cdot)\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ forms a BUPU, since $\{e^k\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ is K_2 -dense and relatively separated. Moreover, the norm defined by $\|f\|=\left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\mathrm{ess\,sup}_{x\in\mathbb{R}}|f(x)\phi(e^kx)|^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ is equivalent to $\|\cdot\|_{W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^\infty,L^2)},\ \mathrm{since}\ \|\cdot\|_{W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^\infty,L^2)}^2\leq\|\cdot\|^2\leq 3\|\cdot\|_{W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^\infty,L^2)}^2$ due to the fact that $K_2(e^k)\subseteq K_1(e^{k-1})\cup K_1(e^k)\cup K_1(e^{k+1})$ for all $k\in\mathbb{Z}$. Applying Theorem 2.10 now proves the claim.

The following lemma shows that the consideration of analyzing wavelets whose Fourier transform is contained in this amalgam space is by no means restrictive, and is even natural. Specifically, a mild decay condition on $\hat{\psi}$ suffices to ensure that $\hat{\psi} \in W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$.

Lemma 4.21. Let $\psi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R})$. Suppose that there exist $a, b, \alpha, \beta > 0$ such that $|\hat{\psi}(\xi)| \leq a|\xi|^{\alpha}$ as $|\xi| \to 0$ and $|\hat{\psi}(\xi)| \leq b|\xi|^{-\beta}$ as $|\xi| \to \infty$. Then $\hat{\psi} \in W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$.

Proof. Let $0 < \omega \leq \Omega < \infty$ be such that $|\hat{\psi}(\xi)| \leq a|\xi|^{\alpha}$ for all $|\xi| \leq \omega$ and $|\hat{\psi}(\xi)| \leq b|\xi|^{-\beta}$ for all $|\xi| \geq \Omega$. Since $\psi \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$, hence $\hat{\psi} \in C(\mathbb{R})$, there exists $M < \infty$ such that $|\hat{\psi}(\xi)| \leq M$ for all $|\xi| \in [e^{-1}\omega, e\Omega]$. Then,

$$\begin{split} &\|\hat{\psi}\|_{W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)}^2 \\ &= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \sup_{\xi \in K_1(e^k)} |\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2 \\ &\leq \sum_{k = -\infty}^{\lfloor \ln \omega - \frac{1}{2} \rfloor} \sup_{\xi \in K_1(e^k)} |\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2 + \sum_{k = \lceil \ln \omega - \frac{1}{2} \rceil}^{\lfloor \ln \Omega + \frac{1}{2} \rfloor} \sup_{\xi \in K_1(e^k)} |\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2 \\ &+ \sum_{k = \lceil \ln \Omega + \frac{1}{2} \rceil}^{\infty} \sup_{\xi \in K_1(e^k)} |\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2 \end{split}$$

$$\leq a^2 \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\left\lfloor \ln \omega - \frac{1}{2} \right\rfloor} (e^{k+\frac{1}{2}})^{2\alpha} + (\ln \Omega - \ln \omega + 2) M^2 + b^2 \sum_{k=\left\lceil \ln \Omega + \frac{1}{2} \right\rceil}^{\infty} (e^{k-\frac{1}{2}})^{-2\beta} < \infty,$$

П

which proves the claim.

Let $\psi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}) \cap L^2_A(\mathbb{R})$. Then it follows that $\hat{\psi}(0) = 0$. If, in addition, the analyzing wavelet ψ possesses a Fourier transform with polynomial decay towards zero and infinity, then $\hat{\psi}$ is contained in $W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$.

4.5.2 A Density Version of the Local Integrability Condition

Now we turn to the interpretation of the LIC (see Definition 4.18) in terms of the density of the sequences of scale indices. Our main result gives an equivalent formulation of the LIC in terms of density conditions.

Theorem 4.22. Let $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : S_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given, and let $b_1, \ldots, b_L > 0$. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) We have $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$.
- (ii) For all $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ with $\hat{\psi}_1, \ldots, \hat{\psi}_L \in W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$, the wavelet system $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, S_{\ell} \times b_{\ell}\mathbb{Z}, (w_{\ell}, 1))$ satisfies the LIC.

We will break its proof into several parts to improve clarity. First we derive an easy equivalent formulation of the LIC better suited to our purposes.

Lemma 4.23. Let $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : S_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given, and let $b_1, \ldots, b_L > 0$ and $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) The system $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, S_{\ell} \times b_{\ell}\mathbb{Z}, (w_{\ell}, 1))$ satisfies the LIC.
- (ii) For all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ and h > 0,

$$I_{\ell}(h) = \frac{1}{b_{\ell}} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} \frac{w_{\ell}(s)}{s} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{K_{h}(s) \cap (K_{h}(s) - \frac{m}{b_{\ell}})} |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi < \infty.$$

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (ii). Let I(f) be defined as in Definition 4.18. Suppose that (i) holds, i.e., $I(f) < \infty$ for all $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ such that $\hat{f} \in L^\infty(\mathbb{R})$ and supp \hat{f} is compact in $\mathbb{R}\setminus\{0\}$. Then choosing $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ with $\hat{f} = \chi_{K_h}$ and observing that each of the terms I_{ℓ} , $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$, is positive, implies (ii).

(ii) \Rightarrow (i). For $\ell = 1, \dots, L$ and h > 0, we first notice that

$$I_{\ell}(h) = \frac{1}{b_{\ell}} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{K_h} \chi_{K_h}(\xi + \frac{m}{sb_{\ell}}) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^2 d\xi.$$
 (4.5)

Now let $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ be such that $\hat{f} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ and supp \hat{f} is compact in $\mathbb{R}\setminus\{0\}$. Then there exists $M < \infty$ and a compact set $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}\setminus\{0\}$ such that $|\hat{f}(\xi)| \le M\chi_K(\xi)$ for almost every $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$. Since $\{K_h\}_{h>0}$ is an exhaustive sequence of compact sets in $\mathbb{R}\setminus\{0\}$, there exists h > 0 such that $K \subseteq K_h$. By (ii) and (4.5), this yields

$$I(f) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \frac{1}{b_{\ell}} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{\text{supp}\hat{f}} |\hat{f}(\xi + \frac{m}{sb_{\ell}})|^{2} |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^{2} d\xi$$

$$\leq M^{2} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \frac{1}{b_{\ell}} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{K} \chi_{K}(\xi + \frac{m}{sb_{\ell}}) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^{2} d\xi$$

$$\leq M^{2} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} I_{\ell}(h) < \infty.$$

Thus (i) is satisfied.

The following lemma establishes a relation between density, the Wiener amalgam space $W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$, and a Littlewood–Paley type inequality.

Lemma 4.24. Let $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with associated weight function $w: S \to \mathbb{R}^+$ be given with $\mathcal{D}^+(S, w) < \infty$. Further let $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ satisfy $\hat{\psi} \in W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$. Then there exists $B < \infty$ such that

$$\sum_{s \in S} w(s) |\hat{\psi}(s\xi)|^2 \le B \quad \text{for a.e. } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Proof. For each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, set $c_k = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\xi \in K_1(e^k)} |\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2$. Then we have

$$|\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2 \le \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k \chi_{K_1(e^k)}(\xi) \quad \text{for a.e. } \xi \in \mathbb{R}$$
 (4.6)

and

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k = \|\hat{\psi}\|_{W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)}^2. \tag{4.7}$$

Since $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$, equation (4.6) yields

$$\begin{aligned}
&\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^*} \sum_{s \in S} w(s) |\hat{\psi}(s\xi)|^2 \leq \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^*} \sum_{s \in S} w(s) \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k \, \chi_{K_1(e^k)}(s\xi) \\
&\leq \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k \, \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^*} \sum_{s \in S} w(s) \chi_{K_1(\xi^{-1}e^k)}(s) \\
&= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k \, \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^*} \sum_{s \in S} w(s) \chi_{K_1(\xi)}(s) \\
&= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k \, \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^+} \#_w(S \cap \xi[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}})).
\end{aligned}$$

Since $\hat{\psi} \in W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$ and $\mathcal{D}^+(S, w) < \infty$, the last quantity is a finite constant by equation (4.7) and Proposition 4.15.

In the following lemma, by using a sequence in \mathbb{R}^+ , we explicitly construct functions whose Fourier transforms are contained in $W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$.

Lemma 4.25. Let $\{y_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\subseteq\mathbb{R}^+$ be such that the sets $y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}},e^{\frac{1}{2}}), n\in\mathbb{N}$, are mutually disjoint.

(i) Suppose that $y_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Then the function $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ defined by

$$\hat{\psi} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n} \, \chi_{y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}})}$$

satisfies $\hat{\psi} \in W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$.

(ii) Suppose that $y_n \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$. Then the function $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ defined by

$$\hat{\psi} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n\sqrt{y_n}} \, \chi_{y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}})}$$

satisfies $\hat{\psi} \in W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$.

Proof. (i) Suppose that $y_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. It is easy to check that $\hat{\psi} \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, hence $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$. We next observe that for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^+$, we have $e^k[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}}) \cap x[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}}) \neq \emptyset$ if and only if $\ln x - 1 \le k \le \ln x + 1$. Therefore we obtain

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \sup_{\xi \in K_1(e^k)} |\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2 \le \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n^2} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \sup_{\xi \in e^k[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}})} \chi_{y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}})}(\xi)$$

$$= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n^2} \# \{ k \in \mathbb{Z} : e^k[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}}) \cap y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}}) \neq \emptyset \}$$

$$\le 3 \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n^2} < \infty,$$

hence $\hat{\psi} \in W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$.

(ii) Now suppose that $y_n \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$. The slightly different definition of ψ ensures that also in this case $\hat{\psi} \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, hence $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$. Then $\hat{\psi} \in W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$ can be proven in a similar way as in part (i).

Now we are prepared to prove Theorem 4.22.

Proof (of Theorem 4.22). (i) \Rightarrow (ii). We suppose that $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(S_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$, which by Proposition 4.17 implies that $\mathcal{D}^+(S_\ell, w_\ell) < \infty$ for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. For arbitrary functions $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ with $\hat{\psi}_1, \ldots, \hat{\psi}_L \in W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^\infty, L^2)$, we have to show that $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, S_\ell \times b_\ell \mathbb{Z}, (w_\ell, 1))$ satisfies the LIC. As observed in Lemma 4.23, it suffices to prove that

$$I_{\ell}(h) = \frac{1}{b_{\ell}} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} \frac{w_{\ell}(s)}{s} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{K_{h}(s) \cap (K_{h}(s) - \frac{m}{b_{\ell}})} |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi < \infty, \tag{4.8}$$

for all $\ell = 1, ..., L$ and h > 0. For this, fix h > 0, $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ with $\hat{\psi} \in W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$, and consider some $\ell \in \{1, ..., L\}$. For the sake of brevity, we set $I(h) = I_{\ell}(h)$, $S = S_{\ell}$, $w = w_{\ell}$, and $b = b_{\ell}$. We decompose I(h) by

$$I(h) = I_1(h) + I_2(h),$$

where

$$I_1(h) = \frac{1}{b} \sum_{s \in S} \frac{w(s)}{s} \int_{K_h(s)} |\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2 d\xi$$

and

$$I_2(h) = \frac{1}{b} \sum_{s \in S} \frac{w(s)}{s} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}} \int_{K_h(s) \cap (K_h(s) - \frac{m}{b})} |\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2 d\xi.$$

First, we study $I_1(h)$. By Lemma 4.24, there exists some $B < \infty$ such that

$$\sum_{s \in S} w(s) |\hat{\psi}(s\xi)|^2 \leq B \quad \text{for a.e. } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Therefore,

$$I_{1}(h) = \frac{1}{b} \sum_{s \in S} \frac{w(s)}{s} \int_{K_{h}(s)} |\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi$$

$$= \frac{1}{b} \int_{K_{h}} \sum_{s \in S} w(s) |\hat{\psi}(s\xi)|^{2} d\xi \le \frac{1}{b} B|K_{h}| < \infty. \tag{4.9}$$

Secondly, we show that $I_2(h)$ is finite. Let $s \in S$ be fixed. We observe that if $s[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}) \cap (s[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}) - \frac{m}{h}) \neq \emptyset$, then

$$se^{-\frac{h}{2}} \le se^{\frac{h}{2}} - \frac{m}{h}$$
 and $se^{\frac{h}{2}} \ge se^{-\frac{h}{2}} - \frac{m}{h}$.

This is equivalent to

$$-sb(e^{\frac{h}{2}} - e^{-\frac{h}{2}}) \le m \le sb(e^{\frac{h}{2}} - e^{-\frac{h}{2}}).$$

By the choice of $K_h(s)$, for each $s \in S$ there exist at most $3(2sb(e^{\frac{h}{2}} - e^{-\frac{h}{2}}) + 1)$ integers m such that $K_h(s) \cap (K_h(s) - \frac{m}{b}) \neq \emptyset$. Recall that in this case we only consider $m \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$. Therefore there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $K_h(s) \cap (K_h(s) - \frac{m}{b}) = \emptyset$ for all $s \in S$ with $s < \varepsilon$ and $m \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$. This shows that we only need to consider those $s \in S$ with $s \geq \varepsilon$. Then there exists a $C < \infty$ such that

$$3(2sb(e^{\frac{h}{2}}-e^{-\frac{h}{2}})+1)\leq Cs(e^{\frac{h}{2}}-e^{-\frac{h}{2}}) \text{ for all } s\in S,\ s\geq \varepsilon.$$

Using these observations, we obtain

$$I_{2}(h) \leq \frac{1}{b} \sum_{s \in S} \frac{w(s)}{s} C s(e^{\frac{h}{2}} - e^{-\frac{h}{2}}) \int_{K_{h}(s)} |\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi$$

$$= \frac{C}{b} (e^{\frac{h}{2}} - e^{-\frac{h}{2}}) \sum_{s \in S} w(s) \int_{K_{h}(s)} |\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi. \tag{4.10}$$

It follows easily from $\mathcal{D}^+(S, w) < \infty$ that there exists an $N < \infty$ such that

$$\#_w\{s \in S : x \in K_h(s)\} \le N$$
 for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$.

Continuing equation (4.10), we obtain

$$I_{2}(h) \leq \frac{C}{b} \left(e^{\frac{h}{2}} - e^{-\frac{h}{2}}\right) \sum_{s \in S} w(s) \int_{K_{h}(s)} |\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi \leq \frac{C}{b} \left(e^{\frac{h}{2}} - e^{-\frac{h}{2}}\right) N \|\hat{\psi}\|_{2}^{2} < \infty.$$

$$(4.11)$$

Combining the estimates (4.9) and (4.11) yields (4.8). Thus (ii) holds.

 $(ii) \Rightarrow (i)$. Suppose that (ii) holds. Towards a contradiction assume that we have $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(S_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) = \infty$. By Proposition 4.17, there exists $\ell_0 \in \{1, \dots, L\}$ such that $\mathcal{D}^+(S_{\ell_0}, w_{\ell_0}) = \infty$. Thus, by Lemma 4.23, to obtain a contradiction it suffices to show that there exists $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ with $\hat{\psi} \in W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$ such that for some h > 0,

$$I_{\ell_0}(h) = \frac{1}{b_{\ell_0}} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell_0}} \frac{w_{\ell_0}(s)}{s} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{K_h(s) \cap (K_h(s) - \frac{m}{b_{\ell_0}})} |\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2 d\xi = \infty.$$
 (4.12)

To simplify notation we set $I(h) = I_{\ell_0}(h)$, $S = S_{\ell_0}$, $w = w_{\ell_0}$, and $b = b_{\ell_0}$. Proposition 4.15 implies the existence of sequences $\{y_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\subseteq\mathbb{R}^+$ and $\{S_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ with $S_n\subseteq S$ satisfying that $\#_w(S_n)\geq n$ and $S_n\subseteq y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}},e^{\frac{1}{2}})$. If there exists $y\in\mathbb{R}^+$ and h>0 with $\#_w(S\cap y[e^{-\frac{h}{2}},e^{\frac{h}{2}}))=\infty$, then

choosing $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ by $\hat{\psi} = \chi_{y[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})K_h} \in W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$ yields

$$\begin{split} I(h) &= \frac{1}{b} \sum_{s \in S} \frac{w(s)}{s} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{K_h(s) \cap (K_h(s) - \frac{m}{b})} |\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2 d\xi \\ &\geq \frac{1}{b} \sum_{s \in S \cap y[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})} \frac{w(s)}{s} \int_{K_h(s)} \chi_{y[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})K_h}(\xi) d\xi \\ &= \frac{1}{b} \sum_{s \in S \cap y[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})} \frac{w(s)}{s} s |K_h| = \infty. \end{split}$$

This settles (4.12) for the chosen h.

Otherwise we remark that, by restricting $\{y_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ to a subsequence if necessary, we have either $y_n \to 0$ or $y_n \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$. Moreover, without loss of generality we may assume that the sets $y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}}), n \in \mathbb{N}$, are mutually disjoint by choosing again an appropriate subsequence if necessary.

First assume that $y_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Then we define the function $\psi \in$ $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ by

$$\hat{\psi} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n} \, \chi_{y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}})}.$$

Lemma 4.25(i) implies that $\hat{\psi} \in W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$. Choosing h = 2, we obtain

$$I(2) = \frac{1}{b} \sum_{s \in S} \frac{w(s)}{s} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{K_2(s) \cap (K_2(s) - \frac{m}{b})} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n^2} \chi_{y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}})}(\xi) d\xi$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{b} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n^2} \sum_{s \in S_n} \frac{w(s)}{s} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} |s[e^{-1}, e) \cap (s[e^{-1}, e) - \frac{m}{b})$$

$$\cap y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}})|. \tag{4.13}$$

Since $S_n \subseteq y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}})$, it follows that for each $s \in S_n$,

$$y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}}) = [y_n e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, y_n e^{\frac{1}{2}}) \subseteq [se^{-\frac{1}{2}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, se^{\frac{1}{2}}e^{\frac{1}{2}}) = s[e^{-1}, e).$$
 (4.14)

This implies that $\frac{y_n}{s}[e^{-\frac{1}{2}},e^{\frac{1}{2}})\subseteq [e^{-1},e)$, and hence an easy computation shows that $\frac{y_n}{s}\in [e^{-\frac{1}{2}},e^{\frac{1}{2}})$. Thus

$$|[e^{-1}, e) \cap \frac{y_n}{s}[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}})| \ge 1 - e^{-1}$$
 for all $n \in \mathbb{N}, s \in S_n$. (4.15)

Therefore, employing (4.14) and (4.15), we can continue the computation in (4.13) to obtain

$$I(2) \ge \frac{1}{b} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n^2} \sum_{s \in S_n} \frac{w(s)}{s} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} |s[e^{-1}, e) \cap (s[e^{-1}, e) - \frac{m}{b}) \cap y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}})|$$

$$\ge \frac{1}{b} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n^2} \sum_{s \in S_n} \frac{w(s)}{s} |s[e^{-1}, e) \cap y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}})|$$

$$= \frac{1}{b} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n^2} \sum_{s \in S_n} w(s) |[e^{-1}, e) \cap \frac{y_n}{s}[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}})|$$

$$\ge \frac{1 - e^{-1}}{b} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n} = \infty.$$

This settles (4.12) for h = 2.

Secondly, assume that $y_n \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$. In this case we define $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ by

$$\hat{\psi} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n\sqrt{y_n}} \chi_{y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}})}.$$

Lemma 4.25(ii) implies that $\hat{\psi} \in W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^{\infty}, L^2)$. We further observe that

$$s[e^{-1}, e) \subseteq s[e^{-2}, e^2) - \frac{m}{b}$$
 (4.16)

if and only if $-sb(e^{-1}-e^{-2}) \leq m \leq sb(e^2-e)$. Thus there exist at least $sb(e^2-e+e^{-1}-e^{-2}) = sbC'$ values of m for which (4.16) is true. Choosing h=4 and using (4.14) yields

$$I(4) \ge \frac{1}{b} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n^2 y_n} \sum_{s \in S_n} \frac{w(s)}{s} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} |s[e^{-2}, e^2) \cap (s[e^{-2}, e^2) - \frac{m}{b}) \cap y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}})|$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{b} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n^2 y_n} \sum_{s \in S_n} \frac{w(s)}{s} sbC' |y_n[e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}})|$$

$$= C' (e^{\frac{1}{2}} - e^{-\frac{1}{2}}) \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n^2} \sum_{s \in S_n} w(s)$$

$$\geq C' (e^{\frac{1}{2}} - e^{-\frac{1}{2}}) \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n} = \infty.$$

This settles (4.12) for h = 4.

Hence (ii) is not satisfied, a contradiction.

4.5.3 A Characterization of Wavelet Parseval Frames

The equivalent formulation of the LIC in terms of density conditions yields the following characterization result for weighted wavelet Parseval frames with finitely many generators and with arbitrary sequences of scale indices.

Theorem 4.26. Let $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : S_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given. Suppose that $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(S_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$. Then for all $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ with $\hat{\psi}_1, \ldots, \hat{\psi}_L \in W_{\mathbb{R}^*}(L^\infty, L^2)$ and $b_1, \ldots, b_L > 0$, the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, S_{\ell} \times b_{\ell}\mathbb{Z}, (w_{\ell}, 1))$ is a Parseval frame for $L^{2}(\mathbb{R})$.
- (ii) For each $\alpha \in \bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \bigcup_{s \in S_\ell} \frac{1}{b_\ell s} \mathbb{Z}$, where $\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} = \{(\ell, s) \in \{1, \dots, L\} \times S_\ell : b_\ell s \alpha \in \mathbb{Z}\}$, we have

$$\sum_{(\ell,s)\in\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}} \frac{w_{\ell}(s)}{b_{\ell}} \overline{\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)} \hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s(\xi+\alpha)) = \delta_{\alpha,0} \quad \text{for a.e. } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Proof. The claim follows immediately from Theorem 4.22 and [77, Thm. 2.1]. \Box

At last, we show that the hypothesis of finite upper weighted density is not at all restrictive.

Proposition 4.27. Let $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : S_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given, and let $b_1, \ldots, b_L > 0$ and $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$. Then Theorem 4.26(i) implies $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(S_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$, and if, in addition, $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$, then also Theorem 4.26(ii) implies $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(S_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$.

Proof. First suppose Theorem 4.26(i) holds, i.e., $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, S_{\ell} \times b_{\ell}\mathbb{Z}, (w_{\ell}, 1))$ is a Parseval frame for $L^{2}(\mathbb{R})$. Then, in particular, for each $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$, the wavelet system $\mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, S_{\ell} \times b_{\ell}\mathbb{Z}, (w_{\ell}, 1))$ is a Bessel sequence, i.e., it possesses an upper frame bound. Now Theorem 4.1 implies that $\mathcal{D}^{+}(S_{\ell} \times b_{\ell}\mathbb{Z}, (w_{\ell}, 1)) <$

 ∞ for all $\ell=1,\ldots,L$. A simple computation shows that this implies $\mathcal{D}^+(S_\ell,w_\ell)<\infty$ for all $\ell=1,\ldots,L$. The application of Proposition 4.17 then proves the first claim.

Secondly, suppose that $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^1(\mathbb{R}) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and Theorem 4.26(ii) holds. Notice that $\mathcal{P}_0 = \{(\ell, s) \in \{1, \ldots, L\} \times S_\ell\}$. Hence in the special case $\alpha = 0$, we obtain

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \frac{1}{b_{\ell}} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^{2} = 1 \quad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (4.17)

Towards a contradiction assume that there exists $\ell_0 \in \{1, \dots, L\}$ with $\mathcal{D}^+(S_{\ell_0}, w_{\ell_0}) = \infty$. Since $\hat{\psi}_{\ell_0}$ is continuous, there exists some interval $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with $0 < \mu_{\mathbb{R}^+}(I) < \infty$ such that $|\hat{\psi}_{\ell_0}(\xi)|^2 \ge \delta > 0$ for all $\xi \in I$. Applying Proposition 4.15, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists some $y_n \in \mathbb{R}$ with $\#_{w_{\ell_0}}(S_{\ell_0} \cap y_n I) \ge n$. Hence, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\sum_{s \in S_{\ell_0}} w_{\ell_0}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell_0}(sy_n^{-1})|^2 \ge \sum_{s \in S_{\ell_0} \cap y_n I} w_{\ell_0}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell_0}(sy_n^{-1})|^2 \ge \delta n,$$

a contradiction to (4.17). Thus $\mathcal{D}^+(S_\ell, w_\ell) < \infty$ for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. Proposition 4.17 then settles the claim.

Quantitative Density Conditions

In this chapter we study weighted irregular wavelet frames with finitely many generators. We derive a fundamental relationship between the affine weighted density, the frame bounds, and the admissibility constants for the analyzing wavelets.

Then several applications of this result are discussed. In particular, we derive that the affine density of a tight wavelet frame necessarily has to be uniform. Further, our results reveal one reason why there does not exist a Nyquist phenomenon for wavelet systems. We also study the extent to which affine density conditions can serve as sufficient conditions for the existence of wavelet frames thereby presenting a situation, where this indeed can be achieved. Finally, we use the fundamental relationship to prove that certain weighted co-affine systems can never form a frame.

The main results in this chapter, except the application to co-affine systems, generalize the results obtained in Kutyniok [95] to multiple generators. This chapter also contains a generalization of one result in Heil and Kutyniok [74].

5.1 Outline and Comparison with Previous Work

Provided that an analyzing wavelet $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ gives rise to a classical affine frame $\{a^{-j/2}\psi(a^{-j}x-bk)\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ with parameters $a>1,\ b>0$ and with frame bounds $A,\ B,$ a result by Chui and Shi [33] and by Daubechies [41] establishes the following intriguing relationship between the parameters, the frame bounds, and the admissibility constant C_{ψ} :

$$A \le \frac{1}{2b \ln a} C_{\psi} \le B. \tag{5.1}$$

In particular, this leads to the exact value of the frame bound for tight classical affine frames in terms of the parameters and the admissibility constant.

In this chapter our driving motivation is to derive necessary and sufficient density conditions not merely on the sequence of time-scale indices for irregular wavelet frames, but also involving the explicit values of the frame bounds, in this sense quantitative density conditions. For our study we will focus on weighted irregular wavelet systems with respect to the weighted sequences of scale-time indices $(S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell}, (w_{\ell}, v_{\ell}))$, where $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ are arbitrary sequences of scale indices equipped with weights $w_{\ell}: S_{\ell} \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ and $T_1, \ldots, T_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ are arbitrary sequences of time indices equipped with weights $v_{\ell}: T_{\ell} \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$, and finitely many wavelets $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2_A(\mathbb{R})$. That means we consider wavelet systems of the form $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell}, (w_{\ell}, v_{\ell}))$. In Section 5.3 we derive a very general relation between the weighted affine density, the frame bounds, and the admissibility constants for the analyzing wavelets (Theorem 5.6). This result can indeed be shown to contain (5.1) as a special case.

The proof of Theorem 5.6 requires several preliminary results, each of which is very interesting in its own right. We first show that wavelet frames of the form $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, S_\ell \times T_\ell, (w_\ell, v_\ell))$ impose a Littlewood–Paley type relation on the sequences of scale indices and on the analyzing wavelets (Proposition 5.3), thereby generalizing a result by Yang and Zhou [127] to weighted wavelet systems with finitely many generators. These Littlewood-Paley type inequalities can be related to density conditions on the associated sequence and a constant depending on the involved function comparable with the admissibility constant (Proposition 5.4). In Theorem 5.5 we further derive a new relationship between the density, the frame bounds, and the norms of the generators of a frame of weighted exponentials, which contains a result from Heil and Kutyniok [74] as a special case. These results then serve as the main ingredients in the proof of Theorem 5.6. This main result implies that the affine density of a tight wavelet frame necessarily has to be uniform. Several other intriguing applications will then be shown in Sections 5.4–5.7. In the remainder of this section we will discuss those briefly.

Interestingly, our main result has direct impact on the well-known question initially stated by Daubechies [41, Sec. 4.1], namely, why wavelet systems do not satisfy a Nyquist phenomenon analogous to Gabor systems. Our result now reveals one reason why there does not exist a critical density for orthonormal wavelet bases. In brief, the sequence of time-scale indices of an orthonormal wavelet basis has indeed uniform affine density. However, Theorem 5.6 implies that for these systems

$$\mathcal{D}^{-}(\Lambda) = \mathcal{D}^{+}(\Lambda) = 2\|\hat{\psi}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}, \frac{d\xi}{|\xi|})}^{-2},$$

which can be shown to attain each positive value. A detailed analysis is presented in Section 5.4.

Conceptually, density conditions seem to be capable only of delivering necessary conditions for the existence of wavelet frames, since they are independent of the analyzing wavelet itself and do not capture local features of the sequence of time-scale indices. Hence they appear almost too weak to serve as a sufficient condition. And in fact, to date, the notion of density was only employed to derive necessary conditions. However, in Section 5.5 we show that under some mild decay condition on the analyzing wavelets, the existence of a sequence of time indices T such that $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, S_\ell \times T, (w_\ell, 1))$ forms a frame is in fact equivalent to the weighted sequence $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L S_\ell$ having positive lower and finite upper weighted density (Theorem 5.11). Section 5.6 is then devoted to the study whether such weight functions always exist.

In the last section, we consider co-affine systems with arbitrary sequences of time-scale indices with mild conditions on the sequences of time indices and the analyzing wavelets, and show by employing previously derived results that such systems can never form a frame (Theorem 5.18). This is indeed a generalization to arbitrary sequences of scale indices of a result derived by Gressman, Labate, Weiss, and Wilson [61]. Thus, in particular, interchanging the dilation and translation operator for systems of the form $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, S_\ell \times T_\ell, (w_\ell, 1))$ results in the complete loss of the frame properties, thereby indicating how sensitive discrete wavelet frames behave with respect to the ordering of the operators in contrast to continuous wavelet frames.

5.2 Density of Product Sequences

Since in the sequel we will study sequences in \mathbb{A} of the form $\Lambda = S \times T$, where $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ and $T \subseteq \mathbb{R}$, the definition of density for sequences in \mathbb{R}^+ and \mathbb{R} will become important. Notice that we use the same notion for all three densities. The type of density is then always completely determined by the sequence to which it is applied.

The notion of density for sequences in \mathbb{R}^+ has already been introduced in Section 4.4. The notion of Beurling density for weighted sequences in \mathbb{R}^d will be introduced in Chapter 7. Since in this chapter we are only concerned with sequences in \mathbb{R} , for the convenience of the reader we will state the new definition of weighted Beurling density for this special case.

For $T_1, \ldots, T_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ with associated weight functions $v_\ell : T_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$, the upper weighted Beurling density of $\{(T_\ell, v_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L$ is defined by

$$\mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) = \limsup_{h \to \infty} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \frac{\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{v_{\ell}}(T_{\ell} \cap x + [-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2}))}{h},$$

and the lower weighted Beurling density of $\{(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}$ is

$$\mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) = \liminf_{h \to \infty} \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \frac{\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{v_{\ell}}(T_{\ell} \cap x + [-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2}))}{h}.$$

If we have $\mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) = \mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L})$, then $\{(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}$ is said to possess the *uniform weighted Bearling density* $\mathcal{D}(\{(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L})$.

For $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with $w: S \to \mathbb{R}^+$ and $T \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ with $v: T \to \mathbb{R}^+$, we will define the weight function $(w,v): S \times T \to \mathbb{R}^+$ by (w,v)(s,t) = w(s)v(t). Under some mild density conditions on $T_1, \ldots, T_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ equipped with weight functions $v_\ell: T_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$, the affine density of $\{(S_\ell \times T_\ell, (w_\ell, v_\ell))\}_{\ell=1}^L$ can be computed in the following way.

Lemma 5.1. Let $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : S_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$, and $T_1, \ldots, T_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ with associated weight functions $v_\ell : T_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given. If for each $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ the pair (T_ℓ, v_ℓ) possesses a uniform weighted Beurling density $\mathcal{D}(T_\ell, v_\ell)$, then

$$\mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell}, (w_{\ell}, v_{\ell}))\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) = \mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(S_{\ell}, \mathcal{D}(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell}) \cdot w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L})$$

and

$$\mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell}, (w_{\ell}, v_{\ell}))\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) = \mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(S_{\ell}, \mathcal{D}(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell}) \cdot w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}).$$

Proof. Fix $\varepsilon > 0$. Since (T_{ℓ}, v_{ℓ}) possesses a uniform weighted Beurling density, there exists $h_0 > 0$ with

$$\left| \frac{\#_{v_{\ell}}(T_{\ell} \cap x + \left[-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2} \right])}{h} - \mathcal{D}(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell}) \right| < \varepsilon \quad \text{for all } x \in \mathbb{R}, \ h \ge h_0, \ell = 1, \dots, L.$$

$$(5.2)$$

Set $\Lambda_{\ell} = S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell}$. For each $(x, y) \in \mathbb{A}$,

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{(w_{\ell}, v_{\ell})} (\Lambda_{\ell} \cap Q_{h}(x, y))$$

$$= \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{(w_{\ell}, v_{\ell})} (\Lambda_{\ell} \cap \{(xa, \frac{y}{a} + b) : a \in [e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}), b \in [-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2})\})$$

$$= \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell} \cap x[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})} w_{\ell}(s) \cdot \#_{v_{\ell}} (T_{\ell} \cap \frac{xy}{s} + [-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2})).$$

Dividing by h^2 , taking the infimum over all $(x, y) \in \mathbb{A}$, and employing (5.2), yields

$$\inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{+}} \frac{\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{(\mathcal{D}(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell}) - \varepsilon) \cdot w_{\ell}} (S_{\ell} \cap x[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}))}{h} \\
\leq \inf_{(x,y) \in \mathbb{A}} \frac{\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{(w_{\ell}, v_{\ell})} (\Lambda_{\ell} \cap Q_{h}(x, y))}{h^{2}} \\
\leq \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{+}} \frac{\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{(\mathcal{D}(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell}) + \varepsilon) \cdot w_{\ell}} (S_{\ell} \cap x[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}))}{h}$$

for all $h \geq h_0$. Applying the liminf as $h \to \infty$ and noting that we can choose ε arbitrarily small, proves $\mathcal{D}^-(\{(S_\ell \times T_\ell, (w_\ell, v_\ell))\}_{\ell=1}^L) = \mathcal{D}^-(\{(S_\ell, \mathcal{D}(T_\ell, v_\ell) \cdot w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L)$.

The second claim can be treated similarly.

5.3 A Fundamental Relationship

For the proof of the fundamental relationship between the affine density of the sequences of time and scale indices, the frame bounds, and the admissibility constants of the analyzing wavelets, we need to consider the system of weighted exponentials associated with some weighted sequence of time indices. Given r > 0, $T \subseteq \mathbb{R}$, and $v: T \to \mathbb{R}^+$, we denote the corresponding system of weighted exponentials by

$$\mathcal{E}(T, v, r) = \{x \mapsto v(t)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{2\pi i t x} : t \in T, x \in [-r, r]\}.$$

Then $\mathcal{E}(T, v, r)$ is a frame for $L^2[-r, r]$ with frame bounds A and B, if for all $f \in L^2[-r, r]$,

$$A \int_{-r}^{r} |f(x)|^2 dx \le \sum_{t \in T} v(t) \left| \int_{-r}^{r} f(x) e^{-2\pi i tx} dx \right|^2 \le B \int_{-r}^{r} |f(x)|^2 dx.$$

We first show that for the wavelet systems under consideration, a finite upper weighted density of the weighted sequences of scale indices is a necessary condition for such a system to form a Bessel sequence. This result generalizes the result by Sun and Zhou [121, Thm 2.1(1)] to weighted wavelet systems. We remark that this proposition is not a direct corollary from Theorem 4.1.

Proposition 5.2. Let $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$, $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : S_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$, and $T_1, \ldots, T_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ with associated weight functions $v_\ell : T_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given.

- (i) If $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell}, (w_{\ell}, v_{\ell}))$ is a Bessel sequence for $L^{2}(\mathbb{R})$, then we have $\mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) < \infty$.
- (ii) If $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{E}(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell}, r)$, where r > 0, is a Bessel sequence for $L^{2}[-r, r]$, then we have $\mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) < \infty$.

Proof. (i) Let B denote the Bessel bound for $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, S_\ell \times T_\ell, (w_\ell, v_\ell))$. Fix $\ell \in \{1, \ldots, L\}$, $s_0 \in S_\ell$, and $t_0 \in T_\ell$. Let $f = \sigma(s_0, t_0)\psi_\ell$. Now since $W_{\psi_\ell}f$ is continuous and $W_{\psi_\ell}f(s_0, t_0) \neq 0$, there must exist some h > 0 such that

$$\inf_{x \in [e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})} |W_{\psi_{\ell}} f(xs_0, t_0)| = \delta > 0.$$

Then for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^+$

$$B \|f\|_{2}^{2} = B \|\sigma(s_{0}^{-1}y, 0)f\|_{2}^{2}$$

$$\geq \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} v_{\ell}(t) \left| \left\langle \sigma(s_{0}^{-1}y, 0)f, \sigma(s, t)\psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \right|^{2}$$

$$\geq v_{\ell}(t_{0}) \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) \left| \left\langle \sigma(s_{0}^{-1}y, 0)f, \sigma(s, t_{0})\psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \right|^{2}$$

$$\geq v_{\ell}(t_{0}) \sum_{s \in S_{\ell} \cap y[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})} w_{\ell}(s) \left| \left\langle f, \sigma(sy^{-1}s_{0}, t_{0}) \psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \right|^{2}$$

$$\geq v_{\ell}(t_{0}) \delta^{2} \#_{w_{\ell}}(S_{\ell} \cap y[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})).$$

By Propositions 4.15 and 4.17, the claim follows.

Next we show that wavelet frames of the form considered in this chapter impose a Littlewood–Paley type relation on the sequences of scale indices and on the analyzing wavelets. This result extends the result by Yang and Zhou [127, Thm. 1] to weighted wavelet systems with finitely many generators.

Proposition 5.3. Let $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : S_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$, and $T_1, \ldots, T_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ with associated weight functions $v_\ell : T_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given. Further, let $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \subseteq L_A^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$. If $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, S_\ell \times T_\ell, (w_\ell, v_\ell))$ is a frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ with frame bounds A and B, and if for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ the system $\mathcal{E}(T_\ell, v_\ell, r)$ is a frame for $L^2[-r, r]$ with frame bounds C_ℓ and D_ℓ for some r > 0, then, setting $C_{\min} = \min_{\ell=1,\ldots,L} C_\ell$ and $D_{\max} = \max_{\ell=1,\ldots,L} D_\ell$, we have

$$\frac{A}{D_{\max}} \le \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^2 \le \frac{B}{C_{\min}} \quad \text{for a.e. } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (5.3)

Proof. Let $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, $\xi_0 \in \mathbb{R}$, and M > 0. By Lemma 2.2, we have

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) v_{\ell}(t) \left| \left\langle f, \sigma(s, t) \psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \right|^{2} \\ &= \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) v_{\ell}(t) s \left| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{f}(\xi) \overline{\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)} e^{2\pi i s t \xi} d\xi \right|^{2} \\ &= \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) v_{\ell}(t) \frac{1}{s} \left| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{f}(\frac{\xi}{s}) \overline{\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi)} e^{2\pi i t \xi} d\xi \right|^{2} \\ &= \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) v_{\ell}(t) \frac{1}{s} \left| \int_{s\xi_{0}-r}^{s\xi_{0}+r} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \hat{f}(\frac{\xi+2kr}{s}) \overline{\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi+2kr)} e^{2\pi i t (\xi+2kr)} d\xi \right|^{2} \\ &= J_{1}(f, M, \xi_{0}) + J_{2}(f, M, \xi_{0}), \end{split}$$

where

$$J_{1}(f, M, \xi_{0}) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}, s \leq M} \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) v_{\ell}(t) \frac{1}{s}$$

$$\cdot \left| \int_{s\xi_{0}-r}^{s\xi_{0}+r} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \hat{f}(\frac{\xi+2kr}{s}) \overline{\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi+2kr)} e^{2\pi i t(\xi+2kr)} d\xi \right|^{2} \text{ and}$$

$$J_{2}(f, M, \xi_{0}) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}, s > M} \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) v_{\ell}(t) \frac{1}{s}$$

$$\cdot \left| \int_{s\xi_{0}-r}^{s\xi_{0}+r} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \hat{f}(\frac{\xi+2kr}{s}) \overline{\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi+2kr)} e^{2\pi i t(\xi+2kr)} d\xi \right|^{2}.$$

Fix $\varepsilon > 0$ and choose $f_{\varepsilon} \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R})$ by $\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\xi) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\varepsilon}}\chi_{[\xi_{0}-\varepsilon,\xi_{0}+\varepsilon]}(\xi)$. Since $||f_{\varepsilon}||_{2} = ||\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}||_{2} = 1$, using the fact that $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell},S_{\ell}\times T_{\ell},(w_{\ell},v_{\ell}))$ is a frame for $L^{2}(\mathbb{R})$ with frame bounds A and B yields

$$A \le J_1(f_{\varepsilon}, M, \xi_0) + J_2(f_{\varepsilon}, M, \xi_0) \le B$$
 for all $M > 0$ and $\xi_0 \in \mathbb{R}$. (5.4)

Remember that we chose $C_{\min} = \min_{\ell=1,\dots,L} C_{\ell}$ and $D_{\max} = \max_{\ell=1,\dots,L} D_{\ell}$. Obviously, C_{\min} and D_{\max} are both positive and finite.

First we derive estimates for $J_1(f_{\varepsilon}, M, \xi_0)$ and use these to prove the upper bound in (5.3). We claim that for any M > 0 and $\varepsilon \in (0, \frac{r}{M})$,

$$\frac{C_{\min}}{2\varepsilon} \int_{\xi_0 - \varepsilon}^{\xi_0 + \varepsilon} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}, s \le M} w_{\ell}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^2 d\xi$$

$$\leq J_1(f_{\varepsilon}, M, \xi_0)$$

$$\leq \frac{D_{\max}}{2\varepsilon} \int_{\xi_0 - \varepsilon}^{\xi_0 + \varepsilon} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}, s \le M} w_{\ell}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^2 d\xi. \tag{5.5}$$

To prove this, let $\ell \in \{1, \ldots, L\}$. Since for each $s \in S_{\ell}$ with $s \leq M$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$[\xi_0 + \tfrac{(2k-1)r}{s}, \xi_0 + \tfrac{(2k+1)r}{s}] \cap [\xi_0 - \varepsilon, \xi_0 + \varepsilon] \neq \emptyset \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad k = 0,$$

we may rewrite $J_1(f_{\varepsilon}, M, \xi_0)$ as

$$\begin{split} &J_1(f_{\varepsilon},M,\xi_0)\\ &=\sum_{\ell=1}^L\sum_{s\in S_{\ell},s\leq M}\sum_{t\in T_{\ell}}w_{\ell}(s)v_{\ell}(t)\frac{1}{s}\left|\int_{s\xi_0-r}^{s\xi_0+r}\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\frac{\xi}{s})\overline{\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi)}e^{2\pi it\xi}\,d\xi\right|^2\\ &=\sum_{\ell=1}^L\sum_{s\in S_{\ell},s\leq M}w_{\ell}(s)\frac{1}{s}\sum_{t\in T_{\ell}}v_{\ell}(t)\left|\int_{-r}^r\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\frac{\xi+s\xi_0}{s})\overline{\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi+s\xi_0)}e^{2\pi it\xi}\,d\xi\right|^2. \end{split}$$

Due to the definition of C_{\min} and D_{\max} , for all $\ell=1,\ldots,L$ the system $\mathcal{E}(T_{\ell},v_{\ell},r)$ is a frame for $L^2[-r,r]$ with frame bounds C_{\min} and D_{\max} for some r>0. Hence

$$J_{1}(f_{\varepsilon}, M, \xi_{0}) \leq D_{\max} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}, s \leq M} w_{\ell}(s) \frac{1}{s} \int_{-r}^{r} |\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\frac{\xi + s\xi_{0}}{s}) \hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi + s\xi_{0})|^{2} d\xi$$

$$= D_{\max} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}, s \leq M} w_{\ell}(s) \int_{\xi_{0} - \frac{r}{s}}^{\xi_{0} + \frac{r}{s}} |\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\xi) \hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^{2} d\xi$$

$$= \frac{D_{\max}}{2\varepsilon} \int_{\xi_{0} - \varepsilon}^{\xi_{0} + \varepsilon} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}, s \leq M} w_{\ell}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^{2} d\xi.$$

This proves one part of (5.5). The other part can be treated similarly.

Now due to boundedness, we may let $\varepsilon \to 0$ and then $M \to \infty$ in (5.4) and (5.5), which yields

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi_{0})|^{2} \leq \frac{B}{C_{\min}} \quad \text{for a.e. } \xi_{0} \in \mathbb{R}.$$

This proves the upper bound in (5.3).

Now let $\varepsilon = \frac{r}{2M}$. To prove the lower bound in (5.3), we study the second term $J_2(f_{\varepsilon}, M, \xi_0)$. First we show that for any $\xi_0 \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ and $\delta \in (0, A)$, there exists $M_0 > 0$ such that

$$J_2(f_{\varepsilon}, M, \xi_0) < \delta \quad \text{for all } M \ge M_0.$$
 (5.6)

We will prove the claim only for $\xi_0 > 0$. The other case can be treated similarly. Since for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ with $|k| > \frac{s\varepsilon}{2r} + \frac{1}{2}$,

$$[\xi_0 + \frac{(2k-1)r}{s}, \xi_0 + \frac{(2k+1)r}{s}] \cap [\xi_0 - \varepsilon, \xi_0 + \varepsilon] = \emptyset,$$

we obtain the following estimate for each $\ell = 1, ..., L$ and $s \in S_{\ell}, s > M$. Again we will use the fact that $\mathcal{E}(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell}, r)$ is a frame for $L^{2}[-r, r]$ with frame bounds C_{\min} and D_{\max} for some r > 0. We further assume that $M \ge \max\{\frac{r}{\xi_{0}}, 1\}$. We compute

$$\sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} v_{\ell}(t) \frac{1}{s} \left| \int_{s\xi_{0}-r}^{s\xi_{0}+r} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \hat{f}(\frac{\xi+2kr}{s}) \overline{\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi+2kr)} e^{2\pi i t(\xi+2kr)} d\xi \right|^{2}$$

$$= \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} v_{\ell}(t) \frac{1}{s} \left| \int_{s\xi_{0}-r}^{s\xi_{0}+r} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, |k| \leq \frac{s\varepsilon}{2r} + \frac{1}{2}} \hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\frac{\xi+2kr}{s}) \overline{\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi+2kr)} e^{2\pi i t(\xi+2kr)} d\xi \right|^{2}$$

$$= \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} v_{\ell}(t) \frac{1}{s} \left| \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, |k| \leq \frac{s\varepsilon}{2r} + \frac{1}{2}} e^{4\pi i t kr} \int_{s\xi_{0}-r}^{s\xi_{0}+r} \hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\frac{\xi+2kr}{s}) \overline{\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi+2kr)} e^{2\pi i t \xi} d\xi \right|^{2}$$

$$\leq \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} v_{\ell}(t) \frac{1}{s} \left(\frac{s\varepsilon}{r} + 2 \right) \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, |k| \leq \frac{s\varepsilon}{2r} + \frac{1}{2}} \left| \int_{s\xi_{0} - r}^{s\xi_{0} + r} \hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\frac{\xi + 2kr}{s}) \overline{\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi + 2kr)} e^{2\pi i t \xi} \, d\xi \right|^{2}$$

$$= \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{r} + \frac{2}{s} \right) \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, |k| \leq \frac{s\varepsilon}{2r} + \frac{1}{2}} \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} v_{\ell}(t) \left| \int_{-r}^{r} \hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\frac{\xi + s\xi_{0} + 2kr}{s}) \overline{\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi + s\xi_{0} + 2kr)} \right|^{2}$$

$$\cdot e^{2\pi i t \xi} \, d\xi \right|^{2}$$

$$\leq D_{\max} \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{r} + \frac{2}{s} \right) \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, |k| \leq \frac{s\varepsilon}{2r} + \frac{1}{2}} \int_{-r}^{r} |\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\frac{\xi + s\xi_{0} + 2kr}{s}) \hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi + s\xi_{0} + 2kr)|^{2} d\xi$$

$$\leq D_{\max} \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{r} + \frac{2}{s} \right) \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, |k| \leq \frac{s\varepsilon}{2r} + \frac{1}{2}} \int_{-r}^{r} |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi + s\xi_{0} + 2kr)|^{2} d\xi$$

$$\leq D_{\max} \left(\frac{1}{2r} + \frac{1}{s\varepsilon} \right) \int_{s(\xi_{0} - \varepsilon) - 2r}^{s(\xi_{0} + \varepsilon) + 2r} |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi$$

$$\leq \frac{5D_{\max}}{2r} \int_{s\frac{\xi_{0}}{2r} - 2r}^{3s\frac{\xi_{0}}{2r} + 2r} |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi.$$

The last inequality follows from

$$s(\xi_0 + \varepsilon) + 2r = s\xi_0 + \frac{sr}{2M} + 2r \le s\xi_0 + \frac{sr\xi_0}{2r} + 2r = 3s\frac{\xi_0}{2} + 2r$$

a similar computation to show that $s(\xi_0 - \varepsilon) - 2r \ge s\frac{\xi_0}{2} - 2r$, and the fact that $\frac{1}{s\varepsilon} < \frac{1}{M\varepsilon} = \frac{2}{r}$. Therefore, we may estimate $J_2(f_\varepsilon, M, \xi_0)$ in the following way:

$$J_2(f_{\varepsilon}, M, \xi_0) \le \frac{5D_{\max}}{2r} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}, s > M} w_{\ell}(s) \int_{s\frac{\xi_0}{2} - 2r}^{3s\frac{\xi_0}{2} + 2r} |\hat{\psi_{\ell}}(\xi)|^2 d\xi.$$
 (5.7)

Fix $\ell \in \{1,\ldots,L\}$. It remains to prove that the right-hand-side for this particular ℓ converges to 0 as $M \to \infty$. First let $h > \max\{2\ln 4, |\ln(2r)|\}$ and notice that the sequence of intervals $\{e^{jh}[e^{-\frac{h}{2}},e^{\frac{h}{2}})\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$ is a tiling of \mathbb{R}^+ . Moreover, we let M be large enough that $\ln(\frac{M\xi_0}{2}-2r) \geq 3h$, and define

$$j_M := \lfloor \frac{1}{h} \ln(\frac{M\xi_0}{2} - 2r) - \frac{1}{2} \rfloor.$$

It is easy to check that for any $s \in S_{\ell}$, s > M,

$$[s\frac{\xi_0}{2} - 2r, 3s\frac{\xi_0}{2} + 2r] \cap e^{jh}[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}) \neq \emptyset \implies j \ge j_M.$$

We further obtain that this intersection is nonempty if and only if

$$s\frac{\xi_0}{2} - 2r < e^{jh + \frac{h}{2}}$$
 and $3s\frac{\xi_0}{2} + 2r \ge e^{jh - \frac{h}{2}}$,

which implies

$$s \in \left[\frac{2}{3\xi_0}(e^{jh-\frac{h}{2}}-2r), \frac{2}{\xi_0}(e^{jh+\frac{h}{2}}+2r)\right).$$

Now we intend to show that this interval is contained in some $x[e^{-h}, e^h)$ with $x \in \mathbb{R}^+$ suitably chosen. Let $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ with $j \geq j_M$. Then, by the choice of h,

$$\begin{split} \left[\frac{2}{3\xi_{0}}(e^{jh-\frac{h}{2}}-2r),\frac{2}{\xi_{0}}(e^{jh+\frac{h}{2}}+2r)\right) &= \frac{2}{\xi_{0}}e^{jh}\left[\frac{1}{3}(e^{-\frac{h}{2}}-2re^{-jh}),e^{\frac{h}{2}}+2re^{-jh}\right) \\ &\subseteq \frac{2}{\xi_{0}}e^{jh}\left[\frac{1}{3}(e^{-\frac{h}{2}}-2re^{-j_{M}h}),e^{\frac{h}{2}}+2re^{-j_{M}h}\right) \\ &\subseteq \frac{2}{\xi_{0}}e^{jh}\left[\frac{1}{3}(e^{-\frac{h}{2}}-e^{-h}),e^{\frac{h}{2}}+e^{-h}\right) \\ &\subseteq \frac{2}{\xi_{0}}e^{jh}[e^{-h},e^{h}). \end{split}$$

By Propositions 5.2(i) and 4.17, we have $\mathcal{D}^+(S_\ell, w_\ell) < \infty$. Then Proposition 4.15 implies that there exists $N < \infty$ such that

$$\#_{w_{\ell}} \{ s \in S_{\ell}, s > M : [s \frac{\xi_{0}}{2} - 2r, 3s \frac{\xi_{0}}{2} + 2r] \cap e^{jh} [e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}) \neq \emptyset \}$$

$$\leq \#_{w_{\ell}} \{ S_{\ell} \cap \frac{2}{\xi_{0}} e^{jh} [e^{-h}, e^{h}) \} \leq N$$

for any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $j \geq j_M$. Thus,

$$\sum_{s \in S_{\ell}, s > M} w_{\ell}(s) \int_{s\frac{\xi_{0}}{2} - 2r}^{3s\frac{\xi_{0}}{2} + 2r} |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi$$

$$= \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}, s > M} w_{\ell}(s) \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{[s\frac{\xi_{0}}{2} - 2r, 3s\frac{\xi_{0}}{2} + 2r] \cap e^{jh} [e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})} |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi$$

$$= \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}, j \geq j_{M}} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}, s > M} w_{\ell}(s) \int_{[s\frac{\xi_{0}}{2} - 2r, 3s\frac{\xi_{0}}{2} + 2r] \cap e^{jh} [e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})} |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi$$

$$\leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}, j \geq j_{M}} N \int_{e^{jh} [e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})} |\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi,$$

which converges to 0 as $M \to \infty$. Together with (5.7) this proves (5.6). Now (5.4), (5.5), and (5.6) imply that with $\varepsilon = \frac{r}{2M}$, for $\xi_0 \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ and $\delta \in (0, A)$, we have

$$A - \delta \le J_1(f_{\varepsilon}, M, \xi_0) \le \frac{D_{\max}}{2\varepsilon} \int_{\xi_0 - \varepsilon}^{\xi_0 + \varepsilon} \sum_{\ell=1}^L \sum_{s \in S_{\varepsilon}} w_{\ell}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^2 d\xi,$$

provided M is large enough. Letting $M \to \infty$ yields

$$A - \delta \le D_{\max} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi_{0})|^{2}$$
 for a.e. $\xi_{0} \in \mathbb{R}$.

Since δ was arbitrary, finally we obtain

$$\frac{A}{D_{\max}} \le \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi_{0})|^{2} \text{ for a.e. } \xi_{0} \in \mathbb{R}.$$

This proves the lower bound in (5.3).

Now we will show that a Littlewood–Paley type inequality yields a relationship between the density of the associated sequences, the bounds, and special constants depending on the considered functions. The decomposition technique employed in the proof is inspired by a similar technique used by Kolountzakis and Lagarias [91].

Proposition 5.4. Let $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : S_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given such that $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(S_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$. Further, let $f_1, \ldots, f_L \in L^1(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$ with $f_\ell \geq 0$ and $\int_0^\infty \frac{f_\ell(x)}{x} dx < \infty$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. Suppose that

$$A \le \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) f_{\ell}(sx) \le B \quad \text{for a.e. } x \in \mathbb{R}^{+}.$$
 (5.8)

Then

$$A \leq \mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell} \cdot \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{f_{\ell}(x)}{x} dx)\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \leq \mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell} \cdot \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{f_{\ell}(x)}{x} dx)\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \leq B.$$

Proof. For the sake of brevity, in this proof for each h>0 we will define $K_h\subseteq\mathbb{R}^+$ by $K_h=[e^{-\frac{h}{2}},e^{\frac{h}{2}})$. Let $\varepsilon>0$. Since $\int_0^\infty\frac{f_\ell(x)}{x}\,dx<\infty$, we can choose some c>0 such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^+\setminus K_c}\frac{f_\ell(x)}{x}\,dx<\varepsilon$ for all $\ell=1,\ldots,L$. Further, fix $y\in\mathbb{R}^+$ and h>c. Dividing inequality (5.8) by x and integrating each term over the box $y^{-1}K_h$ yields

$$hA \le \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) \int_{y^{-1}K_h} \frac{f_{\ell}(sx)}{x} dx \le hB.$$

Then we make the decomposition

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) \int_{y^{-1}K_h} \frac{f_{\ell}(sx)}{x} dx = I_1(y,h) - I_2(y,h) + I_3(y,h) + I_4(y,h),$$

where

$$I_{1}(y,h) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell} \cap yK_{h-c}} w_{\ell}(s) \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{f_{\ell}(sx)}{x} dx,$$
$$I_{2}(y,h) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell} \cap yK_{h-c}} w_{\ell}(s) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{+} \setminus y^{-1}K_{h}} \frac{f_{\ell}(sx)}{x} dx,$$

$$I_{3}(y,h) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell} \cap (yK_{h+c} \setminus yK_{h-c})} w_{\ell}(s) \int_{y^{-1}K_{h}} \frac{f_{\ell}(sx)}{x} dx,$$

$$I_{4}(y,h) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell} \cap (\mathbb{R}^{+} \setminus yK_{h+c})} w_{\ell}(s) \int_{y^{-1}K_{h}} \frac{f_{\ell}(sx)}{x} dx.$$

By Proposition 4.17, we have $\mathcal{D}^+(S_\ell, w_\ell) < \infty$ for each $\ell = 1, \dots, L$. By Proposition 4.15, there exists $N < \infty$ such that

$$\#_{w_{\ell}}(S_{\ell} \cap xK_{t}) \le (t+1) \sup_{\tilde{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{+}} \#_{w_{\ell}}(S_{\ell} \cap \tilde{x}K_{1}) \le (t+1)N$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^+$, t > 0, and $\ell = 1, \dots, L$.

We first observe that

$$I_1(y,h) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{w_{\ell}}(S_{\ell} \cap yK_{h-c}) \int_0^{\infty} \frac{f_{\ell}(x)}{x} dx.$$

To estimate $I_2(y,h)$, note that if $s \in yK_{h-c}$, then we have $s(\mathbb{R}^+ \setminus y^{-1}K_h) = \mathbb{R}^+ \setminus sy^{-1}K_h \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+ \setminus K_c$. Therefore the contribution of $I_2(y,h)$ can be controlled by

$$I_{2}(y,h) \leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell} \cap yK_{h-c}} w_{\ell}(s) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{+} \setminus K_{c}} \frac{f_{\ell}(x)}{x} dx$$

$$\leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{w_{\ell}}(S_{\ell} \cap yK_{h-c}) \varepsilon$$

$$\leq L(h-c+1)N\varepsilon.$$

Since $K_{h+c}\backslash K_{h-c}$ can be covered by a union of at most 2c+1 intervals of the form $xK_1, x \in \mathbb{R}^+$, the term $I_3(y,h)$ can be estimated as follows:

$$I_{3}(y,h) \leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell} \cap (yK_{h+c} \setminus yK_{h-c})} w_{\ell}(s) \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{f_{\ell}(x)}{x} dx$$

$$= \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{w_{\ell}}(S_{\ell} \cap y(K_{h+c} \setminus K_{h-c})) \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{f_{\ell}(x)}{x} dx$$

$$\leq (2c+1)N \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{f_{\ell}(x)}{x} dx.$$

To estimate $I_4(y,h)$, note that if $s \notin yK_{h+c}$, then $sy^{-1}K_h \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+ \backslash K_c$. Furthermore, each interval in $\{sy^{-1}K_h : s \in S\}$ can intersect at most h+1 of the other intervals in the set. Hence the contribution of $I_4(y,h)$ can be controlled by

$$I_4(y,h) = \sum_{\ell=1}^L \sum_{s \in S_\ell \cap (\mathbb{R}^+ \setminus yK_{h+c})} w_\ell(s) \int_{sy^{-1}K_h} \frac{f_\ell(x)}{x} dx$$

$$\leq L(h+1)N \int_{\mathbb{R}^+ \setminus K_c} \frac{f_\ell(x)}{x} dx$$

$$\leq L(h+1)N\varepsilon.$$

Combining these estimates, we see that

$$hA \leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{w_{\ell}}(S_{\ell} \cap yK_{h-c}) \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{f_{\ell}(x)}{x} dx + L(h-c+1)N\varepsilon$$
$$+ (2c+1)N \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{f_{\ell}(x)}{x} dx + L(h+1)N\varepsilon.$$

Therefore

$$A = \liminf_{h \to \infty} \frac{hA}{h}$$

$$\leq \liminf_{h \to \infty} \inf_{y \in \mathbb{R}^+} \frac{\sum_{\ell=1}^L \#_{w_\ell} (S_\ell \cap yK_{h-c}) \int_0^\infty \frac{f_\ell(x)}{x} dx}{h}$$

$$+ \limsup_{h \to \infty} \frac{L(h-c+1)N\varepsilon}{h} + \limsup_{h \to \infty} \frac{(2c+1)N}{h} \sum_{\ell=1}^L \int_0^\infty \frac{f_\ell(x)}{x} dx$$

$$+ \limsup_{h \to \infty} \frac{L(h+1)N\varepsilon}{h}$$

$$= \mathcal{D}^-(\{(S_\ell, w_\ell \cdot \int_0^\infty \frac{f_\ell(x)}{x} dx)\}_{\ell=1}^L) + 2LN\varepsilon.$$

Now letting ε go to zero yields $A \leq \mathcal{D}^-(\{(S_\ell, w_\ell \cdot \int_0^\infty \frac{f_\ell(x)}{x} dx)\}_{\ell=1}^L)$. The second claim, $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(S_\ell, w_\ell \cdot \int_0^\infty \frac{f_\ell(x)}{x} dx)\}_{\ell=1}^L) \leq B$, can be treated similarly. Hence the theorem is proved.

Next we derive a relationship between the density of the sequence of time indices and the frame bounds of a frame of weighted exponentials. This result contains a result by Heil and Kutyniok [74] as a special case.

Theorem 5.5. Let $T_1, \ldots, T_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ with associated weight functions $v_\ell : T_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given such that $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{E}(T_\ell, v_\ell, r)$ is a frame for $L^2[-r, r]$ with frame bounds A and B for some r > 0. Then the following statements hold.

(i) We have

$$A \le \mathcal{D}^-(\{(T_\ell, v_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) \le \mathcal{D}^+(\{(T_\ell, v_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) \le B.$$

(ii) If the system $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{E}(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell}, r)$ is a tight frame for $L^{2}[-r, r]$ with frame bound A, then $\{(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}$ has uniform weighted Beurling density and

$$\mathcal{D}(\{(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) = A.$$

(iii) If $T_1 = \ldots = T_L = T$, $v_1 = \ldots = v_L = 1$, and $\mathcal{E}(T,r)$ is a tight frame for $L^2[-r,r]$ with frame bound A, then T has uniform Beurling density and

$$\mathcal{D}(T) = A.$$

Proof. Only part (i) will be proven. Parts (ii) and (iii) then follow as corollaries.

For the proof of (i) we will employ Proposition 5.4. For $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$, consider the function $g_{\xi}(x) = M_{\xi} \chi_{[-r,r]}(x) = e^{2\pi i \xi x} \chi_{[-r,r]}(x)$. By definition of frame,

$$A \|g_{\xi}\|_{2}^{2} \leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} v_{\ell}(t) |\langle g_{\xi}, M_{t} \chi_{[-r,r]} \rangle|^{2} \leq B \|g_{\xi}\|_{2}^{2}.$$

We compute

$$\left| \left\langle g_{\xi}, M_t \chi_{[-r,r]} \right\rangle \right|^2 = \begin{cases} 4r^2, & \xi = t, \\ \frac{\sin^2(2\pi(\xi - t)r)}{\pi^2(\xi - t)^2}, & \xi \neq t, \end{cases}$$

and define $h \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ by

$$h(x) = \begin{cases} 4r^2, & x = 0, \\ \frac{\sin^2(2\pi xr)}{\pi^2 x^2}, & x \neq 0. \end{cases}$$

Using, in addition, the fact that $\|g_{\xi}\|_{2}^{2} = 2r$, we obtain

$$2rA \le \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} v_{\ell}(t)h(t-\xi) \le 2rB$$
 for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$.

Now define $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^+)$ by

$$f(x) = h(\ln(x)),$$

and define $\tilde{v}_{\ell}: e^{T_{\ell}} \to \mathbb{R}^+$ by $\tilde{v}_{\ell}(e^t) = v_{\ell}(t)$. Then $h(t - \xi) = f(e^{t - \xi}) = f(e^t e^{-\xi})$, and hence

$$2rA \le \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} \tilde{v}_{\ell}(e^{t}) f(e^{t}x) \le 2rB \text{ for all } x \in \mathbb{R}^{+}.$$

Further, an easy calculation shows that

$$\int_0^\infty \frac{f(x)}{x} \, dx = \int_{-\infty}^\infty \frac{\sin^2(2\pi xr)}{\pi^2 x^2} \, dx = 2r.$$

By Proposition 5.2(ii), we have $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(T_\ell, v_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$. Observing that for $x \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\#_{v_{\ell}}(T_{\ell} \cap x + [-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2})) = \#_{\tilde{v}_{\ell}}(e^{T_{\ell}} \cap e^{x}[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}))$$

and using the definition of density for sequences in \mathbb{R}^+ and in \mathbb{R} , yields $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(e^{T_\ell}, \tilde{v}_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$. Now Proposition 5.4 implies that

$$2rA \le \mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(e^{T_{\ell}}, \tilde{v}_{\ell} \cdot 2r)\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \le \mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(e^{T_{\ell}}, \tilde{v}_{\ell} \cdot 2r)\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \le 2rB.$$

Using the same argument concerning the relation between the density of sequences in \mathbb{R}^+ and \mathbb{R} as above again and dividing by 2r proves the claim. \square

The following result establishes a fundamental relationship between weighted affine density, the frame bounds, and the admissibility constants for weighted wavelet frames with finitely many generators. This includes the result by Chui and Shi and by Daubechies (5.1) (see Remark 5.7(b)).

Theorem 5.6. Let $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : S_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$, and $T_1, \ldots, T_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ with associated weight functions $v_\ell : T_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given. Further, let $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L_A^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$. If $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, S_\ell \times T_\ell, (w_\ell, v_\ell))$ is a frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ with frame bounds A and B, and if for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ the system $\mathcal{E}(T_\ell, v_\ell, r)$ is a frame for $L^2[-r, r]$ with frame bounds C_ℓ and D_ℓ for some r > 0, then the following statements hold, where we set $C_{\min} = \min_{\ell=1,\ldots,L} C_\ell$ and $D_{\max} = \max_{\ell=1,\ldots,L} D_\ell$.

(i) We have

$$\frac{A}{D_{\max}} \le \mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(S_{\ell}, C_{\psi_{\ell}}^{+} w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \le \mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(S_{\ell}, C_{\psi_{\ell}}^{+} w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \le \frac{B}{C_{\min}}$$
 (5.9)

and

$$\frac{A}{D_{\text{max}}} \le \mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(S_{\ell}, C_{\psi_{\ell}}^{-} w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \le \mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(S_{\ell}, C_{\psi_{\ell}}^{-} w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \le \frac{B}{C_{\text{min}}}.$$
 (5.10)

(ii) Suppose $\mathcal{E}(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell}, r)$ is a tight frame for $L^2[-r, r]$ for some r > 0 with the same frame bound $C_{\min} = D_{\max}$. Then

$$A \le \mathcal{D}^-(\{(S_\ell \times T_\ell, (C_{\psi_\ell}^+ w_\ell, v_\ell))\}_{\ell=1}^L)$$

$$\leq \mathcal{D}^+(\{(S_\ell \times T_\ell, (C_{\psi_\ell}^+ w_\ell, v_\ell))\}_{\ell=1}^L) \leq B$$
 (5.11)

ana

$$A \leq \mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell}, (C_{\psi_{\ell}}^{-} w_{\ell}, v_{\ell}))\}_{\ell=1}^{L})$$

$$\leq \mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell}, (C_{\psi_{\ell}}^{-} w_{\ell}, v_{\ell}))\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \leq B \qquad (5.12)$$

(iii) Suppose $\mathcal{E}(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell}, r)$ is a tight frame for $L^{2}[-r, r]$ for some r > 0 with the same frame bound $C_{\min} = D_{\max}$, and we have $w_{\ell} = v_{\ell} = 1$ and $C_{\psi_{\ell}} = C$ for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. Then

$$A \leq \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}^{-}(\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} (S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell})) \cdot C \leq \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}^{+}(\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} (S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell})) \cdot C \leq B.$$

Proof. Inequality (5.9) follows immediately from Propositions 5.2(i), 5.3 and 5.4. Also inequality (5.10) is implied by those three propositions, only here we have to apply Proposition 5.4 to $\xi \mapsto |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(-\xi)|^2$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ instead.

Further notice that (iii) is an immediate consequence of (ii).

Thus it remains to prove part (ii). Suppose that for all $\ell = 1, ..., L$ the system $\mathcal{E}(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell}, r)$ is a tight frame for $L^2[-r, r]$ for some r > 0 with frame bound D. By Theorem 5.5(ii), each pair (T_{ℓ}, v_{ℓ}) has uniform weighted Beurling density $\mathcal{D}(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell}) = D$. Then Lemma 5.1 implies that

$$\mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(S_{\ell}, C_{\psi_{\ell}}^{+} w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) = \frac{\mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell}, (C_{\psi_{\ell}}^{+} w_{\ell}, v_{\ell}))\}_{\ell=1}^{L})}{D}$$

and a similar result holds for the upper density. Since $D = D_{\text{max}} = C_{\text{min}}$, this shows that (5.11) and (5.12) follow from (5.9) and (5.10).

Remark 5.7. (a) In general the hypothesis that $\mathcal{E}(T,r)$ is a frame for $L^2[-r,r]$ for some r>0 is not restrictive, since it was shown by Jaffard in [85, Lem. 2] that $\mathcal{E}(T,r)$ is a frame for $L^2[-r,r]$ for some r>0 if and only if T is the disjoint union of a sequence with a uniform density and a finite number of uniformly discrete sequences, i.e., of sequences Δ which satisfy $\inf_{t_1,t_2\in\Delta,t_1\neq t_2}|t_1-t_2|>0$. This is easily seen to be equivalent to $0<\mathcal{D}^-(T)\leq\mathcal{D}^+(T)<\infty$ (see, for instance, Heil and Kutyniok [74]).

However, $W(\psi, \Lambda)$ being a frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ does not imply $\mathcal{E}(T, r)$ being a frame for $L^2[-r, r]$ for some r > 0. A counterexample for this fact was derived by Sun and Zhou in [121, Ex. 2.1].

(b) Consider the case $S = \{a^j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}, a > 1$ and $T = b\mathbb{Z}, b > 0$. Then Lemma 3.3 shows that $\mathcal{D}^-(S \times T) = \mathcal{D}^+(S \times T) = \frac{1}{b \ln a}$. Therefore Theorem 5.6(iii) contains (5.1) as a special case.

Theorem 5.6 yields several results interesting in their own right, which are all direct implications of this theorem. Here we focus on the singly generated situation.

It is conjectured that $\mathcal{W}(\psi, \Lambda)$ being a frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ implies $\mathcal{D}^-(\Lambda) > 0$, most likely under mild conditions on ψ or Λ . In this book we obtained one partial result in Theorem 4.2 and will derive another in Corollary 6.12. The general conjecture is still unsolved even in the nonweighted case. For further partial results we refer to Sun [117]. With the following corollary we prove yet another special case of this conjecture. This result is in fact a generalization of one part of a result from Sun and Zhou [121, Thm. 2.1] and Sun [117, Thm. 1.1] to the weighted situation.

Corollary 5.8. Let $\Lambda = S \times T \subseteq \mathbb{A}$, $w : S \to \mathbb{R}^+$, and $v : T \to \mathbb{R}^+$, and let $\psi \in L^2_A(\mathbb{R})$. If $W(\psi, \Lambda, (w, v))$ is a frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, and $\mathcal{E}(T, v, r)$ is a tight frame for $L^2[-r, r]$ for some r > 0, then $\mathcal{D}^-(\Lambda, (w, v)) > 0$.

The second corollary shows that a wavelet system can only form a tight frame provided that the associated sequence of time-scale indices possesses a uniform affine density, thereby also delivering the exact value of the frame bound in terms of the affine density of the sequence of time-scale indices and the admissibility constant of the analyzing wavelet. This should be compared with the fact that the sequence of time-scale indices of classical affine systems always possesses a uniform affine density (Lemma 3.3). The following result moreover provides one reason, why there does not exist a Nyquist phenomenon for wavelet systems (see Section 5.4).

Corollary 5.9. Let $\Lambda = S \times T \subseteq \mathbb{A}$, $w: S \to \mathbb{R}^+$, and $v: T \to \mathbb{R}^+$, and let $\psi \in L^2_A(\mathbb{R})$. If $W(\psi, \Lambda, (w, v))$ is a tight frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ with frame bound A, and $\mathcal{E}(T, v, r)$ is a tight frame for $L^2[-r, r]$ for some r > 0, then $(\Lambda, (w, v))$ has uniform weighted affine density and

$$A = \mathcal{D}(\Lambda, (w, v)) \int_0^\infty \frac{|\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2}{|\xi|} d\xi = \mathcal{D}(\Lambda, (w, v)) \int_{-\infty}^0 \frac{|\hat{\psi}(\xi)|^2}{|\xi|} d\xi.$$
 (5.13)

5.4 The Nyquist Phenomenon

In this section we discuss the impact of Corollary 5.9 on the existence of a Nyquist density for wavelet systems. To present our observations in a clear way, we restrict ourselves to singly generated nonweighted wavelet systems. However, we remark that these considerations can be extended to weighted wavelet systems with finitely many generators.

In brief, in terms of necessary conditions for Gabor frames there is a critical or Nyquist density for Λ separating frames from non-frames, and furthermore the Riesz bases sit exactly at this critical density. It is natural to ask whether wavelet systems share similar properties, and the immediate answer is that there is clearly no exact analogue of the Nyquist density for analyzing wavelets. In particular, consider the case of the classical affine systems $\mathcal{W}(\psi, \{(a^j, bk)\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}})$ with dilation parameter a>1 and translation parameter b > 0. It can be shown that for each a > 1 and b > 0 there exists an analyzing wavelet $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ such that $\mathcal{W}(\psi, \Lambda)$ is a frame or even an orthonormal basis for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ (see Dai and Larson [38, Ex. 4.5, Part 10]). In fact, the wavelet set construction of Dai, Larson, and Speegle [39] shows that this is true even in higher dimensions: wavelet orthonormal bases in the classical affine form exist for any expansive dilation matrix. For additional demonstrations of the impossibility of a Nyquist density, even given constraints on the norm or on the admissibility constant of the analyzing wavelet, see the example of Daubechies in [40, Thm. 2.10] and the more extensive analysis of Balan in [5].

We will now demonstrate how the density relation (5.13) reveals one reason why there does not exist a Nyquist density for wavelet orthonormal bases, whereas there exists one for Gabor orthonormal bases. We can view the necessary density condition (5.13) for $\mathcal{W}(\psi, \Lambda)$ to be a Parseval frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, where $\mathcal{E}(T, r)$ is a tight frame for $L^2[-r, r]$ for some r > 0, also from the following perspective:

$$\mathcal{D}(\Lambda) = 2\|\hat{\psi}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}, \frac{d\xi}{|\xi|})}^{-2}.$$
(5.14)

Thus once $W(\psi, \Lambda)$ constitutes an orthonormal basis for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, and $\mathcal{E}(T, r)$ is a tight frame for $L^2[-r, r]$ for some r > 0, we obtain (5.14) as a necessary condition. The wavelet system being an orthonormal basis implies $\|\hat{\psi}\|_2 = 1$. However, we do not have any control over the constant $\|\hat{\psi}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}, \frac{d\xi}{|\xi|})}^{-2}$. Thus although Λ has a uniform affine density in this case, the value of it can range over the whole positive axis. As mentioned above, it can be shown that for each dilation parameter a > 1, there exists an analyzing wavelet $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ such that $W(\psi, \{(a^j, k)\}_{j,k \in \mathbb{Z}})$ is an orthonormal basis for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$. Since $\mathcal{D}(\{(a^j, k)\}_{j,k \in \mathbb{Z}}) = \frac{1}{\ln a}$ by Lemma 3.3, the affine density can attain each positive value. Thus Corollary 5.9 reveals one reason, why wavelet systems do not possess a Nyquist density.

This consideration should be compared to Theorem 7.19, which shows in particular, that if a Gabor system $\mathcal{G}(g,\Lambda)$, where $g\in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and $\Lambda\subseteq\mathbb{R}^2$, forms an orthonormal basis for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, it has to satisfy

$$\mathcal{D}(\Lambda) = \|\hat{g}\|_2^{-2}.$$

In this situation $\|\hat{g}\|_2 = 1$ immediately implies $\mathcal{D}(\Lambda) = 1$ in contrast to the wavelet systems, for which the norm of $\hat{\psi}$ needed for the computation of the uniform density is equipped with a different measure.

5.5 Sufficient Density Conditions for Wavelet Frames

Up to now density conditions have only served as necessary conditions. In this section we now show that density conditions can in fact be used to characterize the existence of weighted wavelet frames. To prove this result we need the following technical lemma.

Lemma 5.10. Let $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ and $w: S \to \mathbb{R}^+$, and let f be in $L^1(\mathbb{R}) \cap C(\mathbb{R})$ with $f \geq 0$ and $f(x) \leq a|x|^{\alpha}$ as $|x| \to 0$ for some $a, \alpha > 0$. If $\mathcal{D}^+(S, w) < \infty$, then for each $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\gamma \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$\sum_{s \in S} w(s) f(sx) \chi_{[0,\gamma)}(s|x|) < \varepsilon \quad \textit{for all } x \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Proof. Fix $\varepsilon > 0$, and let $\nu \in (0,1)$ be chosen so that $f(x) \leq a|x|^{\alpha}$ for all $|x| \leq \nu$. Since $\mathcal{D}^+(S,w) < \infty$, Proposition 4.15 shows the existence of some $N < \infty$ such that $\#_w(S \cap x[\nu,1)) \leq N$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^+$. Then, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\sum_{s \in S} w(s) f(sx) \chi_{[0,\nu^n)}(s|x|) \le a \sum_{s \in S \cap [0,|x|^{-1}\nu^n)} w(s) (s|x|)^{\alpha}$$

$$= a|x|^{\alpha} \sum_{j=n}^{\infty} \sum_{s \in S \cap |x|^{-1}[\nu^{j+1},\nu^j)} w(s) s^{\alpha}$$

$$\le a|x|^{\alpha} \sum_{j=n}^{\infty} N(|x|^{-1}\nu^j)^{\alpha}$$

$$= aN \sum_{j=n}^{\infty} (\nu^{\alpha})^j,$$

which is finite. Thus we can choose $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\sum_{s \in S} w(s) f(sx) \chi_{[0,\nu^{n_0})}(s|x|) < \varepsilon.$$

Setting $\gamma = \nu^{n_0}$ settles the claim.

The next result shows that the existence of frames of band-limited admissible wavelets with a certain decay condition can be characterized by using a condition on the density of the sequences of scale indices. This result is inspired by a result by Yang and Zhou [127, Cor. 1] for nonweighted singly generated wavelet systems, in which our density condition (ii) was substituted by a Littlewood–Paley type condition on the sequence of scale indices.

Theorem 5.11. Let $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell : S_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given. Further, let $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^1(\mathbb{R}) \cap L^2_A(\mathbb{R})$ with $|\hat{\psi}_\ell(\xi)| \le a|\xi|^\alpha$ as $|\xi| \to 0$ for some $a, \alpha > 0$, where $\xi = 0$ is an isolated zero of $\hat{\psi}_\ell$, and $|\hat{\psi}_\ell(\xi)| = 0$ for any $|\xi| \ge \Omega$ for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) There exists $T \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ such that $\mathcal{E}(T,r)$ is a frame for $L^2[-r,r]$, where $r > 2\Omega$, and $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, S_\ell \times T, (w_\ell, 1))$ is a frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$.
- (ii) $0 < \mathcal{D}^-(\{(S_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) \le \mathcal{D}^+(\{(S_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$.

Moreover, if (ii) holds, then $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell}, (w_{\ell}, v_{\ell}))$ is a frame for $L^{2}(\mathbb{R})$ for any $T_{\ell} \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ equipped with weight functions $v_{\ell} : T_{\ell} \to \mathbb{R}^{+}$ satisfying that $\mathcal{E}(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell}, r)$ constitutes a frame for $L^{2}[-r, r]$ for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$, where $r > 2\Omega$.

Proof. The implication (i) \Rightarrow (ii) follows immediately from Theorem 5.6.

Now suppose (ii) holds. First we show that (i) and the moreover-part follow immediately from the existence of $0 < A \le B < \infty$ such that

$$A \le \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^{2} \le B \quad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (5.15)

For this, let T_1, \ldots, T_L be sequences in \mathbb{R} equipped with weight functions $v_{\ell}: T_{\ell} \to \mathbb{R}^+$ satisfying that $\mathcal{E}(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell}, r)$ constitutes a frame for $L^2[-r, r]$ for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$, where $r > 2\Omega$. We further suppose that (5.15) holds. Let $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$. By Lemma 2.2, we have

$$\begin{split} \langle f, \sigma(s,t) \psi_{\ell} \rangle &= W_{\psi_{\ell}} f(s,t) \\ &= \sqrt{s} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{f}(\xi) \overline{\hat{\psi}(s\xi)} e^{2\pi i s t \xi} \, d\xi \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{s}} \int_{-\Omega}^{\Omega} \hat{f}(\frac{\xi}{s}) \overline{\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi)} e^{2\pi i t \xi} \, d\xi. \end{split}$$

Then, using the fact that $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{E}(T_{\ell}, v_{\ell}, r)$ constitutes a frame for $L^{2}[-\Omega, \Omega]$ with frame bounds say A' and B' and employing (5.15), we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} v_{\ell}(t) \left| \langle f, \sigma(s, t) \psi_{\ell} \rangle \right|^{2} \\ &= \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} v_{\ell}(t) \left| \int_{-\Omega}^{\Omega} \left[\frac{1}{\sqrt{s}} \hat{f}(\frac{\xi}{s}) \overline{\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi)} \right] e^{2\pi i t \xi} d\xi \right|^{2} \\ &\leq B' \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) \int_{-\Omega}^{\Omega} \left| \frac{1}{\sqrt{s}} \hat{f}(\frac{\xi}{s}) \hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi) \right|^{2} d\xi \\ &= B' \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\hat{f}(\xi)|^{2} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^{2} d\xi \\ &\leq B' B \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\hat{f}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi \\ &= B' B \|f\|_{2}^{2}. \end{split}$$

This proves that $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell}, (w_{\ell}, v_{\ell}))$ is a Bessel sequence for $L^{2}(\mathbb{R})$. In a similar way we can also show that it possesses a lower frame bound.

Hence it suffices to prove that (ii) implies (5.15). First we show that $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(S_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$ implies the existence of some $B < \infty$ such that the second inequality in (5.15) is satisfied. For this, fix $\ell \in \{1, \ldots, L\}$. Since $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(S_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$, in particular, $\mathcal{D}^+(S_\ell, w_\ell) < \infty$ by Proposition 4.17. Employing Lemma 5.10 shows that for some $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $0 < \gamma < 1$ such that

$$\sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^{2} \chi_{[0,\gamma)}(s|\xi|) < \varepsilon \quad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$

We now focus on the sum $\sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^2 \chi_{[\gamma,\Omega)}(s|\xi|)$. Our hypotheses imply that there exists M > 0 satisfying $|\xi| |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi)| \leq M$ for each $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$. By Proposition 4.15, we have $\#_{w_{\ell}}(S_{\ell} \cap \xi[\gamma,\Omega)) \leq N < \infty$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^+$. Hence, for each $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$, we get

$$\begin{split} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^{2} \chi_{[\gamma,\Omega)}(s|\xi|) &\leq \sum_{s \in S_{\ell} \cap |\xi|^{-1}[\gamma,\Omega)} w_{\ell}(s) M^{2} s^{-2} |\xi|^{-2} \\ &\leq M^{2} (|\xi|^{-1} \gamma)^{-2} N |\xi|^{-2} \\ &= M^{2} N \gamma^{-2}. \end{split}$$

This settles the claim.

Secondly, we employ the hypothesis $\mathcal{D}^-(\{(S_\ell, w_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) > 0$. We claim that this implies that there exists A > 0 such that the first inequality in (5.15) is satisfied. First, by Proposition 4.16, there exists some interval $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ of positive finite measure and some positive constant N satisfying

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \#_{w_{\ell}}(S_{\ell} \cap \xi I) > N \quad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{+}.$$
 (5.16)

Since $\xi = 0$ is an isolated zero of $\hat{\psi}_{\ell}$ for all $\ell = 1, ..., L$, we can choose $\varepsilon > 0$ with $\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi) \neq 0$ for each $\xi \in (0, \varepsilon)$, $\ell = 1, ..., L$. Let $\xi_0 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ be chosen so that $\xi_0 I \subseteq (0, \varepsilon)$. Since $\hat{\psi}_{\ell}$ is continuous, we have $|\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(\xi)| \geq \delta$ on $\xi_0 I$ for some $\delta > 0$ for all $\ell = 1, ..., L$. Now fix some $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^+$. Then (5.16) implies the existence of some $s_0 \in S_{\ell}$ for some $\ell \in \{1, ..., L\}$ such that $s_0 \in \xi^{-1} \xi_0 I$. This immediately yields

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^{2} \ge \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell} \cap \xi^{-1} \xi_{0} I} w_{\ell}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^{2} \ge N \delta^{2},$$

thereby proving our claim.

Now the implication (ii) \Rightarrow (i) and the moreover-part follow from our considerations in the first part of this proof.

Remark 5.12. We point out that a related result on sufficient conditions for irregular (weighted) wavelet frames was derived by Gröchenig in [62]. To emphasize the difference to our Theorem 5.11, we observe that the focus in [62, Thm. 1] is on the introduction of adaptive weights to compensate for local variations of the sequence of time-scale indices, thereby deriving a weighted wavelet frame, and does not employ the notion of density. The two results are distinct and complementary.

We briefly remark on whether it is possible to weaken the hypotheses of the previous proposition and on a possible improvement. Remark 5.13. (a) If ξ is not an isolated zero of $\hat{\psi}$, it is easy to check that the implication (ii) \Rightarrow (i) does not automatically hold. For instance, if we let $S = \{2^j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}$, for which $\mathcal{D}^-(S) = \mathcal{D}^+(S) = \frac{1}{\ln 2}$, and define $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ by $\hat{\psi} = \chi_{[1,\frac{3}{2})}$, then $\bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j [1,\frac{3}{2})$ does not cover \mathbb{R} . Hence $\mathcal{W}(\psi, S \times T)$ is not even complete for any $T \subseteq \mathbb{R}$.

(b) One might further ask, whether it is possible to include the values of the frame bounds of the frame from (i) in condition (ii). However, it is not too difficult to see that this is not possible. One reason is that in fact there exists an abundance of possibilities for choosing $\mathcal{E}(T,r)$ with different frame bounds as indicated by the moreover-part of Theorem 5.11, thus changing the frame bounds of $\mathcal{W}(\psi, S \times T, (w, 1))$ while S and w remain the same.

Now the question arises, whether it is also sufficient to consider density conditions concerning the existence of Parseval frames, in particular, whether for some sequences of translations and analyzing wavelets satisfying mild regularity conditions the associated wavelet frame is a Parseval frame provided the (weighted) sequence of scale indices possesses a positive finite uniform density. However, the following result shows that this would be too much to hope for. One reason for this is that Parseval frames are very sensitive to perturbations of the indices, but density is not (see Lemma 4.14).

Proposition 5.14. For any $\psi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}) \cap L^2_A(\mathbb{R})$ with $|\hat{\psi}(\xi)| \leq a|\xi|^{\alpha}$ as $|\xi| \to 0$ for some $a, \alpha > 0$, where $\xi = 0$ is an isolated zero of $\hat{\psi}$, and $|\hat{\psi}(\xi)| = 0$ for any $|\xi| \geq \Omega$, and for any $T \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ satisfying that $\mathcal{E}(T,r)$ is a frame for $L^2[-r,r]$, where $r > 2\Omega$, there exists $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with positive finite uniform density such that $\mathcal{W}(\psi, S \times T)$ does not form a Parseval frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$.

Proof. Let $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$ and $T \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be chosen such that they satisfy the hypotheses of the proposition. Further let Ω be chosen minimal with $|\hat{\psi}(\xi)| = 0$ for any $|\xi| \geq \Omega$. Let C and D denote the frame bounds of $\mathcal{E}(T,r)$ in $L^2[-r,r]$. By the hypotheses, $\hat{\psi}$ is continuous, hence there exists an interval $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ and $\delta > 0$ such that $|\hat{\psi}(\xi)| \geq \delta$ for all $\xi \in I$. Without loss of generality we can assume that $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ and that there exists $j_0 \geq 2$ so that I is a proper subset of $(\frac{\Omega}{2^{j_0-1}}, \frac{\Omega}{2^{j_0-2}}]$. Let $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{D}$. Setting $m := \lceil (\frac{1}{C} - \frac{1}{D} + \varepsilon)/\delta^2 \rceil + 1$, we can choose m disjoint elements a_k , $1 \leq k \leq m$ such that there exists $U \subseteq (\frac{\Omega}{2^{j_0+1}}, \frac{\Omega}{2^{j_0}})$ of positive measure satisfying that $a_k U \subseteq I$ for all $k = 1, \ldots, m$. In particular, this implies that $a_k > 2$ for $k = 1, \ldots, m$. Now define $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ by $S := \{2^j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \cup \{a_k\}_{k=1}^m$. An easy computation shows that S has a positive finite uniform density equal to $\frac{1}{\ln 2}$. By Proposition 5.3, it suffices to show that provided

$$\sum_{s \in S} |\hat{\psi}(s\xi)|^2 \ge \frac{1}{D} \quad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathbb{R}^+,$$

there exists a set $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ of positive measure with

$$\sum_{s \in S} |\hat{\psi}(s\xi)|^2 > \frac{1}{C} \quad \text{for all } \xi \in U.$$

Lemma 5.10 proves that there exists some $0 < \gamma < 1$ with

$$\sum_{s \in S} |\hat{\psi}(s\xi)|^2 \chi_{[0,\gamma)}(s\xi) < \varepsilon \quad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathbb{R}^+.$$

Noting that we can assume that $\gamma = 2^{-j_1}\Omega$ for some $j_1 \in \mathbb{Z}$ by choosing γ slightly smaller if necessary, we obtain that, for all $\xi \in (\frac{\Omega}{2}, \Omega]$,

$$\frac{1}{D} \le \sum_{s \in S} |\hat{\psi}(s\xi)|^2 = \sum_{j = -\infty}^{0} |\hat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2 \le \sum_{j = -j_1}^{0} |\hat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2 + \varepsilon.$$
 (5.17)

Now let $\xi \in U$. Using (5.17), we compute

$$\sum_{s \in S} |\hat{\psi}(s\xi)|^2 = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{j_0} |\hat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2 + \sum_{k=1}^m |\hat{\psi}(a_k \xi)|^2$$

$$\geq \sum_{j=j_0-j_1}^{j_0} |\hat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2 + \sum_{k=1}^m |\hat{\psi}(a_k \xi)|^2$$

$$= \sum_{j=-j_1}^0 |\hat{\psi}(2^j 2^{j_0} \xi)|^2 + \sum_{k=1}^m |\hat{\psi}(a_k \xi)|^2$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{D} - \varepsilon + m\delta^2 > \frac{1}{C}.$$

Hence the proposition is proved.

5.6 Existence of Special Weight Functions

In this section we examine whether there always exist weight functions such that Theorem 5.11(ii) is satisfied, i.e., whether for $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ we can always construct weight functions $w_\ell : S_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ such that

$$0 < \mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \le \mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(S_{\ell}, w_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) < \infty.$$

For simplicity, we will only consider the case L=1.

The following result shows that for any sequence S in \mathbb{R}^+ , there always exists a weight function such that the associated upper weighted density is finite.

Proposition 5.15. Let $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$. Then there exists a weight function $w: S \to \mathbb{R}^+$ with

$$\mathcal{D}^+(S, w) < \infty$$
.

If $\mathcal{D}^-(S) > 0$, then there even exists a weight function $w: S \to \mathbb{R}^+$ such that

$$\mathcal{D}^{-}(S, w) = \mathcal{D}^{+}(S, w) = 1.$$

Proof. Let $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ be arbitrary and fix some h > 0. Then we define the weight function $w: S \to \mathbb{R}^+$ in the following way. For each $s \in S$, we set

$$w(s) = \begin{cases} \frac{h}{\#(S \cap e^{kh}[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}])} : \text{if } s \in e^{kh}[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}], k \in \mathbb{Z}, \\ & \text{and } \#(S \cap e^{kh}[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}}]) \neq \emptyset, \\ 0 & : \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Notice that w is constructed in such a way that either $\#_w(S \cap e^{kh}[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})) = h$ or $\#_w(S \cap e^{kh}[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})) = 0$ for any $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. Since $\{e^{kh}[e^{-\frac{h}{2}}, e^{\frac{h}{2}})\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$ is a partition of \mathbb{R}^+ , it is easy to see that $\mathcal{D}^+(S, w) \leq 1$.

Next assume that S satisfies $\mathcal{D}^-(S)>0$. Then, by Proposition 4.16, there exists h>0 such that $\inf_{x\in\mathbb{R}^+}\#(S\cap x[e^{-\frac{h}{2}},e^{\frac{h}{2}}))>0$, i.e., each interval $x[e^{-\frac{h}{2}},e^{\frac{h}{2}})$ contains at least one point from S. Defining w as above by choosing this particular h settles the claim.

If $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ is chosen such that $\mathcal{D}^-(S) = 0$, we cannot construct a weight function to achieve a positive lower weighted density.

Proposition 5.16. Let $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with $\mathcal{D}^-(S) = 0$. Then for all weight functions $w: S \to \mathbb{R}^+$ we have $\mathcal{D}^-(S, w) = 0$.

Proof. Fix an interval $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with $0 < \mu_{\mathbb{R}^+}(I) < \infty$. By Proposition 4.16, we have

$$\inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^+} \#(S \cap xI) = 0.$$

Hence there exists $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ with $S \cap x_0 I = \emptyset$. Let $w : S \to \mathbb{R}^+$ be arbitrary. Then we still have $\#_w(S \cap x_0 I) = 0$. Applying Proposition 4.16 again shows $\mathcal{D}^-(S, w) = 0$.

5.7 Co-Affine Systems

In the following we will study wavelet systems which are constructed by interchanging the translation and dilation operator. Recall that we already studied a special case of co-affine systems arising from classical affine systems in Section 4.3. Here we consider more general co-affine systems. Let $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with weight functions $w_\ell: S_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell=1,\ldots,L$ be given. Further, let $T_1,\ldots,T_L\subseteq\mathbb{R}$ and $\psi_1,\ldots,\psi_L\in L^2(\mathbb{R})$. In this section we consider co-affine systems of the form

$$\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \{ w_{\ell}(s)^{\frac{1}{2}} T_{t} D_{s} \psi_{\ell} : (s,t) \in S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell} \}
= \bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \{ w_{\ell}(s)^{\frac{1}{2}} D_{s} T_{\frac{t}{s}} \psi_{\ell} : (s,t) \in S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell} \}
= \bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, \{ (s, \frac{t}{s}) : (s,t) \in S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell} \}, (w_{\ell}, 1)).$$

We first require the following lemma.

Lemma 5.17. Let $T \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be discrete. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) $T + \mathbb{Z} = T$.
- (ii) There exist pairwise disjoint $t_i \in [0,1), i = 1, ..., N$, with $T = \bigcup_{i=1}^{N} (t_i + \mathbb{Z})$.

Proof. First assume that (i) holds. Then for each $t \in T$ we have $t + \mathbb{Z} \subseteq T$. Thus we obtain

$$T = \bigcup_{t \in T} (t + \mathbb{Z}) = \bigcup_{t \in T} ((t + \mathbb{Z}) \cap [0, 1)) + \mathbb{Z}.$$

In order for T to be discrete, the set $(t+\mathbb{Z})\cap[0,1)$ must be finite. Hence there exist $t_i\in[0,1), i=1,\ldots,N$, with $(t+\mathbb{Z})\cap[0,1)=\{t_i\}_{i=1}^N$.

Conversely, suppose that (ii) holds, and let $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then

$$T + k = \bigcup_{i=1}^{N} (t_i + \mathbb{Z}) + k = \bigcup_{i=1}^{N} (t_i + k + \mathbb{Z}) = T,$$

hence (i) holds. \Box

The following result on the non-existence of co-affine frames extends the result by Gressman, Labate, Weiss, and Wilson [61, Thm. 3] to weighted wavelet systems with finitely many generators, whose Fourier transforms satisfy a mild regularity condition, and with arbitrary sequences of scale indices.

Theorem 5.18. Let $S_1, \ldots, S_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with associated weight functions $w_\ell: S_\ell \to \mathbb{R}^+$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ be given, and let $T_1, \ldots, T_L \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be such that $T_\ell + \mathbb{Z} = T_\ell$ and $0 \in T_\ell$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. Further, let $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^1(\mathbb{R}) \cap L^2_A(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$ with $|\hat{\psi}_\ell(\xi)| \leq a|\xi|^{\alpha}$ as $|\xi| \to 0$, and $|\hat{\psi}_\ell(\xi)| \leq b|\xi|^{-\beta}$ as $|\xi| \to \infty$ for some $a, b, \alpha, \beta > 0$ and for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. Then the weighted co-affine system

$$\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, \{(s, \frac{t}{s}) : (s, t) \in S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell}\}, (w_{\ell}, 1))$$

does not form a frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$.

Proof. Towards a contradiction assume that the system $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, \{(s, \frac{t}{s}) : (s, t) \in S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell}\}, (w_{\ell}, 1))$ does constitute a frame for $L^{2}(\mathbb{R})$ with frame bounds A and B. Fix some $f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R})$ and define $F : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^{+}$ by

$$F(x) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} \left| \left\langle f, \sigma(s, \frac{t+x}{s}) \psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \right|^{2}.$$

Due to Lemma 5.17, for each $x \in \mathbb{R}$, we have

$$F(x+1) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} \left| \left\langle f, \sigma(s, \frac{t+x+1}{s}) \psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \right|^{2}$$

$$= \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) \sum_{i=1}^{N_{\ell}} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \left\langle f, \sigma(s, \frac{t_{i} + (k+1) + x}{s}) \psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \right|^{2}$$

$$= F(x).$$

Thus F is 1-periodic. Fix $\ell \in \{1, ..., L\}$, $i \in \{1, ..., N_{\ell}\}$, and $s \in S_{\ell}$. Using Lemma 2.2, we compute

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{0}^{1} \left| \left\langle f, \sigma(s, \frac{t_{i} + k + x}{s}) \psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \right|^{2} dx = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{t_{i}}^{t_{i} + 1} \left| \left\langle f, \sigma(s, \frac{k + x}{s}) \psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \right|^{2} dx$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \left\langle f, \sigma(s, \frac{y}{s}) \psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \right|^{2} dy$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| W_{\psi_{\ell}} f(s, \frac{y}{s}) \right|^{2} dy$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| (\hat{f} \cdot D_{s^{-1}} \overline{\psi_{\ell}})^{\vee} (y) \right|^{2} dy$$

$$= s \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\hat{f}(\xi)|^{2} |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^{2} d\xi.$$

Hence

$$\int_0^1 F(x) \, dx = \sum_{\ell=1}^L N_\ell \sum_{s \in S_\ell} w_\ell(s) s \int_{-\infty}^\infty |\hat{f}(\xi)|^2 |\hat{\psi}_\ell(s\xi)|^2 d\xi.$$

Since $\|\sigma(1, -x)f\|_2 = \|f\|_2$ and

$$F(x) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) \sum_{t \in T_{\ell}} \left| \left\langle \sigma(1, -x) f, \sigma(s, \frac{t}{s}) \psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \right|^{2},$$

we have $A\|f\|_2^2 \leq F(x) \leq B\|f\|_2^2$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Together with the above computation and an appropriate choice for f we obtain

$$A \le \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} N_{\ell} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell}} w_{\ell}(s) s |\hat{\psi}_{\ell}(s\xi)|^{2} \le B \quad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (5.18)

Now define $v_{\ell}: S_{\ell} \to \mathbb{R}^+$ by $v_{\ell}(s) = w_{\ell}(s)s$. Towards a contradiction, we assume that there exists $\ell_0 \in \{1, \dots, L\}$ with $\mathcal{D}^+(S_{\ell_0}, v_{\ell_0}) = \infty$. Since $\hat{\psi}_{\ell_0}$ is continuous, there exists an interval $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with positive finite measure such that $|\hat{\psi}_{\ell_0}(\xi)|^2 \geq \delta > 0$ for all $\xi \in I$. Applying Proposition 4.15, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists some $\eta_n \in \mathbb{R}^+$ with $\#v_{\ell_0}(S_{\ell_0} \cap \eta_n I) \geq n$. Hence,

$$\sum_{s \in S_{\ell_0}} v_{\ell_0}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell_0}(s\eta_n^{-1})|^2 \ge \sum_{s \in S_{\ell_0} \cap \eta_n I} v_{\ell_0}(s) |\hat{\psi}_{\ell_0}(s\eta_n^{-1})|^2 \ge \delta n,$$

a contradiction to (5.18). Thus $\mathcal{D}^+(\{(S_\ell, v_\ell)\}_{\ell=1}^L) < \infty$ by Proposition 4.17. Therefore we can apply Proposition 5.4 to (5.18), which yields

$$\mathcal{D}^{-}(\{(S_{\ell}, C_{\psi_{\ell}}^{+} N_{\ell} v_{\ell})\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) \ge A > 0.$$

Thus, by Proposition 4.16, there exists an interval $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$ with positive finite measure and $\delta > 0$ such that, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^+$,

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} C_{\psi_{\ell}}^{+} N_{\ell} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell} \cap xI} v_{\ell}(s) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} C_{\psi_{\ell}}^{+} N_{\ell} \#_{v_{\ell}}(S_{\ell} \cap xI) > \delta.$$
 (5.19)

For brevity of notation we now define $\Lambda_{\ell} = \{(s, \frac{t}{s}) : (s, t) \in S_{\ell} \times T_{\ell}\}$ for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. Since $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, \Lambda_{\ell}, (w_{\ell}, 1))$ constitutes a frame for $L^{2}(\mathbb{R})$, by Theorem 4.1, it follows that $\mathcal{D}^{+}(\{(\Lambda_{\ell}, (w_{\ell}, 1))\}_{\ell=1}^{L}) < \infty$. By Proposition 3.4(i), this implies $\mathcal{D}^{+}(\Lambda_{\ell}, (w_{\ell}, 1)) < \infty$ for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. Let h > 0 be such that $I \subseteq Q_{h} \cap (\mathbb{R}^{+} \times \{0\})$. Now Proposition 3.6 implies that there exists $M < \infty$ with

$$\#_{(w_{\ell},1)}(\Lambda_{\ell} \cap Q_h(x,0)) < M$$
 for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^+$ and $\ell = 1,\ldots,L$.

Since for each $t \in T_{\ell} \setminus \{0\}$, $\frac{t}{s} \to \infty$ as $s \to 0$, and since $0 \in T_{\ell}$, there exists an $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ with $\Lambda_{\ell} \cap Q_h(x,0) = S_{\ell} \times \{0\}$ for all $0 < x < x_0$ and $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. Thus, in particular, there exists a constant C with

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} C_{\psi_{\ell}}^{+} N_{\ell} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell} \cap xI} w_{\ell}(s) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} C_{\psi_{\ell}}^{+} N_{\ell} \#_{w_{\ell}}(S_{\ell} \cap xI) < CM \quad \text{for all } 0 < x < x_{0}.$$

Setting I = [a, b], this implies

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} C_{\psi_{\ell}}^{+} N_{\ell} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell} \cap xI} v_{\ell}(s) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} C_{\psi_{\ell}}^{+} N_{\ell} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell} \cap xI} w_{\ell}(s)s$$

$$\leq xb \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} C_{\psi_{\ell}}^{+} N_{\ell} \sum_{s \in S_{\ell} \cap xI} w_{\ell}(s)$$

$$< xbCM \to 0 \quad \text{as } x \to 0,$$

86 5 Quantitative Density Conditions

a contradiction to (5.19).

We wish to mention that Proposition 4.10 does not follow as a corollary.

Homogeneous Approximation Property

The Homogeneous Approximation Property (HAP) is a key property of Gabor systems which not only leads to interesting approximation properties but also to necessary conditions for Gabor frames in terms of the Beurling density of the associated sequence of time-frequency indices. We show that, under some mild regularity assumptions, wavelet frames also satisfy an analogue of the HAP with respect to the affine group and that this leads to necessary conditions for existence in terms of the affine density. In so doing, essential differences from the Gabor case are also revealed: we see in the wavelet case how the density is strongly tied to the generator of the frame, and there is no Nyquist density.

We also obtain results on the HAP and related density conditions for wavelet systems that are Schauder bases but not Riesz bases.

The main results in this chapter generalize the results obtained in Heil and Kutyniok [75] to multiple generators.

6.1 Amalgam Spaces and the Continuous Wavelet Transform

For our purposes, we will need the following particular amalgam spaces on the affine group. For a brief review of amalgam spaces on locally compact groups, we refer to Section 2.4.

Our first goal is to derive an equivalent discrete-type norm for $W_{\mathbb{A}}(L^{\infty}, L^p)$. For this, we need the following notation. Given h > 0, define the following collection of translates of Q_h :

$$B_{jk} = B_{jk}(h) = Q_h(e^{jh}, khe^{-\frac{h}{2}}), \quad j, k \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
 (6.1)

Proposition 6.1. If $1 \le p < \infty$ and h > 0, then the following is an equivalent norm for $W_{\mathbb{A}}(L^{\infty}, L^p)$:

$$||F||_{W_{\mathbb{A}}(L^{\infty},L^{p})} = \left(\sum_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}} ||F\cdot\chi_{B_{jk}}||_{\infty}^{p}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$
 (6.2)

Proof. Define $X=\{(e^{jh},khe^{-\frac{h}{2}})\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}}$. Lemma 3.5(i) says that X is Q_h -dense, and Lemma 3.5(ii) says that X is relatively separated. Lemma 3.5(iii) implies that there exists $N<\infty$ with

$$1 \leq \sum_{m,n \in \mathbb{Z}} \chi_{Q_{2h}(e^{mh},nhe^{-\frac{h}{2}})}(x,y) \leq N \qquad \text{for all } (x,y) \in \mathbb{A}.$$

Consequently, if we set

$$\theta_{jk} = \frac{\phi((e^{jh}, khe^{-\frac{h}{2}})^{-1} \cdot)}{\sum_{m, n \in \mathbb{Z}} \phi((e^{mh}, nhe^{-\frac{h}{2}})^{-1} \cdot)},$$

where $\phi: \mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{R}$ is continuous with $0 \le \phi(x,y) \le 1$ for all $(x,y) \in \mathbb{A}$ satisfying that $\operatorname{supp}(\phi) \subseteq Q_{2h}$, and $\phi|_{Q_h} \equiv 1$, then $\{\theta_{jk}\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ is a BUPU. Therefore, Theorem 2.10 implies that the norm defined by $||F|| = \left(\sum_{j,k} ||F \cdot \theta_{jk}||_{\infty}^{p}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$ is an equivalent norm for $W_{\mathbb{A}}(L^{\infty}, L^{p})$. Finally, because of Lemma 3.5(iii), this norm is equivalent to the desired norm (6.2).

The amalgam space $W_{\mathbb{A}}(C, L^p)$ is the closed subspace of $W_{\mathbb{A}}(L^{\infty}, L^p)$ consisting of the continuous functions in $W_{\mathbb{A}}(L^{\infty}, L^p)$.

Corollary 6.2. If
$$1 \le p \le q < \infty$$
, then $W_{\mathbb{A}}(L^{\infty}, L^p) \subseteq W_{\mathbb{A}}(L^{\infty}, L^q)$.

We can now define the basic set of analyzing wavelets that we will use in the remainder of this chapter.

Definition 6.3. The space \mathcal{B}_0 consists of all functions ψ on \mathbb{R} which satisfy:

- (i) $|\psi(x)| \le C(1+|x|)^{-\alpha}$ for some C > 0 and $\alpha > 2$,
- (ii) $\psi \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$, i.e., ψ is differentiable, and ψ' is continuous and bounded, and
- (iii) $\hat{\psi}(0) = 0$.

The most important property of the class \mathcal{B}_0 is that its elements possess some time-scale concentration. This concentration is naturally measured by the amalgam space properties of the continuous wavelet transform, as given in the following theorem. The proof of this result is given in Section 6.2.

Theorem 6.4. (i) $\mathcal{B}_0 \subseteq L_A^2(\mathbb{R})$. In particular, every element of \mathcal{B}_0 is admissible

- (ii) If $f, \psi \in \mathcal{B}_0$, then $W_{\psi} f \in W_{\mathbb{A}}(C, L^1)$.
- (iii) If $\psi \in \mathcal{B}_0$, then $W_{\psi} \psi \in W_{\mathbb{A}}(C, L^1)$.

While it is possible to construct wavelet frames for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ using generators whose continuous wavelet transforms are not concentrated in time and scale, in practice such frames will have limited applicability. For example, in order that frame expansions converge in a range of function spaces rather than just L^2 , or in order that the frame coefficients encode more properties of functions than just L^2 -norm, requires analyzing wavelets with some regularity.

Note that if we let $S_A = \{ \psi \in S(\mathbb{R}) : \hat{\psi}(0) = 0 \}$ be the set of admissible Schwartz-class functions, then $S_A \subseteq \mathcal{B}_0 \subseteq L_A^2(\mathbb{R})$. Thus the basic class \mathcal{B}_0 is dense in the set of admissible wavelets, which is itself dense in $L^2(\mathbb{R})$.

In Gabor analysis, the basic space of windows that can reasonably be used as generators of Gabor frames is the Feichtinger algebra S_0 [47], which is also known as the modulation space M^1 (we refer to [63] for details on the modulation spaces; compare also Section 2.3). The natural analog of S_0 for wavelet analysis would be the space \mathcal{B} consisting of all functions ψ such that $W_{\psi}\psi \in W_{\mathbb{A}}(C, L^1)$. Our space \mathcal{B}_0 is slightly smaller, and we expect that our results should actually hold for all $\psi \in \mathcal{B}$, although we cannot yet prove this.

6.2 The Basic Class \mathcal{B}_0

In this section we will prove Theorem 6.4.

First, we require the following two results concerning decay of the CWT. The first result is similar to the result [41, Thm. 2.9.1] by Daubechies.

Theorem 6.5. Assume that

- (i) $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (1+|x|) |\psi(x)| dx < \infty$,
- (ii) $f \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$, i.e., f is differentiable and f' is continuous and bounded, and (iii) $\hat{\psi}(0) = 0$.

Then there exists C > 0 such that $|W_{\psi}f(a,b)| \leq C a^{\frac{3}{2}}$ for all $(a,b) \in \mathbb{A}$.

Proof. By the Mean-Value Theorem, we have $|f(x) - f(y)| \le ||f'||_{\infty} |x - y|$. Therefore,

$$|W_{\psi}f(a,b)| = \left| a^{-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(x) \, \overline{\psi(\frac{x}{a} - b)} \, dx - a^{-\frac{1}{2}} f(ab) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \overline{\psi(\frac{x}{a} - b)} \, dx \right|$$

$$\leq a^{-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |f(x) - f(ab)| \, |\psi(\frac{x}{a} - b)| \, dx$$

$$\leq a^{-\frac{1}{2}} \, ||f'||_{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |x - ab| \, |\psi(\frac{x - ab}{a})| \, dx$$

$$= a^{-\frac{1}{2}} \, ||f'||_{\infty} \, a^{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |x \, \psi(x)| \, dx$$

$$= C \, a^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$

90

This settles the claim.

Theorem 6.6. Assume that the functions ψ and f satisfy

$$|\psi(x)| \le C(1+|x|)^{-\alpha}$$
 and $|f(x)| \le C(1+|x|)^{-\alpha}$

for some C > 0 and $\alpha > 1$. Then there exists C' > 0 such that

$$|W_{\psi}f(a,b)| \le C' \frac{a^{\frac{1}{2}}}{1+a} \left(1 + \frac{a|b|}{1+a}\right)^{-\alpha} \quad for \ all \ (a,b) \in \mathbb{A}.$$

Proof. The wavelet transform $\widetilde{W}_{\psi}f$ used in Holschneider [83] is related to the wavelet transform of this book by the equality $\widetilde{W}_{\psi}f(a,b) = a^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\psi}f(a,\frac{b}{a})$. By [83, Thm. 11.0.2], we have

$$|\widetilde{W}_{\psi}f(a,b)| \le C' \frac{1}{1+a} \left(1 + \frac{|b|}{1+a}\right)^{-\alpha}.$$

A change of variables therefore completes the proof.

We can now prove Theorem 6.4.

Proof (of Theorem 6.4). Assume that ψ , f belong to \mathcal{B}_0 . In particular, we have that

- (i) there exists C > 0 and $\alpha > 2$ such that $|f(x)|, |\psi(x)| \leq C(1+|x|)^{-\alpha}$,
- (ii) $f, \psi \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$, and
- (iii) $\hat{f}(0) = \hat{\psi}(0) = 0$.

Since $\alpha > 2$, we have that $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R})$. Since we also have $\hat{\psi}(0) = 0$, this implies that ψ is admissible, cf. [41, p. 24].

Furthermore,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (1+|x|) |\psi(x)| dx \le C \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (1+|x|)^{1-\alpha} dx < \infty.$$
 (6.3)

Consequently, Theorem 6.5 implies that there exists $C_1 > 0$ such that

$$|W_{\psi}f(a,b)| \le C_1 a^{\frac{3}{2}}$$
 for all $(a,b) \in \mathbb{A}$. (6.4)

Additionally, by Theorem 6.6, there exists $C_2 > 0$ such that

$$|W_{\psi}f(a,b)| \le C_2 \frac{a^{\frac{1}{2}}}{1+a} \left(1 + \frac{a|b|}{1+a}\right)^{-\alpha} \quad \text{for all } (a,b) \in \mathbb{A}.$$
 (6.5)

Now set h=1, and let $B_{jk}=B_{jk}(1)=Q_1(e^j,ke^{-\frac{1}{2}})$ as in (6.1). Since $\alpha>2$, we can find γ such that $\frac{2\alpha-1}{\alpha-1}<\gamma<3$. Set $N_j=e^{-\frac{\gamma j}{2}+1}$.

$$\begin{split} S_1 &= \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| W_{\psi} f \cdot \chi_{B_{jk}} \right\|_{\infty}, \\ S_2 &= \sum_{j=-\infty}^{0} \sum_{|k| \leq N_j} \left\| W_{\psi} f \cdot \chi_{B_{jk}} \right\|_{\infty}, \\ S_3 &= \sum_{j=-\infty}^{0} \sum_{|k| > N_i} \left\| W_{\psi} f \cdot \chi_{B_{jk}} \right\|_{\infty}. \end{split}$$

We will show that $S_1, S_2, S_3 < \infty$. This implies by Proposition 6.1 that we have $W_{\psi}f \in W_{\mathbb{A}}(L^{\infty}, L^1)$, and since we already know that $W_{\psi}f$ is continuous, the proof will be complete.

Before doing this, however, let us make a generic observation. If we take a point $(a,b) \in B_{jk}$ for some $j, k \in \mathbb{Z}$, then

$$(a,b) = (e^j, ke^{-\frac{1}{2}})(x,y) = (e^j x, \frac{k}{x}e^{-\frac{1}{2}} + y)$$

for some $(x,y) \in Q_1 = [e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, e^{\frac{1}{2}}) \times [-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$. Therefore

$$e^{j-\frac{1}{2}} \le a \le e^{j+\frac{1}{2}}$$
 and $\frac{|k|}{e} - \frac{1}{2} \le |b| \le |k| + \frac{1}{2}$.

Estimate S_1 . Suppose that $(a,b) \in B_{jk}$ with $j > 0, k \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then $a \ge 1$, so

$$1 + \frac{a|b|}{1+a} \ge 1 + \frac{|b|}{2} \ge 1 + \frac{|k|}{2e} - \frac{1}{4} = \frac{2|k| + 3e}{4e}$$

Hence, we have from (6.5) that

$$|W_{\psi}f(a,b)| \le C_2 \frac{e^{\frac{j+\frac{1}{2}}{2}}}{1+e^{j-\frac{1}{2}}} \left(\frac{4e}{2|k|+3e}\right)^{\alpha} \le C_3 e^{-\frac{j}{2}} \frac{1}{(2|k|+3e)^{\alpha}}.$$

Since $\alpha > 1$, we therefore have

$$S_1 = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \|W_{\psi} f \cdot \chi_{B_{jk}}\|_{\infty} \le C_3 \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{j}{2}} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{1}{(2|k| + 3e)^{\alpha}} < \infty.$$

Estimate S_2 . Suppose that $(a,b) \in B_{jk}$ with $j \leq 0$, $|k| \leq N_j = e^{-\frac{\gamma j}{2}+1}$. By (6.4), we have

$$|W_{\psi}f(a,b)| \le C_1 a^{\frac{3}{2}} \le C_4 e^{\frac{3}{2}j}.$$

Therefore, since $N_j \geq 1$ for all $j \leq 0$, we have

$$S_{2} = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{0} \sum_{|k| \le N_{j}} \|W_{\psi} f \cdot \chi_{B_{jk}}\|_{\infty} \le \sum_{j=-\infty}^{0} \sum_{|k| \le N_{j}} C_{4} e^{\frac{3}{2}j}$$

$$\le C_{4} \sum_{j=-\infty}^{0} (2N_{j} + 1) e^{\frac{3}{2}j}$$

$$\le 3eC_{4} \sum_{j=-\infty}^{0} e^{-\frac{\gamma_{j}}{2} + \frac{3}{2}j} < \infty,$$

the finiteness following from the fact that $\gamma < 3$.

Estimate S_3 . If $(a,b) \in B_{jk}$ with $j \leq 0$, $|k| > N_j = e^{-\frac{\gamma_j}{2}+1}$, then, since $a \leq 1$,

$$1 + \frac{a|b|}{1+a} \ge \frac{a|b|}{2} \ge \frac{e^{j-\frac{1}{2}}}{2} \left(\frac{|k|}{e} - \frac{1}{2} \right) = e^j \left(\frac{2|k| - e}{4e^{\frac{3}{2}}} \right).$$

Therefore, by (6.5) and the fact that $|k| > N_j \ge e$, we have

$$|W_{\psi}f(a,b)| \le C_2 \frac{e^{\frac{j+\frac{1}{2}}{2}}}{1+0} \left(e^{-j\frac{4e^{\frac{3}{2}}}{2|k|-e}} \right)^{\alpha} = C_5 e^{j(\frac{1}{2}-\alpha)} \frac{1}{(2|k|-e)^{\alpha}}.$$

Now, since $N_j \geq e$ we have for each $j \leq 0$ that

$$\sum_{|k|>N_j} \frac{1}{(2|k|-e)^{\alpha}} \le 2 \int_{N_j}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(2x-e)^{\alpha}} dx = \frac{1}{\alpha-1} \frac{1}{(2N_j-e)^{\alpha-1}}$$

$$\le \frac{1}{\alpha-1} N_j^{1-\alpha}$$

$$= \frac{e^{1-\alpha}}{\alpha-1} e^{\frac{\gamma_j}{2}(\alpha-1)}.$$

Hence

$$S_{3} = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{0} \sum_{|k|>N_{j}} \|W_{\psi}f \cdot \chi_{B_{jk}}\|_{\infty} \leq \sum_{j=-\infty}^{0} \sum_{|k|>N_{j}} C_{5} e^{j(\frac{1}{2}-\alpha)} \frac{1}{(2|k|-e)^{\alpha}}$$

$$\leq C_{6} \sum_{j=-\infty}^{0} e^{j(\frac{1}{2}-\alpha)} e^{\frac{\gamma j}{2}(\alpha-1)}$$

$$= C_{6} \sum_{j=-\infty}^{0} e^{\frac{j}{2}(1-2\alpha+\gamma(\alpha-1))}.$$

However,

$$1 - 2\alpha + \gamma(\alpha - 1) > 1 - 2\alpha + \frac{2\alpha - 1}{\alpha - 1}(\alpha - 1) = 0,$$

so we have $S_3 < \infty$.

6.3 The Homogeneous Approximation Property for Wavelet Frames

In this section we define two versions of the HAP and prove that wavelet frames with generators from our basic class \mathcal{B}_0 satisfy the Strong HAP. Recall that if $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ is a frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ then a canonical dual frame exists in $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, but that dual frame need not itself be a wavelet frame.

In the following we will denote the distance from $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ to a closed subspace $V \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{R})$ by $\operatorname{dist}(f, V) = \inf\{\|f - v\| : v \in V\} = \|f - P_V f\|$, where P_V is the orthogonal projection of $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ onto V.

Definition 6.7. Let $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ be such that the system $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell) = \{\sigma(a, b)\psi_\ell\}_{(a, b) \in \Lambda_\ell, \ell=1, \ldots, L}$ is a wavelet frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, and let its canonical dual frame be denoted by $\{\tilde{\psi}_{a, b, \ell}\}_{(a, b) \in \Lambda_\ell, \ell=1, \ldots, L}$. For each h > 0 and $(p, q) \in \mathbb{A}$, define a space

$$W(h, p, q) = \text{span}\{\tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell} : (a, b) \in Q_h(p, q) \cap \Lambda_{\ell}, \ell = 1, \dots, L\}.$$
 (6.6)

(a) We say that the system $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, \Lambda_{\ell})$ possesses the Weak Homogeneous Approximation Property (Weak HAP) if for each $f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R})$,

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \quad \exists R = R(f, \varepsilon) > 0 \quad such \ that$$

$$\forall (p, q) \in \mathbb{A}, \quad \operatorname{dist} \Big(\sigma(p, q) f, \ W(R, p, q) \Big) < \varepsilon. \tag{6.7}$$

(b) We say that the system $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, \Lambda_{\ell})$ possesses the Strong Homogeneous Approximation Property (Strong HAP) if given any $f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R})$

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \quad \exists R = R(f, \varepsilon) > 0 \quad such \ that \quad \forall (p, q) \in \mathbb{A},$$

$$\left\| \sigma(p, q) f - \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a, b) \in Q_{R}(p, q) \cap A_{\ell}} \left\langle \sigma(p, q) f, \ \sigma(a, b) \psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \tilde{\psi}_{a, b, \ell} \right\|_{2} < \varepsilon. \tag{6.8}$$

In either case we call $R(f,\varepsilon)$ an associated radius function.

Remark 6.8. (a) By Theorem 4.1, we have $\mathcal{D}^+(\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \Lambda_\ell) < \infty$, and hence, by Proposition 3.4(i), it follows that $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda_\ell) < \infty$ for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. Hence there are only finitely many points of Λ_ℓ in each box $Q_h(p,q)$, and hence W(h,p,q) is finite-dimensional.

- (b) Since it is a linear combination of elements in W(R,p,q), it is obvious that the function $\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b) \in Q_R(p,q) \cap \Lambda_{\ell}} \langle \sigma(p,q)f, \sigma(a,b)\psi_{\ell} \rangle \tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell}$ is one element of the space W(R,p,q), so the Strong HAP implies the Weak HAP.
- (c) The terminology for Weak and Strong HAP used in the preceding definition is analogous to that used in Balan, Casazza, Heil, and Z. Landau [6],

but differs from that used in Christensen, Deng, and Heil [22]. Specifically, the definition of "Strong HAP" in [22] was equivalent to the definition of "Weak HAP" in [22], and both of those are consistent with the definition of the Weak HAP used in this chapter.

First we require the following technical result.

Lemma 6.9. Let $\delta > 0$ and R' > 1 be given, and define

$$R = R'e^{\delta} + \delta e^{\delta} + \delta e^{2\delta}.$$

Then for every $(p,q) \in \mathbb{A}$ we have

$$Q_{\delta}(p,q) \setminus Q_R \neq \emptyset \implies Q_{\delta}(p,q) \cap Q_{R'} = \emptyset.$$

Proof. Suppose that $(p,q) \in \mathbb{A}$ and there exists $(a,b) \in Q_{\delta}(p,q) \setminus Q_R$. We must show that if $(c,d) \in Q_{\delta}$ then

$$(pc, \frac{q}{c} + d) = (p, q)(c, d) \notin Q_{R'}.$$

We proceed through cases, based on the facts that

$$(a,b) \notin Q_R = [e^{-\frac{R}{2}}, e^{\frac{R}{2}}) \times [-\frac{R}{2}, \frac{R}{2}), (6.9)$$

$$(\frac{a}{p}, -\frac{pq}{a} + b) = (p, q)^{-1}(a, b) \in Q_{\delta} = [e^{-\frac{\delta}{2}}, e^{\frac{\delta}{2}}) \times [-\frac{\delta}{2}, \frac{\delta}{2}),$$
 (6.10)

$$(c,d) \qquad \in Q_{\delta} = \left[e^{-\frac{\delta}{2}}, e^{\frac{\delta}{2}}\right) \times \left[-\frac{\delta}{2}, \frac{\delta}{2}\right). \tag{6.11}$$

Suppose that $a \ge e^{\frac{R}{2}}$. Then, using (6.9)–(6.11),

$$pc = \frac{p}{a} \, a \, c \ge e^{-\frac{\delta}{2}} \, e^{\frac{R}{2}} \, e^{-\frac{\delta}{2}} = e^{\frac{R}{2} - \delta} \ge e^{\frac{R'}{2}},$$

the last inequality following from the fact that $R = R'e^{\delta} + \delta e^{\delta} + \delta e^{2\delta} \ge R' + \delta + \delta$. Similarly, if $a < e^{-\frac{R}{2}}$ then $pc < e^{-\frac{R'}{2}}$. In either case we conclude that $(p,q)(c,d) \notin Q_{R'}$.

Now consider the case $b \geq \frac{R}{2}$. We have

$$\frac{q}{c} + d = -\frac{a}{p} \frac{1}{c} \left(-\frac{pq}{a} + b \right) + b \frac{a}{p} \frac{1}{c} + d \geq -e^{\frac{\delta}{2}} e^{\frac{\delta}{2}} \frac{\delta}{2} + \frac{R}{2} e^{-\frac{\delta}{2}} e^{-\frac{\delta}{2}} - \frac{\delta}{2} = \frac{R'}{2}.$$

Similarly, if $b<-\frac{R}{2}$ then $\frac{q}{c}+d<-\frac{R'}{2}$. In either case we conclude that $(p,q)(c,d)\notin Q_{R'}$.

The following theorem now shows that provided the analyzing wavelets satisfy a mild regularity condition and the associated wavelet system forms a frame, then this system automatically fulfills the strong HAP.

Theorem 6.10. Let $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in \mathcal{B}_0$ and $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ be such that $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ is a frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$. Then $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ satisfies the Strong HAP.

Proof. Let A, B be frame bounds for $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, \Lambda_{\ell})$. In this case $\frac{1}{B}$, $\frac{1}{A}$ are frame bounds for the canonical dual frame $\{\tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell}\}_{(a,b)\in\Lambda_{\ell},\ell=1,\ldots,L}$.

First we will show that the conditions of the Strong HAP, i.e., equation (6.8), are satisfied for functions in \mathcal{B}_0 , and then extend by density to all of $L^2(\mathbb{R})$. Choose $g \in \mathcal{B}_0$ and fix $\varepsilon > 0$. Choose any $\delta > 0$. By Theorem 4.1, we have $\mathcal{D}^+(\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \Lambda_\ell) < \infty$, and hence, by Proposition 3.4(i), $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda_\ell) < \infty$ for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. This implies that

$$M = \max_{\ell=1,\dots,L} \sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{A}} \#(\Lambda_{\ell} \cap Q_{\delta}(x,y)) < \infty.$$

Then for any $\ell \in \{1, \dots, L\}$ and $(p, q) \in \mathbb{A}$ we also have

$$\sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{A}} \#((p,q)^{-1} \cdot \Lambda_{\ell} \cap Q_{\delta}(x,y)) = \sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{A}} \#(\Lambda_{\ell} \cap Q_{\delta}((p,q) \cdot (x,y))) \le M < \infty.$$

Since $g, \psi_{\ell} \in \mathcal{B}_0$, it follows from Theorem 6.4 that $W_{\psi_{\ell}}g \in W_{\mathbb{A}}(C, L^1) \subseteq W_{\mathbb{A}}(C, L^2)$ for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$. By Lemma 3.5, the sets $B_{jk} = B_{jk}(\delta)$ defined by (6.1) cover \mathbb{A} , with no element of this family intersecting more than $3(2e^{\delta} + 1)$ of the others. Considering the discrete-type norm for $W_{\mathbb{A}}(C, L^2)$ given in (6.2), we conclude that if R' is large enough and we set

$$J = \{ (j,k) \in \mathbb{Z}^2 : B_{jk} \cap Q_{R'} = \emptyset \}, \tag{6.12}$$

then

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(j,k)\in J} \left\| W_{\psi_{\ell}} g \cdot \chi_{B_{jk}} \right\|_{\infty}^{2} < \frac{A\varepsilon^{2}}{M}. \tag{6.13}$$

Now set $R = R(g, \varepsilon) = R'e^{\delta} + \delta e^{\delta} + \delta e^{2\delta}$ and consider any point $(p, q) \in \mathbb{A}$. The function $\sigma(p, q)g$ has the frame expansion

$$\sigma(p,q)g = \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b) \in \Lambda_{\ell}} \langle \sigma(p,q)g, \, \sigma(a,b)\psi_{\ell} \rangle \, \tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell}.$$

By applying equation (2.2) we have

$$\left\| \sigma(p,q)g - \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b) \in Q_{R}(p,q) \cap \Lambda_{\ell}} \left\langle \sigma(p,q)g, \, \sigma(a,b)\psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell} \right\|_{2}^{2}$$

$$= \left\| \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b) \in \Lambda_{\ell} \setminus Q_{R}(p,q)} \left\langle \sigma(p,q)g, \, \sigma(a,b)\psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell} \right\|_{2}^{2}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{A} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b) \in \Lambda_{\ell} \setminus Q_{R}(p,q)} \left| \left\langle g, \, \sigma((p,q)^{-1}(a,b))\psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \right|^{2}$$

$$= \frac{1}{A} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b) \in \Lambda_{\ell} \backslash Q_{R}(p,q)} \left| W_{\psi_{\ell}} g((p,q)^{-1}(a,b)) \right|^{2}$$

$$= \frac{1}{A} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(c,d) \in (p,q)^{-1} \cdot \Lambda_{\ell} \backslash Q_{R}} \left| W_{\psi_{\ell}} g(c,d) \right|^{2}.$$
(6.14)

Now, each point $(c,d) \in (p,q)^{-1} \cdot \Lambda_{\ell} \setminus Q_R$ must lie in some set B_{jk} , and furthermore by Lemma 6.9 can only do so when $B_{jk} \cap Q_{R'} = \emptyset$, i.e., when $(j,k) \in J$. Moreover, each set B_{jk} can contain at most M elements of $(p,q)^{-1} \cdot \Lambda_{\ell}$. Hence, using (6.13), we can continue (6.14) as follows:

$$\frac{1}{A} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(c,d) \in (p,q)^{-1} \Lambda_{\ell} \setminus Q_{R}} \left| W_{\psi_{\ell}} g(c,d) \right|^{2} \leq \frac{M}{A} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(j,k) \in J} \left\| W_{\psi_{\ell}} g \cdot \chi_{B_{jk}} \right\|_{\infty}^{2} < \varepsilon^{2}.$$

Thus (6.8) is satisfied for the function g.

Now suppose that f is any function in $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, and choose any $\varepsilon > 0$. Since \mathcal{B}_0 is dense in $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, there exists $g \in \mathcal{B}_0$ such that

$$||f - g||_2 < \frac{\varepsilon A^{\frac{1}{2}}}{3B^{\frac{1}{2}}}.$$

Set $R(f,\varepsilon) = R(g,\frac{\varepsilon}{3})$, and denote this quantity by R. Then for any $(p,q) \in \mathbb{A}$, we have

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \sigma(p,q)f - \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b) \in Q_{R}(p,q) \cap \Lambda_{\ell}} \left\langle \sigma(p,q)f, \, \sigma(a,b)\psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell} \right\|_{2} \\ & \leq \left\| \sigma(p,q)f - \sigma(p,q)g \right\|_{2} \\ & + \left\| \sigma(p,q)g - \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b) \in Q_{R}(p,q) \cap \Lambda_{\ell}} \left\langle \sigma(p,q)g, \, \sigma(a,b)\psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell} \right\|_{2} \\ & + \left\| \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b) \in Q_{R}(p,q) \cap \Lambda_{\ell}} \left\langle \sigma(p,q)g - \sigma(p,q)f, \, \sigma(a,b)\psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell} \right\|_{2} \\ & \leq \frac{\varepsilon A^{\frac{1}{2}}}{3B^{\frac{1}{2}}} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \left(\frac{1}{A} \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b) \in Q_{R}(p,q) \cap \Lambda_{\ell}} \left| \left\langle \sigma(p,q)g - \sigma(p,q)f, \, \sigma(a,b)\psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \right|^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ & \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \left(\frac{B}{A} \left\| \sigma(p,q)g - \sigma(p,q)f \right\|_{2}^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} < \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

In the above calculation, the second inequality uses the fact that g satisfies the Strong HAP and that $\{\tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell}\}_{(a,b)\in\Lambda_{\ell},\ell=1,\dots,L}$ has an upper frame bound of $\frac{1}{A}$. The third inequality follows from the fact that $\{\sigma(a,b)\psi_{\ell}\}_{(a,b)\in\Lambda_{\ell},\ell=1,\dots,L}$ has an upper frame bound of B. Thus (6.8) is satisfied for the function f, so $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, \Lambda_{\ell})$ satisfies the Strong HAP.

6.4 The Comparison Theorem for Wavelet Frames

We will see that wavelet frames satisfying the Weak HAP must fulfill certain density conditions with respect to other wavelet Riesz bases. In particular, by Theorem 6.10, these results apply to all wavelet frames $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, \Lambda_{\ell})$ with generators $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in \mathcal{B}_0$.

Note that in the following result, the reference Riesz basis $\mathcal{W}(\phi, \Delta)$ is not required to satisfy the HAP, so any Riesz basis can be used, including the classical affine orthonormal bases. However, there is a very important difference between this result and the analogous Comparison Theorem for Gabor systems [22, Thm. 3.6], namely that the density estimate depends on the value of the radius function associated to the frame $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, \Lambda_{\ell})$, whereas in the Gabor case it is independent of this value.

In our proof we will employ the double-projection technique from Ramanathan and Steger [107].

Theorem 6.11 (Comparison Theorem). Assume that

- (i) $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ are such that $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ is a frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ that satisfies the Weak HAP, and
- (ii) $\phi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and $\Delta \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ are such that $\mathcal{W}(\phi, \Delta)$ is a Riesz basis for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$.

Let $\{\tilde{\phi}_{a,b}\}_{(a,b)\in\Delta}$ denote the canonical dual frame of $W(\phi,\Delta)$, and set

$$C = \sup_{(a,b)\in\Delta} \|\tilde{\phi}_{a,b}\|_2. \tag{6.15}$$

Then for each $\varepsilon > 0$, by setting $\Lambda = \bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \Lambda_{\ell}$, we have

$$\frac{1 - C\varepsilon}{e^{R(\phi, \varepsilon)}} \mathcal{D}^{-}(\Delta) \leq \mathcal{D}^{-}(\Lambda) \quad and \quad \frac{1 - C\varepsilon}{e^{R(\phi, \varepsilon)}} \mathcal{D}^{+}(\Delta) \leq \mathcal{D}^{+}(\Lambda).$$

Proof. Note that the elements of any frame are uniformly bounded in norm, so the value C defined in (6.15) is indeed finite. Let $\{\psi_{a,b,\ell}\}_{(a,b)\in\Lambda_{\ell},\ell=1,\ldots,L}$ denote the canonical dual frame of $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, \Lambda_{\ell})$. For each h > 0 and $(p, q) \in \mathbb{A}$, define

$$W(h, p, q) = \operatorname{span} \{ \tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell} : (a, b) \in Q_h(p, q) \cap \Lambda_{\ell}, \ell = 1, \dots, L \},$$
$$V(h, p, q) = \operatorname{span} \{ \sigma(a, b)\phi : (a, b) \in Q_h(p, q) \cap \Delta \}.$$

These spaces are finite-dimensional.

Fix any $\varepsilon > 0$, and let $R = R(\phi, \varepsilon)$ be the value such that (6.7) holds for the function $f = \phi$. Let $(p,q) \in \mathbb{A}$, h > 0, $\ell \in \{1,\ldots,L\}$, and $(a,b) \in Q_h(p,q)$ be given. If $(x,y) \in Q_R(a,b) \cap \Lambda_\ell$, then since $Q_h \cdot Q_R \subseteq Q_{e^{\frac{R}{2}}h+R}$, we have

$$(x,y) \in Q_R(a,b) \subseteq (p,q) \cdot Q_h \cdot Q_R \subseteq Q_{e^{\frac{R}{2}}h+R}(p,q).$$

Thus $(x,y) \in Q_{e^{\frac{R}{2}}h+R}(p,q) \cap \Lambda_{\ell}$, which in turn implies

$$W(R, a, b) \subseteq W(e^{\frac{R}{2}}h + R, p, q).$$

Combining this with the definition of the Weak HAP, we see that

$$\operatorname{dist}\left(\sigma(a,b)\phi,\ W(e^{\frac{R}{2}}h+R,p,q)\right) \leq \operatorname{dist}\left(\sigma(a,b)\phi,\ W(R,a,b)\right) < \varepsilon, \quad (6.16)$$

and this is valid for all $(p,q) \in \mathbb{A}$, h > 0, and $(a,b) \in Q_h(p,q)$.

Now let h > 0 and $(p,q) \in \mathbb{A}$ be fixed. Denote the orthogonal projections of $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ onto V(h,p,q) and $W(e^{\frac{R}{2}}h+R,p,q)$ by P_V and P_W , respectively. Additionally, define the map $T: V(h,p,q) \to V(h,p,q)$ by $T=P_VP_W$. Since the domain of T is V(h,p,q), we have $T=P_VP_WP_V$, and hence T is self-adjoint.

By definition, $\{\sigma(a,b)\phi: (a,b) \in Q_h(p,q) \cap \Delta\}$ is a basis for V(h,p,q). Although the elements $\tilde{\phi}_{a,b}$ corresponding to the same indices need not lie in V(h,p,q), their orthogonal projections are in that space, and we have for (a,b) and (c,d) in $Q_h(p,q) \cap \Delta$ that

$$\langle \sigma(a,b)\phi, P_V(\tilde{\phi}_{c,d}) \rangle = \langle P_V(\sigma(a,b)\phi), \tilde{\phi}_{c,d} \rangle$$

$$= \langle \sigma(a,b)\phi, \tilde{\phi}_{c,d} \rangle$$

$$= \delta_{a,c} \delta_{b,d}. \tag{6.17}$$

Since V(h,p,q) is finite-dimensional, this implies that $\{P_V(\tilde{\phi}_{a,b}):(a,b)\in Q_h(p,q)\cap\Delta\}$ is the dual basis to $\{\sigma(a,b)\phi:(a,b)\in Q_h(p,q)\cap\Delta\}$ in V(h,p,q). Consequently, the trace of T is

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{tr}(T) &= \sum_{(a,b) \in Q_h(p,q) \cap \Delta} \left\langle T(\sigma(a,b)\phi), \, P_V(\tilde{\phi}_{a,b}) \right\rangle \\ &= \sum_{(a,b) \in Q_h(p,q) \cap \Delta} \left\langle P_V T(\sigma(a,b)\phi), \, \tilde{\phi}_{a,b} \right\rangle \\ &= \sum_{(a,b) \in Q_h(p,q) \cap \Delta} \left\langle T(\sigma(a,b)\phi), \, \tilde{\phi}_{a,b} \right\rangle. \end{split}$$

Now, for $(a,b) \in Q_h(p,q) \cap \Delta$, we have

$$\begin{aligned}
& \left\langle T(\sigma(a,b)\phi), \, \tilde{\phi}_{a,b} \right\rangle \\
&= \left\langle P_V P_W(\sigma(a,b)\phi), \, \tilde{\phi}_{a,b} \right\rangle \\
&= \left\langle P_W(\sigma(a,b)\phi), \, P_V(\tilde{\phi}_{a,b}) \right\rangle \\
&= \left\langle \sigma(a,b)\phi, \, P_V(\tilde{\phi}_{a,b}) \right\rangle + \left\langle (P_W - I)(\sigma(a,b)\phi), \, P_V(\tilde{\phi}_{a,b}) \right\rangle.
\end{aligned} (6.18)$$

By (6.17), the first term in (6.18) is

$$\langle \sigma(a,b)\phi, P_V(\tilde{\phi}_{a,b})\rangle = 1.$$

By the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality and equations (6.15) and (6.16), the second term in (6.18) is bounded by

$$|\langle (P_W - I)(\sigma(a,b)\phi), P_V(\tilde{\phi}_{a,b})\rangle| \le ||(P_W - I)(\sigma(a,b)\phi)||_2 ||P_V(\tilde{\phi}_{a,b})||_2 \le \varepsilon C.$$

This yields a lower bound for the trace of T:

$$\operatorname{tr}(T) \ge \sum_{(a,b) \in Q_h(p,q) \cap \Delta} (1 - C\varepsilon) = (1 - C\varepsilon) \# (Q_h(p,q) \cap \Delta).$$

On the other hand, the operator norm of T satisfies $||T|| \le ||P_V|| ||P_W|| \le 1$, so all eigenvalues of T must satisfy $|\lambda| \le ||T|| \le 1$. This in turn provides us with an upper bound for the trace of T, because the trace is the sum of the nonzero eigenvalues, so

$$\operatorname{tr}(T) \leq \operatorname{rank}(T) \leq \dim \left(W(e^{\frac{R}{2}}h + R, p, q)\right) \leq \#(Q_{e^{\frac{R}{2}}h + R}(p, q) \cap \bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \Lambda_{\ell}).$$

Combining these two estimates, we see that for each h > 0 and all $(p, q) \in \mathbb{A}$, we have

$$(1 - C\varepsilon) \# (Q_h(p,q) \cap \Delta) \le \# (Q_{e^{\frac{R}{2}}h + R}(p,q) \cap \Lambda).$$

Therefore,

$$(1-C\varepsilon)\,\frac{\#(Q_h(p,q)\cap \varDelta)}{h^2} \leq \frac{\#(Q_{e^{\frac{R}{2}}h+R}(p,q)\cap \varLambda)}{(e^{\frac{R}{2}}h+R)^2}\,\frac{(e^{\frac{R}{2}}h+R)^2}{h^2}.$$

Taking the infimum over all points $(p,q) \in \mathbb{A}$ and then the liminf as $h \to \infty$, or the supremum over all points $(p,q) \in \mathbb{A}$ and then the limsup as $h \to \infty$, therefore yields the estimates

$$(1 - C\varepsilon)D^{-}(\Delta) \le e^{R}D^{-}(\Lambda)$$
 and $(1 - C\varepsilon)D^{+}(\Delta) \le e^{R}D^{+}(\Lambda)$.

Since we took $R = R(\phi, \varepsilon)$, this completes the proof.

As a corollary, we obtain the following necessary density condition. This density condition was also obtained in Theorem 4.2, but with the restrictive additional hypothesis that $\mathcal{D}^+(\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \Lambda_\ell^{-1}) < \infty$. Moreover, Theorem 6.11 provides more information, in terms of the value of the associated radius function, than merely the fact that $\mathcal{D}^-(\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \Lambda_\ell)$ must be positive. In particular, the following result applies to any frame generated by analyzing wavelets $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in \mathcal{B}_0$, since by Theorem 6.10, such a frame will satisfy the Strong (and hence the Weak) HAP. We further mention that a similar result for singly generated wavelet systems with analyzing wavelets satisfying a different regularity condition, however without any additional information on the value of the lower density, was derived by Sun and Zhou [119, Thm. 3.4] for their notion of density.

Corollary 6.12. Let $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ be such that the system $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ is a frame for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ that satisfies the Weak HAP. Then, by setting $\Lambda = \bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \Lambda_\ell$, we have

$$0 < \mathcal{D}^-(\Lambda) \le \mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda) < \infty.$$

Proof. The fact that $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda) < \infty$ follows from Theorem 4.1 and Remark 3.2(a). To show that the lower affine density is positive, let $\phi = \chi_{[0,\frac{1}{2})} - \chi_{[\frac{1}{2},1)} \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ be the Haar wavelet and set $\Delta = \{(2^j,k)\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}}$. Then $\mathcal{W}(\phi,\Delta)$ is the classical Haar orthonormal basis for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$. Lemma 3.3 shows that $\mathcal{D}^-(\Delta) = \frac{1}{\ln 2}$. Therefore, Theorem 6.11 applied to the frame $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ and the Haar basis $\mathcal{W}(\phi,\Delta)$ implies that for any $0<\varepsilon<1$ we have

$$\mathcal{D}^-(\Lambda) \ge \frac{1-\varepsilon}{e^{R(\phi,\varepsilon)} \ln 2} > 0,$$

which finishes the proof.

6.5 Density Results for Wavelet Schauder Bases

In this section we will derive some results for wavelet systems which form Schauder bases for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$.

The existence of a wavelet Schauder basis (albeit requiring two generators) which is not a Riesz basis is shown in the following example.

Example 6.13. Fix $0 < \alpha < \frac{1}{2}$. Define a function ψ by $\hat{\psi}(\xi) = |\xi - \frac{3}{2}|^{\alpha}$ for $\xi \in [1,2]$ and zero otherwise. It is a nontrivial result of Babenko [3] that $\{e^{2\pi i m \xi} \hat{\psi}(\xi)\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}$ forms a Schauder basis for $L^2[1,2]$ (with respect to an appropriate ordering of \mathbb{Z}), but this Schauder basis is not a Riesz basis for $L^2([1,2])$ (see also the discussion in Singer [114, pp. 351–354]). An argument similar to the one used in Deng and Heil [45, Ex. 3.3] then shows that if we set $\Lambda = \{(2^j,k)\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}}$, then there exists an ordering of Λ such that $\mathcal{W}(\psi,\Lambda)$ is a Schauder basis but not a Riesz basis for \mathcal{H}^2_+ , which is the space consisting of functions in $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ whose Fourier transforms are supported in $[0,\infty)$. If we define ψ_- by $\hat{\psi}_-(\xi) = \hat{\psi}(-\xi)$, then $\mathcal{W}(\psi,\Lambda) \cup \mathcal{W}(\psi_-,\Lambda)$ is a Schauder basis but not a Riesz basis for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$. However, it is possible to show that this system possesses an upper frame bound but not a lower frame bound, and hence its dual basis possesses a lower frame bound but not an upper frame bound.

We first show that the upper affine density of any wavelet Schauder basic sequence must be finite.

Proposition 6.14. Let $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ be such that the system $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ is a Schauder basic sequence in $L^2(\mathbb{R})$. Then, by setting $\Lambda = \bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \Lambda_\ell$, we have $\mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda) < \infty$.

Proof. Suppose that the sequence $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ is a Schauder basis for $Y = \overline{\operatorname{span}}\{\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)\} \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{R})$. Schauder bases are countable, so let $\Lambda_\ell = \{(a_{\ell k}, b_{\ell k})\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ be an ordering of Λ_ℓ for all $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$ with respect to which the basis expansions converge in Y. Let $\tilde{\mathcal{W}} = \{\tilde{\psi}_{\ell k}\}_{\ell=1,\ldots,L,k \in \mathbb{N}}$ denote the dual basis in Y. Let $S_{\ell N}(f) = \sum_{k=1}^N \langle f, \tilde{\psi}_{\ell k} \rangle \, \sigma(a_{\ell k}, b_{\ell k}) \psi_\ell$ denote the associated partial sum operators for each $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$.

Fix $\varepsilon > 0$. Since translation and dilation are strongly continuous families of operators on $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, there exists $\delta > 0$ such that

$$\|\sigma(a,b)\psi_{\ell} - \psi_{\ell}\|_{2} = \|D_{a}T_{b}\psi_{\ell} - \psi_{\ell}\|_{2} < \varepsilon \text{ for all } \ell = 1,\ldots,L \text{ and } (a,b) \in Q_{\delta}.$$

Fix $\ell \in \{1, ..., L\}$. Suppose that there exist two points $(a_{\ell m}, b_{\ell m})$ and $(a_{\ell n}, b_{\ell n})$ from Λ_{ℓ} that are both contained in some box $Q_{\delta}(x, y)$. Without loss of generality, assume m < n. If we define

$$\varphi_{m,n,\ell} = \sigma(a_{\ell m}, b_{\ell m})\psi_{\ell} - \sigma(a_{\ell n}, b_{\ell n})\psi_{\ell},$$

then since $(x,y)^{-1} \cdot (a_{\ell m},b_{\ell m}) \in Q_{\delta}$ and $(x,y)^{-1} \cdot (a_{\ell n},b_{\ell n}) \in Q_{\delta}$, we have

$$\|\varphi_{m,n,\ell}\|_{2}$$

$$= \|\sigma((x,y)^{-1} \cdot (a_{\ell m}, b_{\ell m}))\psi_{\ell} - \sigma((x,y)^{-1} \cdot (a_{\ell n}, b_{\ell n}))\psi_{\ell}\|_{2}$$

$$\leq \|\sigma((x,y)^{-1} \cdot (a_{\ell m}, b_{\ell m}))\psi_{\ell} - \psi_{\ell}\|_{2} + \|\sigma((x,y)^{-1} \cdot (a_{\ell n}, b_{\ell n}))\psi_{\ell} - \psi_{\ell}\|_{2}$$

$$< 2\varepsilon.$$

However, since $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}$ are biorthogonal,

$$S_{\ell m}(\varphi_{m,n,\ell}) = \sum_{k=1}^{m} \langle \sigma(a_{\ell m}, b_{\ell m}) \psi_{\ell}, \tilde{\psi}_{\ell k} \rangle \sigma(a_{\ell k}, b_{\ell k}) \psi_{\ell}$$
$$- \sum_{k=1}^{m} \langle \sigma(a_{\ell n}, b_{\ell n}) \psi_{\ell}, \tilde{\psi}_{\ell k} \rangle \sigma(a_{\ell k}, b_{\ell k}) \psi_{\ell}$$
$$= \sigma(a_{\ell m}, b_{\ell m}) \psi_{\ell},$$

and therefore $||S_{\ell m}(\varphi_{m,n,\ell})||_2 = ||\sigma(a_{\ell m},b_{\ell m})\psi_{\ell}||_2 = ||\psi_{\ell}||_2$. But then

$$||S_{\ell m}|| = \sup_{||f||_2 = 1} ||S_{\ell m}(f)||_2 \ge \frac{||S_{\ell m}(\varphi_{m,n,\ell})||_2}{||\varphi_{m,n,\ell}||_2} > \frac{||\psi_{\ell}||_2}{2\varepsilon}.$$

Since ε is arbitrary, this contradicts the fact that $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, \Lambda_{\ell})$ has a finite basis constant $C = \sup_{\ell, N} ||S_{\ell N}||$.

Consequently, each translate $Q_{\delta}(x,y)$ can contain at most one point of Λ_{ℓ} for all $\ell=1,\ldots,L$. It follows from this that $D^{+}(\Lambda)<\infty$.

The definition of the Strong and Weak HAPs for wavelet Schauder bases differs from the definition for frames only in that it uses the dual basis instead of the canonical dual frame. We use the same notation as before, except that $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell) = \{\sigma(a, b)\psi_\ell\}_{(a, b) \in \Lambda_\ell, \ell=1, \dots, L}$ is now assumed to

be a Schauder basis, and $\{\tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell}\}_{(a,b)\in A_\ell,\ell=1,\dots,L}$ is its dual basis. We define the space W(h,p,q) by (6.6), using the dual basis instead of the canonical dual frame, and likewise make the corresponding minor changes in the definition of the Strong and Weak HAPs. By Proposition 6.14, we must have $\mathcal{D}^+(\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \Lambda_\ell) < \infty$, and hence W(h,p,q) will be finite-dimensional.

Note that since for each $\ell=1,\ldots,L$ all the elements of $\mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell},\Lambda_{\ell})$ have exactly the same norm, the system $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell},\Lambda_{\ell})$ is a bounded basis. Hence the dual basis is also a bounded basis, and thus the elements of the dual basis are uniformly bounded in norm.

We show now that if $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in \mathcal{B}_0$ and $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ is a Schauder basis for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, then $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ satisfies the Weak HAP.

Theorem 6.15. Let $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in \mathcal{B}_0$ and $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ be such that $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ is a Schauder basis for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$. Then $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ satisfies the Weak HAP.

Proof. Let $\tilde{\mathcal{W}} = {\{\tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell}\}_{(a,b)\in\Lambda,\ell=1,\dots,L}}$ be the dual basis to $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$. Then $C = \sup_{(a,b)\in\Lambda,\ell=1,\dots,L} ||\tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell}||_2 < \infty$. Let

$$M = \max_{\ell=1...,L} \sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{A}} \#(\Lambda_{\ell} \cap Q_{\delta}(x,y)),$$

and note that $M < \infty$ by Propositions 6.14 and 3.4(i).

First we will show that the conditions of the Weak HAP, i.e., equation (6.7) are satisfied for functions in \mathcal{B}_0 , then extend by density to all of $L^2(\mathbb{R})$. Choose $g \in \mathcal{B}_0$ and fix any $\varepsilon > 0$. Then, for any $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$, we have $W_{\psi_{\ell}}g \in W_{\mathbb{A}}(C, L^1)$ by Theorem 6.4. Therefore, if we fix any $\delta > 0$, then we can find R' large enough that if J is defined by (6.12) then

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(j,k) \in J} \left\| W_{\psi_{\ell}} g \cdot \chi_{B_{jk}} \right\|_{\infty} < \frac{\varepsilon}{CM}.$$

Now set $R = R(g,\varepsilon) = R'e^{\delta} + \delta e^{\delta} + \delta e^{2\delta}$. We then proceed similarly to the proof of Theorem 6.10, using the dual basis instead of the canonical dual frame and applying Minkowski's inequality instead of frame estimates. Choose any $(p,q) \in \mathbb{A}$. Since $Q_R(p,q) \cap \Lambda_\ell$ is a finite set for each $\ell = 1, \ldots, L$, we have

$$\sigma(p,q)g - \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b)\in Q_R(p,q)\cap \Lambda_{\ell}} \langle \sigma(p,q)g, \sigma(a,b)\psi_{\ell} \rangle \tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell}$$

$$= \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b)\in \Lambda \setminus Q_R(p,q)} \langle \sigma(p,q)g, \sigma(a,b)\psi_{\ell} \rangle \tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell}$$

with respect to some appropriate ordering of these series. Applying the triangle inequality, we therefore have

$$\begin{aligned}
&\operatorname{dist}\left(\sigma(p,q)g,\ W(R,p,q)\right) \\
&\leq \left\|\sigma(p,q)g - \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b)\in Q_{R}(p,q)\cap\Lambda_{\ell}} \left\langle \sigma(p,q)g,\ \sigma(a,b)\psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell} \right\|_{2} \\
&= \left\|\sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b)\in\Lambda_{\ell}\setminus Q_{R}(p,q)} \left\langle \sigma(p,q)g,\ \sigma(a,b)\psi_{\ell} \right\rangle \tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell} \right\|_{2} \\
&\leq \left(\sup_{(a,b)\in\Lambda_{\ell},\ell=1,\dots,L} \|\tilde{\psi}_{a,b,\ell}\|_{2}\right) \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b)\in\Lambda_{\ell}\setminus Q_{R}(p,q)} \left|\left\langle g,\ \sigma((p,q)^{-1}(a,b))\psi_{\ell} \right\rangle\right| \\
&\leq C \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(a,b)\in\Lambda_{\ell}\setminus Q_{R}(p,q)} \left|W_{\psi_{\ell}}g((p,q)^{-1}(a,b))\right| \\
&= C \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(c,d)\in(p,q)^{-1}\cdot\Lambda_{\ell}\setminus Q_{R}} \left|W_{\psi_{\ell}}g(c,d)\right| \\
&\leq CM \sum_{\ell=1}^{L} \sum_{(j,k)\in J} \left\|W_{\psi_{\ell}}g \cdot \chi_{B_{jk}}\right\|_{\infty} < \varepsilon.
\end{aligned}$$

Thus (6.7) is satisfied for the function g.

Now suppose that f is any function in $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, and choose any $\varepsilon > 0$. Since \mathcal{B}_0 is dense in $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, there exists $g \in \mathcal{B}_0$ such that $\|f - g\|_2 < \frac{\varepsilon}{3}$. Set $R(f,\varepsilon) = R(g,\frac{\varepsilon}{3})$, and denote this quantity by R. Choose any $(p,q) \in \mathbb{A}$, and let P_W denote the orthogonal projection of $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ onto W(R,p,q). Then

$$\begin{aligned} &\operatorname{dist} \left(\sigma(p,q)f, \ W(R,p,q) \right) \\ &= \left\| \sigma(p,q)f - P_W \sigma(p,q)f \right\|_2 \\ &\leq \left\| \sigma(p,q)f - \sigma(p,q)g \right\|_2 + \left\| \sigma(p,q)g - P_W \sigma(p,q)g \right\|_2 \\ &+ \left\| P_W \sigma(p,q)g - P_W \sigma(p,q)f \right\|_2 \\ &\leq \left\| f - g \right\|_2 + \operatorname{dist} \left(\sigma(p,q)g, \ W(R,p,q) \right) + \left\| g - f \right\|_2 \\ &< \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} = \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Thus (6.7) is satisfied for the function f, so $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^{L} \mathcal{W}(\psi_{\ell}, \Lambda_{\ell})$ possesses the Weak HAP.

We can now compare the affine density of wavelet Schauder bases satisfying the Weak HAP with the affine density of other wavelet Schauder bases. The proof mostly follows the steps of the proof of Theorem 6.11, therefore we omit it here.

104

Theorem 6.16 (Comparison Theorem). Assume that

- (i) $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ are such that the system $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ is a Schauder basis for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ that satisfies the Weak HAP. and
- (ii) $\phi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and $\Delta \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ are such that $W(\phi, \Delta)$ is a Schauder basis for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$.

Let $\{\tilde{\phi}_{a,b}\}_{(a,b)\in\Delta}$ denote the dual basis of $W(\phi,\Delta)$. Furthermore, set $C = \sup_{(a,b)\in\Delta} \|\tilde{\phi}_{a,b}\|_2$. Then for each $\varepsilon > 0$, by setting $\Lambda = \bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \Lambda_\ell$, we have

$$\frac{1 - C\varepsilon}{e^{R(\phi, \varepsilon)}} \mathcal{D}^{-}(\Delta) \leq \mathcal{D}^{-}(\Lambda) \quad and \quad \frac{1 - C\varepsilon}{e^{R(\phi, \varepsilon)}} \mathcal{D}^{+}(\Delta) \leq \mathcal{D}^{+}(\Lambda).$$

As a corollary, we obtain the following necessary density condition for the existence of wavelet Schauder bases that satisfy the Weak HAP.

Corollary 6.17. Let $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_L \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_L \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ be such that the system $\bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \mathcal{W}(\psi_\ell, \Lambda_\ell)$ is a Schauder basis for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ that satisfies the Weak HAP. Then, by setting $\Lambda = \bigcup_{\ell=1}^L \Lambda_\ell$, we have

$$0 < \mathcal{D}^-(\Lambda) \le \mathcal{D}^+(\Lambda) < \infty.$$

Proof. In Theorem 6.16 we let $\phi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ be the Haar wavelet and $\Delta = \{(2^j,k)\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}}$. Then $\mathcal{W}(\phi,\Delta)$ is an orthonormal basis for $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, and $\mathcal{D}^-(\Delta) = \mathcal{D}^+(\Delta) = \frac{1}{\ln 2}$.

References

- 1. A. Aldroubi, C. Cabrelli, and U. M. Molter, Wavelets on irregular grids with arbitrary dilation matrices and frame atoms for $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 17 (2004), 119–140.
- G. Ascensi and G. Kutyniok, Accumulative density, in: "Wavelets XI" (San Diego, CA, 2005), M. Papadakis, A. F. Laine, and M. A. Unser, eds., SPIE Proc. 5914, SPIE, Bellingham, WA (2005), 188–195.
- K. I. Babenko, On conjugate functions (Russian), Doklady Akad. Nauk SSSR (N. S.) 62 (1948), 157–160.
- L. Baggett, Processing a radar signal and representations of the discrete Heisenberg group, Colloq. Math. 60/61 (1990), 195–203.
- R. Balan, Stability theorems for Fourier frames and wavelet Riesz bases,
 J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 3 (1997), 499–504.
- R. Balan, P. G. Casazza, C. Heil, and Z. Landau, Density, overcompleteness, and localization of frames. I. Theory, J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 12 (2006), 105–143.
- R. Balan, P. G. Casazza, C. Heil, and Z. Landau, Density, overcompleteness, and localization of frames. II. Gabor systems, J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 12 (2006), 309–344.
- 8. J. J. Benedetto and P. J. S. G. Ferreira, eds., *Modern sampling theory. Mathematics and applications*, Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2000.
- 9. J. J. Benedetto, C. Heil, and D. Walnut, Differentiation and the Balian-Low theorem, J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 1 (1995), 355–402.
- J. J. Benedetto, A. Powell, and O. Yilmaz, Sigma-Delta quantization and finite frames, IEEE Trans. Inform. Th. 52 (2006), 1990–2005.
- M. Bownik, Quasi-affine systems and the Calderón condition, in: "Harmonic analysis at Mount Holyoke" (South Hadley, MA, 2001), W. Beckner, A. Nagel, A. Seeger, and H. F. Smith, eds., Contemp. Math. 320, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI (2003), 29–43.
- M. Bownik and Z. Rzeszotnik, The spectral function of shift-invariant spaces, Michigan Math. J. 51 (2003), 387–414.
- 13. E. J. Candès and D. L. Donoho, New tight frames of curvelets and optimal representations of objects with piecewise C^2 singularities, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 57 (2004), 219–266.
- 14. P. G. Casazza, The art of frame theory, Taiwanese J. Math. 4 (2000), 129-201.

- P. G. Casazza and O. Christensen, Gabor frames over irregular lattices, Adv. Comput. Math. 18 (2003), 329–344.
- P. G. Casazza, O. Christensen, and A. J. E. M. Janssen, Classifying tight Weyl-Heisenberg frames, in: "The functional and harmonic analysis of wavelets and frames" (San Antonio, TX, 1999), L. W. Baggett and D. R. Larson, eds., Contemp. Math. 247, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI (1999), 131–148.
- 17. P. G. Casazza, O. Christensen, and A. J. E. M. Janssen, Weyl-Heisenberg frames, translation invariant systems and the Walnut representation, J. Funct. Anal. 180 (2001), 85–147.
- P. G. Casazza, O. Christensen, and M. C. Lammers, Perturbations of Weyl-Heisenberg frames, Hokkaido Math. J. 31 (2002), 539–553.
- 19. R. H. Chan, S. D. Riemenschneider, L. Shen, and Z. Shen, *Tight frame: an efficient way for high-resolution image reconstruction*, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. **17** (2004), 91–115.
- 20. O. Christensen, Frames, Riesz bases, and discrete Gabor/wavelet expansions, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 38 (2001), 273–291.
- 21. O. Christensen, An Introduction to Frames and Riesz Bases, Birkhäuser, Boston, 2003.
- O. Christensen, B. Deng, and C. Heil, Density of Gabor frames, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 7 (1999), 292–304.
- O. Christensen, S. Favier, and Z. Felipe, Irregular wavelet frames and Gabor frames, Approx. Theory Appl. (N.S.) 17 (2001), 90–101.
- C. K. Chui, An introduction to wavelets, Wavelet Analysis and its Applications,
 Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA, 1992.
- C. K. Chui, ed., Wavelets. A tutorial in theory and applications, Wavelet Analysis and its Applications, 2, Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA, 1992.
- C. K. Chui, Wavelets: a mathematical tool for signal processing, SIAM Monographs on Mathematical Modeling and Computation, SIAM, Philadelphia, PA, 1997.
- 27. C. K. Chui, W. Czaja, M. Maggioni, and G. Weiss, Characterization of general tight wavelet frames with matrix dilations and tightness preserving oversampling, J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 8 (2002), 173–200.
- 28. C. K. Chui, W. He, and J. Stöckler, Compactly supported tight and sibling frames with maximum vanishing moments, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 18 (2002), 224–262.
- C. K. Chui, W. He, and J. Stöckler, Tight frames with maximum vanishing moments and minimum support, in: "Approximation theory, X" (St. Louis, MO, 2001), C. K. Chui, L. L. Schumaker, and J. Stöckler, eds., Innov. Appl. Math., Vanderbilt Univ. Press, Nashville, TN (2002), 187–206.
- C. K. Chui, W. He, and J. Stöckler, Nonstationary tight wavelet frames.
 I. Bounded intervals, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 17 (2004), 141–197.
- 31. C. K. Chui, W. He, and J. Stöckler, Nonstationary tight wavelet frames. II. Unbounded intervals, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 18 (2005), 25–66.
- 32. C. K. Chui, W. He, J. Stöckler, and Q. Sun, Compactly supported tight affine frames with integer dilations and maximum vanishing moments, Adv. Comput. Math. 18 (2003), 159–187.
- C. K. Chui and X. Shi, Inequalities of Littlewood-Paley type for frames and wavelets, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 24 (1993), 263–277.
- 34. C. K. Chui and X. Shi, Orthonormal wavelets and tight frames with arbitrary real dilations, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 9 (2000), 243–264.

- 35. C. K. Chui, X. Shi, and J. Stöckler, Affine frames, quasi-affine frames, and their duals, Adv. Comp. Math. 8 (1998), 1–17.
- W. Czaja, G. Kutyniok, and D. Speegle, The geometry of sets of parameters of wave packet frames, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 20 (2006), 108–125.
- 37. W. Czaja, G. Kutyniok, and D. Speegle, Beurling dimension of Gabor pseudo-frames for affine subspaces, preprint (2006).
- X. Dai and D. R. Larson, Wandering vectors for unitary systems and orthogonal wavelets, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 134, 1998.
- 39. X. Dai, D. R. Larson, and D. M. Speegle, Wavelet sets in \mathbb{R}^n , J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 3 (1997), 451–456.
- I. Daubechies, The wavelet transform, time-frequency localization and signal analysis, IEEE Trans. Inform. Th. 39 (1990), 961–1005.
- 41. I. Daubechies, Ten Lectures on Wavelets, SIAM, Philadelphia, 1992.
- 42. I. Daubechies, B. Han, A. Ron, and Z. Shen, Framelets: MRA-based constructions of wavelet frames, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 14 (2003), 1–46.
- I. Daubechies, H. Landau, and Z. Landau, Gabor time-frequency lattices and the Wexler-Raz identity, J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 1 (1995), 437–478.
- 44. L. Debnath, Wavelet transforms and their applications, Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2002.
- B. Deng and C. Heil, Density of Gabor Schauder bases, in: "Wavelet Applications in Signal and Image Processing VIII" (San Diego, CA, 2000), A. Aldroubi, A. F. Laine, and M. A. Unser, eds., Proc. SPIE 4119, SPIE, Bellingham, WA (2000), 153–164.
- R. J. Duffin and A. C. Schaeffer, A class of nonharmonic Fourier series, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 72 (1952), 341–366.
- 47. H. G. Feichtinger, On a new Segal algebra, Monatsh. Math. 92 (1981), 269–289.
- H. G. Feichtinger, Banach convolution algebras of Wiener type, in: "Functions, Series, Operators", (Budapest, 1980), J. Bolyai, ed., North Holland, Amsterdam (1983), 509–524.
- 49. H. G. Feichtinger, Banach spaces of distributions defined by decomposition methods. II, Math. Nachr. 132 (1987), 207–237.
- H. G. Feichtinger, Generalized amalgams, with applications to Fourier transform, Canad. J. Math. 42 (1990), 395–409.
- H. G. Feichtinger and P. Gröbner, Banach spaces of distributions defined by decomposition methods, I, Math. Nachr. 123 (1985), 97–120.
- H. G. Feichtinger and K. Gröchenig, Banach spaces related to integrable group representations and their atomic decompositions, I, J. Funct. Anal. 86 (1989), 307–340.
- H. G. Feichtinger and K. Gröchenig, Banach spaces related to integrable group representations and their atomic decompositions, II, Monatsh. Math. 108 (1989), 129–148.
- H. G. Feichtinger, K. Gröchenig, and T. Strohmer, Efficient numerical methods in non-uniform sampling theory. Numer. Math. 69 (1995), 423–440.
- H. G. Feichtinger and N. Kaiblinger, Varying the time-frequency lattice of Gabor frames, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 356 (2004), 2001–2023.
- H. G. Feichtinger and T. Strohmer, eds., Gabor Analysis and Algorithms: Theory and Applications, Birkhäuser, Boston, 1998.
- 57. H. G. Feichtinger and T. Strohmer, eds., *Advances in Gabor Analysis*, Birkhäuser, Boston, 2003.

- G. B. Folland, A course in abstract harmonic analysis, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 1995.
- 59. D. Gabor, *Theory of communication*, J. IEE (London) **93** (1946), 429–457.
- V. K. Goyal, J. Kovačević, and J. A. Kelner, Quantized frame expansions with erasures, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 10 (2001), 203–233.
- 61. P. Gressman, D. Labate, G. Weiss, and E. Wilson, *Affine, quasi-affine and co-affine wavelets*, in: "Beyond Wavelets", G. W. Welland, ed., Studies in Computational Mathematics **10**, Elsevier (2003), 215–224.
- K. Gröchenig, Irregular sampling of wavelet and short-time Fourier transforms, Constr. Approx. 9 (1993), 283–297.
- K. Gröchenig, Foundations of time-frequency analysis, Birkhäuser, Boston, 2001.
- 64. K. Gröchenig, Localization of frames, Banach frames, and the invertibility of the frame operator, J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 10 (2004), 105–132.
- K. Gröchenig, C. Heil, and K. Okoudjou, Gabor analysis in weighted amalgam spaces, Sampl. Theory Signal Image Process. 1 (2002), 225–259.
- K. Gröchenig and H. Razafinjatovo, On Landau's necessary density conditions for sampling and interpolation of band-limited functions, J. London Math. Soc. 54 (1996), 557–565.
- K. Gröchenig and A. Ron, Tight compactly supported wavelet frames of arbitrarily high smoothness, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 126 (1998), 1101–1107.
- A. Grossmann, J. Morlet, and T. Paul, Transforms associated to square integrable group representations II: examples, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Phys. Théor. 45 (1986), 293–309.
- K. Guo and D. Labate, Some remarks on the unified characterization of reproducing systems, Collect. Math. 57 (206), 279–293.
- 70. C. Heil, A Basis Theory Primer, unpublished manuscript (1997), electronic version available at http://www.math.gatech.edu/~heil.
- C. Heil, An introduction to weighted Wiener amalgams, in: "Wavelets and their Applications" (Chennai, January 2002), M. Krishna, R. Radha, and S. Thangavelu, eds., Allied Publishers, New Delhi (2003), 183–216.
- 72. C. Heil, History and evolution of the Density Theorem for Gabor frames, preprint (2006).
- C. Heil and G. Kutyniok, Density of wavelet frames, J. Geom. Anal. 13 (2003), 479–493.
- 74. C. Heil and G. Kutyniok, *Density of frames and Schauder bases of windowed exponentials*, Houston J. Math., to appear.
- 75. C. Heil and G. Kutyniok, *The Homogeneous Approximation Property for wavelet frames*, J. Approx. Theory, to appear.
- C. E. Heil and D. F. Walnut, Continuous and discrete wavelet transforms, SIAM Review 31 (1989), 628–666.
- E. Hernández, D. Labate, and G. Weiss, A unified characterization of reproducing systems generated by a finite family, II, J. Geom. Anal. 12 (2002), 615–662.
- E. Hernández, D. Labate, G. Weiss, and E. Wilson, Oversampling, quasi-affine frames, and wave packets, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 16 (2004), 111–147.
- E. Hernández and G. Weiss, A first course on wavelets, Studies in Advanced Mathematics, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1996.
- E. Hewitt and K. A. Ross, Abstract harmonic analysis I, Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg/New York, 1963.

- E. Hewitt and K. A. Ross, Abstract harmonic analysis II, Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg/New York, 1970.
- 82. J. A. Hogan and J. D. Lakey, *Time-frequency and time-scale methods. Adaptive decompositions, uncertainty principles, and sampling*, Applied and Numerical Harmonic Analysis, Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2005.
- M. Holschneider, Wavelets, An Analysis Tool, Oxford University Press Inc., New York, 1995.
- 84. L. Hörmander, An Introduction to Complex Analysis in Several Variables, North-Holland, New York, 1973.
- S. Jaffard, A density criterion for frames for complex exponentials, Michigan Math. J. 38 (1991), 339–348.
- 86. A. J. E. M. Janssen, Signal analytic proofs of two basic results on lattice expansions, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 1 (1994), 350–354.
- 87. A. J. E. M. Janssen, A density theorem for time-continuous filter banks, in: "Signal and image representation in combined spaces", Y. Y. Zeevi and R. R. Coifman, eds., Wavelet Anal. Appl. 7, Academic Press, San Diego, CA (1998), 513–523.
- 88. B. D. Johnson, On the relationship between quasi-affine systems and the à trous algorithm, Collect. Math. **53** (2002), 187–210.
- 89. B. D. Johnson, On the oversampling of affine wavelet frames, SIAM J. Math. Anal. **35** (2003), 623–638.
- 90. B. D. Johnson, *Co-affine systems in* \mathbb{R}^d , in: "Wavelets, frames and operator theory", Contemp. Math. **345**, C. Heil, P. E. T. Jorgensen, and D. R. Larson, eds., Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI (2004), 193–202.
- 91. M. N. Kolountzakis and J. C. Lagarias, Structure of tilings of the line by a function, Duke Math. J. 82 (1996), 653–678.
- G. Kutyniok, Computation of the density of weighted wavelet systems, in:
 "Wavelets: Applications in Signal and Image Processing X" (San Diego, 2003),
 M. A. Unser, A. Aldroubi, and A. F. Laine, eds., Proc. SPIE 5207, Bellingham,
 WA (2003), 393-404.
- G. Kutyniok, Bearling density and shift-invariant weighted irregular Gabor systems, Sampl. Theory Signal Image Process. 5 (2006), 163–181.
- G. Kutyniok, The local integrability condition for wavelet frames, J. Geom. Anal. 16 (2006), 155–166.
- 95. G. Kutyniok, Affine density, frame bounds, and the admissibility condition for wavelet frames, Constr. Approx. 25 (2007), 239–253.
- 96. D. Labate, A unified characterization of repreducing systems generated by a finite family, J. Geom. Anal. 12 (2002), 469–491.
- 97. H. Landau, Necessary density conditions for sampling and interpolation of certain entire functions, Acta Math. 117 (1967), 37–52.
- 98. H. Landau, On the density of phase-space expansions, IEEE Trans. Inform. Th. **39** (1993), 1152–1156.
- 99. J. Lindenstrauss and L. Tzafriri, Classical Banach Spaces, I, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1977.
- S. Mallat, A wavelet tour of signal processing, Academic Press, Inc., San Diego, CA, 1998.
- J. Marti, Introduction to the Theory of Bases, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1969
- Y. Meyer, Wavelets and operators, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992.

- 103. A. Olevskii, Completeness in $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ of almost integer translates, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris **324** (1997), 987–991.
- 104. A. Olevskii and A. Ulanovskii, Almost integer translates. Do nice generators exist?, J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 10 (2004), 93–104.
- 105. P. A. Olson and K. Seip, A note on irregular discrete wavelet transforms, IEEE Trans. Inform. Th. $\bf 38~(1992),~861–863.$
- 106. V. Perrier and C. Basdevant, Besov norms in terms of the continuous wavelet transform. Application to structure functions, Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci. 6 (1996), 649–664.
- J. Ramanathan and T. Steger, Incompleteness of sparse coherent states, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 2 (1995), 148–153.
- M. Rieffel, Von Neumann algebras associated with pairs of lattices in Lie groups, Math. Ann. 257 (1981), 403–418.
- 109. A. Ron and Z. Shen, Affine systems in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$: the analysis of the analysis operator, J. Funct. Anal. 3 (1997), 617–637.
- 110. A. Ron and Z. Shen, Weyl-Heisenberg frames and Riesz bases in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, Duke Math. J. **89** (1997), 237–282.
- 111. A. Ron and Z. Shen, Generalized shift-invariant systems, Constr. Approx. 22 (2005), 1–45.
- 112. K. Seip, Sampling and interpolation in the Bargmann–Fock space, I, J. Reine Angew. Math. **429** (1992), 91–106.
- 113. K. Seip, Beurling type density theorems in the unit disk, Invent. Math. 113 (1993), 21–39.
- 114. I. Singer, Bases in Banach Spaces, I, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1970.
- 115. D. Speegle, On the existence of wavelets for non-expansive dilation matrices, Collect. Math. **54** (2003), 163–179.
- T. Strohmer and R. W. Heath, Jr., Grassmannian frames with applications to coding and communication, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 14 (2003), 257–275.
- 117. W. Sun, Density of wavelet frames, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal., to appear.
- W. Sun and X. Zhou, Irregular wavelet/Gabor frames, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 13 (2002), 63–76.
- 119. W. Sun and X. Zhou, *Density and stability of wavelet frames*, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. **15** (2003), 117–133.
- W. Sun and X. Zhou, Irregular Gabor frames and their stability, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 131 (2003), 2883–2893.
- 121. W. Sun and X. Zhou, Density of irregular wavelet frames, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 132 (2004), 2377–2387.
- H. Triebel, Theory of Function Spaces II, Monograph in Mathematics 84, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1992.
- Y. Wang, Sparse complete Gabor systems on a lattice, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 16 (2004), 60–67.
- 124. G. Weiss and E. N. Wilson *The mathematical theory of wavelets*, in: "Twentieth century harmonic analysis—a celebration" (Il Ciocco, 2000), J. S. Byrnes, ed., NATO Sci. Ser. II Math. Phys. Chem. **33**, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht (2001), 329–366.
- 125. N. Wiener, Tauberian theorems, Ann. of Math. 33 (1932), 1–100.
- N. Wiener, The Fourier Integral and Certain of its Applications, MIT Press, Cambridge, 1933.
- 127. X. Yang and X. Zhou, An extension of the Chui-Shi frame condition, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 16 (2004), 148–157.

128. R. Young, An Introduction to Nonharmonic Fourier Series, Revised First Edition, Academic Press, San Diego, 2001.

\mathbf{Index}

admissibility condition, 14 constant, 13, 73 admissible, 13 affine density uniform weighted, 8, 22, 23, 75 weighted, 7, 22, 73 affine group, 13 affine system classical, 1, 16 oversampled, 8, 42 affinely h-separated, 37 Aldroubi, A., IX, 2 amalgam space, 9, 19, 49, 51, 87, 111 analyzing wavelet, 1, 13 Ascensi, G., 109, 118	wavelet orthonormal, 76 wavelet Schauder, 100 Benedetto, J. J., 1, 2, 4 Bergman transform, 40 Besov space, 14 Bessel bound, 12 sequence, 12 Beurling density, 3, 9, 18 uniform weighted, 61, 108 weighted, 61, 107, 119 bounded basis, 12 bounded partition of unity, see BUPU Bownik, M., IX, 3, 6, 15, 16 Buhmann, M., IX BUPU, 20, 88
associated radius function, 93 associated shift-invariant sequence, 122	Cabrelli, C., 2 Candès, E. J., 2 canonical dual frame, 12
Babenko, K. I., 100 Baggett, L., 3 Balan, R., IX, 2, 4, 5, 19, 75, 93, 107 Bargmann–Fock space, 4 Basdevant, C., 14 basic set of analyzing wavelets, 88 basis bounded, 12 constant, 12 dual, 12 irregular wavelet Schauder, 9 Riesz, 12 Schauder, 12	Carro, M., IX Casazza, P. G., IX, 2, 4, 11, 12, 19, 93, 107 Chan, R. H., 2 Christensen, O., IX, 2, 3, 11, 12, 19, 25, 36, 39, 44, 94, 108 Chui, C. K., IX, 1, 2, 6, 13, 15, 59, 73, 105, 123 classical affine system, 1, 15, 16, 23, 105 co-affine frame, 83 system, 6, 8, 16, 43, 82 Comparison Theorem, 97, 103

CWT, 13	wavelet Parseval, 56
Czaja, W., IX, 2, 4	
	Gabor frame, 2
Dai, X., 5, 75	irregular, 3
Daubechies, I., 1–3, 5, 6, 11, 13, 16, 23,	Gabor orthonormal basis, 76
59, 60, 73, 75, 89, 107	Gabor system, 18
Debnath, L., 1	irregular, 2, 18
Deng, B., 2, 3, 19, 25, 36, 39, 44, 94,	regular, 1, 3
100, 108	shift-invariant, 10, 105, 122
density	weighted, 18
affine, see weighted affine	Gabor, D., 1
Beurling, 3, 9, 18 Nyoniet, 4, 5, 23, 76	Goyal, V. K., 2
Nyquist, 4, 5, 23, 76 uniform, 45	Gröbner, P., 38 Gröchenig, K., IX, 2, 4, 16, 18–20, 79,
uniform Beurling, 19	121
uniform weighted affine, 8, 22, 23, 75	Gressman, P., 6, 15, 16, 43, 61, 83
uniform weighted Beurling, 61, 108	group
weighted, 45	affine, 13
weighted f -, 115	Heisenberg, 17
weighted affine, 7, 22, 73	isomorphic to affine group, 27
weighted Beurling, 61, 107, 119	Guo, K., 48
dilation operator, 13, 115	
disjoint union, 15	Han, B., 2
Donoho, D. L., 2	HAP, 3, 9
dual basis, 12	Strong, 93, 94, 101
	Weak, 93, 101, 102
f-density, 115	He, W., 2
Favier, S., 2	Heath, Jr., R. W., 2
Feichtinger algebra, 17, 89	Heil, C., IX, 2–4, 11, 13, 14, 19, 21, 25,
Feichtinger, H. G., IX, 1, 2, 16, 17, 19, 20, 38, 121	35, 36, 39, 44, 59, 60, 71, 74, 87, 93, 94, 100, 107, 108
Felipe, Z., 2	Heisenberg group, 17
Ferreira, P. J. S. G., 1	Hernández, E., VIII, 2, 8, 13, 16, 35, 48,
Folland, G. B., 19	105, 123
Fourier transform, 13	Hewitt, E., 19
frame, 2, 11	Hogan, J., IX
bounds, 11, 73, 119	Hogan, J. A., 1
canonical dual, 12	Holschneider, M., 90
co-affine, 83	Homogeneous Approximation Property,
expansions, 12	see HAP
Gabor, 2	: d
irregular Gabor, 3	index
localized, 4 of weighted exponentials, 71	time-frequency, 18 time-scale, 15
operator, 11	irregular
Parseval, 11	Gabor frame, 3
tight, 11	Gabor system, 2, 18
tight irregular wavelet, 8	wavelet Schauder basis, 9
wavelet, 2	wavelet system, 2, 15
,	v , , , -

Jaffard, S., 74	operator
Janssen, A. J. E. M., 3	dilation, 13, 115
Johnson, B., X	modulation, 17
Johnson, B. D., 6, 15, 16	translation, 13
Johnson, L., X	orthogonality relations, 17
Johnson, S., X	orthonormal basis
, ,	Gabor, 76
Kaiblinger, N., 2	oversampled affine system, 8, 16, 42
Kelner, J. A., 2	oversampling theorems, 123
Kolountzakis, M. N., IX, 69, 113	,
Kovačević, J., 2	Parseval frame, 11
Krishtal, I., IX	wavelet, 56
Kutyniok, G., 2, 4, 19, 21, 35, 59, 60,	partial sum operator, 12
71, 74, 87, 105, 109, 118	Perrier, V., 14
Kutyniok, H., X	perturbation, 46, 109
Kutyniok, N., X	piecewise continuous, 111
,,	Powell, A., 2
Labate, D., VIII, IX, 2, 6, 8, 15, 16, 35,	quasi-affine system, 5, 15, 16, 105
43, 48, 61, 83, 105, 123	
Labate, F., IX	Ramanathan, J., 2–4, 97
Lagariag I C 60 112	Razafinjatovo, H., 4
Lagarias, J. C., 69, 113	regular Gabor system, 1, 3, 18
Lakey, J. D., 1	relatively separated, 20
Lammers, M. C., 2	Rieffel, M., 3
Landau, H., IX, 3, 19, 106, 116	Riemenschneider, S. D., 2
Landau, Z., IX, 2–4, 19, 93, 107	Riesz basis, 12
Larson, D. R., 5, 75	Ron, A., IX, 2, 5, 15, 16, 105
LIC, VIII, 8, 48, 50	Ross, K. A., 19
Lindenstrauss, J., 11	Rzeszotnik, Z., 3
Littlewood–Paley type inequality, 51,	C TO THE
64, 119	Sauer, T., IX
local integrability condition, see LIC	Schauder basic sequence, 12
localized frame, 4	Schauder basis, 12
M	irregular wavelet, 9
Maggioni, M., 2	wavelet, 100
Mallat, S., 1	Schrödinger representation, 17
Marti, J., 11	Seip, K., 4, 6
Meyer, Y., 14	separated, 20
modulation operator, 17	Shen, L., 2
modulation space, 17	Shen, Z., IX, 2, 5, 15, 16, 105
Molter, U. M., IX, 2	Shi, X., 2, 6, 15, 59, 73, 105, 123
()	shift-invariance, 5, 105, 122
norm of the Gabor generators, 119	shift-invariant
Nyquist	extension pair, 123
density, 4, 5, 23, 76	Gabor system, 10, 105, 122
phenomenon, 8, 75	system, 5
01 1" 4 4	wavelet system, 106
Olevskii, A., 4	Short-Time Fourier transform, see
Olson, P. A., 6	STFT

Singer, I., 11, 100	U-dense, 20
Soria, J., IX	Ulanovskii, A., 4
space	unconditional basis, 12
amalgam, 9, 19, 49, 51, 87, 111	uniform
Bargmann–Fock, 4	density, 45
Besov, 14	weighted affine density, 8, 22, 23, 75
modulation, 17	weighted Beurling density, 61, 108
Wiener amalgam, see amalgam	
Speegle, D., IX, 4, 5, 75	Walnut, D., 4, 11, 13, 14
Stöckler, J., 2, 6, 15, 105, 123	Wang, Y., IX, 4
Steger, T., 2–4, 97	wavelet
STFT, 17	analysis, 1
Strohmer, T., 1, 2, 16, 121	analyzing, 1, 13
Strong HAP, 93, 94, 101	wavelet frame, 2
Strong Homogeneous Approximation	tight irregular, 8
Property, see Strong HAP	wavelet orthonormal basis, 76
Sun, Q., 2	wavelet Parseval frame, 56
Sun, W., VIII, 2, 7, 21, 30, 36, 37, 63,	wavelet Schauder basis, 100
74, 99	irregular, 9
system	wavelet system, 15
classical affine, 1, 15, 16, 23, 105	irregular, 2, 15
co-affine, 6, 8, 16, 43, 82	shift-invariant, 106
Gabor, 18	weighted, 15
irregular Gabor, 2	wavelet transform, 13
irregular wavelet, 2	Weak HAP, 93, 101, 102
of dilations, 44	Weak Homogeneous Approximation
of translates, 44	Property, see Weak HAP
of weighted exponentials, 63	weighted f -density, 115
oversampled affine, 8, 16, 42	weighted affine density, 7, 22, 73
quasi-affine, 5, 15, 16, 105	uniform, 75
regular Gabor, 1, 3, 18	weighted Beurling density, 61, 107, 119
shift-invariant, 5	uniform, 61, 108
shift-invariant Gabor, 10, 105, 122	weighted density, 45
shift-invariant wavelet, 106	weighted Gabor system, 18
wavelet, 15	weighted wavelet system, 15
4:1.4	Weiss, G., VIII, IX, 2, 6, 8, 13, 15, 16,
frame 11	35, 43, 48, 61, 83, 105, 123
frame, 11	Wiener amalgam space, see amalgam
irregular wavelet frame, 8	space
time-frequency analysis, 1	Wiener, N., 19
time-frequency index, 18	Wilson, E., IX, 6, 13, 15, 16, 43, 61, 83,
time-scale index, 15	105, 123
transform	,
Bargman, 40	Yang, X., 60, 64, 77
Fourier, 13	Yilmaz, O., 2
Short-Time Fourier, 17	Young, R., 11
wavelet, 13	<u>.</u> ,
translation operator, 13	Zhou, X., VIII, 2, 7, 21, 30, 36, 60, 63,
Triebel, H., 14	64, 74, 77, 99
Tzafrifi, L., 11	

Lecture Notes in Mathematics

For information about earlier volumes please contact your bookseller or Springer LNM Online archive: springerlink.com

Vol. 1719: K. R. Meyer, Periodic Solutions of the N-Body Problem (1999)

Vol. 1720: D. Elworthy, Y. Le Jan, X-M. Li, On the Geometry of Diffusion Operators and Stochastic Flows (1999) Vol. 1721: A. Iarrobino, V. Kanev, Power Sums, Gorenstein Algebras, and Determinantal Loci (1999)

Vol. 1722: R. McCutcheon, Elemental Methods in Ergodic Ramsey Theory (1999)

Vol. 1723: J. P. Croisille, C. Lebeau, Diffraction by an Immersed Elastic Wedge (1999)

Vol. 1724: V. N. Kolokoltsov, Semiclassical Analysis for Diffusions and Stochastic Processes (2000)

Vol. 1725: D. A. Wolf-Gladrow, Lattice-Gas Cellular Automata and Lattice Boltzmann Models (2000)

Vol. 1726: V. Marić, Regular Variation and Differential Equations (2000)

Vol. 1727: P. Kravanja M. Van Barel, Computing the Zeros of Analytic Functions (2000)

Vol. 1728: K. Gatermann Computer Algebra Methods for Equivariant Dynamical Systems (2000)

Vol. 1729: J. Azéma, M. Émery, M. Ledoux, M. Yor (Eds.) Séminaire de Probabilités XXXIV (2000)

Vol. 1730: S. Graf, H. Luschgy, Foundations of Quantization for Probability Distributions (2000)

Vol. 1731: T. Hsu, Quilts: Central Extensions, Braid Actions, and Finite Groups (2000)

Vol. 1732: K. Keller, Invariant Factors, Julia Equivalences and the (Abstract) Mandelbrot Set (2000)

Vol. 1733: K. Ritter, Average-Case Analysis of Numerical Problems (2000)

Vol. 1734: M. Espedal, A. Fasano, A. Mikelić, Filtration in Porous Media and Industrial Applications. Cetraro 1998. Editor: A. Fasano. 2000.

Vol. 1735: D. Yafaev, Scattering Theory: Some Old and New Problems (2000)

Vol. 1736: B. O. Turesson, Nonlinear Potential Theory and Weighted Sobolev Spaces (2000)

Vol. 1737: S. Wakabayashi, Classical Microlocal Analysis in the Space of Hyperfunctions (2000)

Vol. 1738: M. Émery, A. Nemirovski, D. Voiculescu, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics (2000)

Vol. 1739: R. Burkard, P. Deuflhard, A. Jameson, J.-L. Lions, G. Strang, Computational Mathematics Driven by Industrial Problems. Martina Franca, 1999. Editors: V. Capasso, H. Engl, J. Periaux (2000)

Vol. 1740: B. Kawohl, O. Pironneau, L. Tartar, J.-P. Zolesio, Optimal Shape Design. Tróia, Portugal 1999. Editors: A. Cellina. A. Ornelas (2000)

Vol. 1741: E. Lombardi, Oscillatory Integrals and Phenomena Beyond all Algebraic Orders (2000)

Vol. 1742: A. Unterberger, Quantization and Nonholomorphic Modular Forms (2000)

Vol. 1743: L. Habermann, Riemannian Metrics of Constant Mass and Moduli Spaces of Conformal Structures (2000)

Vol. 1744: M. Kunze, Non-Smooth Dynamical Systems (2000)

Vol. 1745: V. D. Milman, G. Schechtman (Eds.), Geometric Aspects of Functional Analysis. Israel Seminar 1999-2000 (2000)

Vol. 1746: A. Degtyarev, I. Itenberg, V. Kharlamov, Real Enriques Surfaces (2000)

Vol. 1747: L. W. Christensen, Gorenstein Dimensions (2000)

Vol. 1748: M. Ruzicka, Electrorheological Fluids: Modeling and Mathematical Theory (2001)

Vol. 1749: M. Fuchs, G. Seregin, Variational Methods for Problems from Plasticity Theory and for Generalized Newtonian Fluids (2001)

Vol. 1750: B. Conrad, Grothendieck Duality and Base Change (2001)

Vol. 1751: N. J. Cutland, Loeb Measures in Practice: Recent Advances (2001)

Vol. 1752: Y. V. Nesterenko, P. Philippon, Introduction to Algebraic Independence Theory (2001)

Vol. 1753: A. I. Bobenko, U. Eitner, Painlevé Equations in the Differential Geometry of Surfaces (2001)

Vol. 1754: W. Bertram, The Geometry of Jordan and Lie Structures (2001)

Vol. 1755: J. Azéma, M. Émery, M. Ledoux, M. Yor (Eds.), Séminaire de Probabilités XXXV (2001)

Vol. 1756: P. E. Zhidkov, Korteweg de Vries and Nonlinear Schrödinger Equations: Qualitative Theory (2001)

Vol. 1757: R. R. Phelps, Lectures on Choquet's Theorem (2001)

Vol. 1758: N. Monod, Continuous Bounded Cohomology of Locally Compact Groups (2001)

Vol. 1759: Y. Abe, K. Kopfermann, Toroidal Groups (2001)

Vol. 1760: D. Filipović, Consistency Problems for Heath-Jarrow-Morton Interest Rate Models (2001)

Vol. 1761: C. Adelmann, The Decomposition of Primes in Torsion Point Fields (2001)

Vol. 1762: S. Cerrai, Second Order PDE's in Finite and Infinite Dimension (2001)

Vol. 1763: J.-L. Loday, A. Frabetti, F. Chapoton, F. Goichot, Dialgebras and Related Operads (2001)

Vol. 1764: A. Cannas da Silva, Lectures on Symplectic Geometry (2001)

Vol. 1765: T. Kerler, V. V. Lyubashenko, Non-Semisimple Topological Quantum Field Theories for 3-Manifolds with Corners (2001)

Vol. 1766: H. Hennion, L. Hervé, Limit Theorems for Markov Chains and Stochastic Properties of Dynamical Systems by Quasi-Compactness (2001)

Vol. 1767: J. Xiao, Holomorphic Q Classes (2001)

Vol. 1768: M. J. Pflaum, Analytic and Geometric Study of Stratified Spaces (2001)

Vol. 1769: M. Alberich-Carramiñana, Geometry of the Plane Cremona Maps (2002)

- Vol. 1770: H. Gluesing-Luerssen, Linear Delay-Differential Systems with Commensurate Delays: An Algebraic Approach (2002)
- Vol. 1771: M. Émery, M. Yor (Eds.), Séminaire de Probabilités 1967-1980. A Selection in Martingale Theory (2002)
- Vol. 1772: F. Burstall, D. Ferus, K. Leschke, F. Pedit, U. Pinkall, Conformal Geometry of Surfaces in S^4 (2002) Vol. 1773: Z. Arad, M. Muzychuk, Standard Integral Table Algebras Generated by a Non-real Element of Small Degree (2002)
- Vol. 1774: V. Runde, Lectures on Amenability (2002) Vol. 1775: W. H. Meeks, A. Ros, H. Rosenberg, The Global Theory of Minimal Surfaces in Flat Spaces. Martina Franca 1999. Editor: G. P. Pirola (2002)
- Vol. 1776: K. Behrend, C. Gomez, V. Tarasov, G. Tian, Quantum Comohology. Cetraro 1997. Editors: P. de Bartolomeis, B. Dubrovin, C. Reina (2002)
- Vol. 1777: E. García-Río, D. N. Kupeli, R. Vázquez-Lorenzo, Osserman Manifolds in Semi-Riemannian Geometry (2002)
- Vol. 1778: H. Kiechle, Theory of K-Loops (2002)
- Vol. 1779: I. Chueshov, Monotone Random Systems (2002)
- Vol. 1780: J. H. Bruinier, Borcherds Products on O(2,1) and Chern Classes of Heegner Divisors (2002)
- Vol. 1781: E. Bolthausen, E. Perkins, A. van der Vaart, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics. Ecole d' Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXIX-1999. Editor: P. Bernard (2002)
- Vol. 1782: C.-H. Chu, A. T.-M. Lau, Harmonic Functions on Groups and Fourier Algebras (2002)
- Vol. 1783; L. Grüne, Asymptotic Behavior of Dynamical and Control Systems under Perturbation and Discretization (2002)
- Vol. 1784: L. H. Eliasson, S. B. Kuksin, S. Marmi, J.-C. Yoccoz, Dynamical Systems and Small Divisors. Cetraro, Italy 1998. Editors: S. Marmi, J.-C. Yoccoz (2002)
- Vol. 1785: J. Arias de Reyna, Pointwise Convergence of Fourier Series (2002)
- Vol. 1786: S. D. Cutkosky, Monomialization of Morphisms from 3-Folds to Surfaces (2002)
- Vol. 1787: S. Caenepeel, G. Militaru, S. Zhu, Frobenius and Separable Functors for Generalized Module Categories and Nonlinear Equations (2002)
- Vol. 1788: A. Vasil'ev, Moduli of Families of Curves for Conformal and Quasiconformal Mappings (2002)
- Vol. 1789: Y. Sommerhäuser, Yetter-Drinfel'd Hopf algebras over groups of prime order (2002)
- Vol. 1790: X. Zhan, Matrix Inequalities (2002)
- Vol. 1791: M. Knebusch, D. Zhang, Manis Valuations and Prüfer Extensions I: A new Chapter in Commutative Algebra (2002)
- Vol. 1792: D. D. Ang, R. Gorenflo, V. K. Le, D. D. Trong, Moment Theory and Some Inverse Problems in Potential Theory and Heat Conduction (2002)
- Vol. 1793: J. Cortés Monforte, Geometric, Control and Numerical Aspects of Nonholonomic Systems (2002)
- Vol. 1794: N. Pytheas Fogg, Substitution in Dynamics, Arithmetics and Combinatorics. Editors: V. Berthé, S. Ferenczi, C. Mauduit, A. Siegel (2002)
- Vol. 1795: H. Li, Filtered-Graded Transfer in Using Noncommutative Gröbner Bases (2002)
- Vol. 1796: J.M. Melenk, hp-Finite Element Methods for Singular Perturbations (2002)
- Vol. 1797: B. Schmidt, Characters and Cyclotomic Fields in Finite Geometry (2002)

- Vol. 1798: W.M. Oliva, Geometric Mechanics (2002) Vol. 1799: H. Pajot, Analytic Capacity, Rectifiability, Menger Curvature and the Cauchy Integral (2002)
- Vol. 1800: O. Gabber, L. Ramero, Almost Ring Theory (2003)
- Vol. 1801: J. Azéma, M. Émery, M. Ledoux, M. Yor (Eds.), Séminaire de Probabilités XXXVI (2003)
- Vol. 1802: V. Capasso, E. Merzbach, B. G. Ivanoff, M. Dozzi, R. Dalang, T. Mountford, Topics in Spatial Stochastic Processes. Martina Franca, Italy 2001. Editor: E. Merzbach (2003)
- Vol. 1803: G. Dolzmann, Variational Methods for Crystalline Microstructure Analysis and Computation (2003) Vol. 1804: I. Cherednik, Ya. Markov, R. Howe, G. Lusztig, Iwahori-Hecke Algebras and their Representation Theory. Martina Franca, Italy 1999. Editors: V. Baldoni, D. Barbasch (2003)
- Vol. 1805: F. Cao, Geometric Curve Evolution and Image Processing (2003)
- Vol. 1806: H. Broer, I. Hoveijn. G. Lunther, G. Vegter, Bifurcations in Hamiltonian Systems. Computing Singularities by Gröbner Bases (2003)
- Vol. 1807: V. D. Milman, G. Schechtman (Eds.), Geometric Aspects of Functional Analysis. Israel Seminar 2000-2002 (2003)
- Vol. 1808: W. Schindler, Measures with Symmetry Properties (2003)
- Vol. 1809: O. Steinbach, Stability Estimates for Hybrid Coupled Domain Decomposition Methods (2003)
- Vol. 1810: J. Wengenroth, Derived Functors in Functional Analysis (2003)
- Vol. 1811: J. Stevens, Deformations of Singularities (2003)
- Vol. 1812: L. Ambrosio, K. Deckelnick, G. Dziuk, M. Mimura, V. A. Solonnikov, H. M. Soner, Mathematical Aspects of Evolving Interfaces. Madeira, Funchal, Portugal 2000. Editors: P. Colli, J. F. Rodrigues (2003)
- G. Buttazzo, C. Villani, Optimal Transportation and its Applications. Martina Franca, Italy 2001. Editors: L. A. Caffarelli, S. Salsa (2003)
- Vol. 1814: P. Bank, F. Baudoin, H. Föllmer, L.C.G. Rogers, M. Soner, N. Touzi, Paris-Princeton Lectures on Mathematical Finance 2002 (2003)
- Vol. 1815: A. M. Vershik (Ed.), Asymptotic Combinatorics with Applications to Mathematical Physics. St. Petersburg, Russia 2001 (2003)
- Vol. 1816: S. Albeverio, W. Schachermayer, M. Talagrand, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics. Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXX-2000. Editor: P. Bernard (2003)
- Vol. 1817: E. Koelink, W. Van Assche (Eds.), Orthogonal Polynomials and Special Functions. Leuven 2002 (2003) Vol. 1818: M. Bildhauer, Convex Variational Problems with Linear, nearly Linear and/or Anisotropic Growth Conditions (2003)
- Vol. 1819: D. Masser, Yu. V. Nesterenko, H. P. Schlickewei, W. M. Schmidt, M. Waldschmidt, Diophantine Approximation. Cetraro, Italy 2000. Editors: F. Amoroso, U. Zannier (2003)
- Vol. 1820: F. Hiai, H. Kosaki, Means of Hilbert Space Operators (2003)
- Vol. 1821: S. Teufel, Adiabatic Perturbation Theory in Quantum Dynamics (2003)
- Vol. 1822: S.-N. Chow, R. Conti, R. Johnson, J. Mallet-Paret, R. Nussbaum, Dynamical Systems. Cetraro, Italy 2000. Editors: J. W. Macki, P. Zecca (2003)

Vol. 1823: A. M. Anile, W. Allegretto, C. Ringhofer, Mathematical Problems in Semiconductor Physics. Cetraro, Italy 1998. Editor: A. M. Anile (2003)

Vol. 1824: J. A. Navarro González, J. B. Sancho de Salas, € Differentiable Spaces (2003)

Vol. 1825: J. H. Bramble, A. Cohen, W. Dahmen, Multiscale Problems and Methods in Numerical Simulations, Martina Franca, Italy 2001. Editor: C. Canuto (2003)

Vol. 1826: K. Dohmen, Improved Bonferroni Inequalities via Abstract Tubes. Inequalities and Identities of Inclusion-Exclusion Type. VIII, 113 p, 2003.

Vol. 1827: K. M. Pilgrim, Combinations of Complex Dynamical Systems. IX, 118 p, 2003.

Vol. 1828: D. J. Green, Gröbner Bases and the Computation of Group Cohomology. XII, 138 p, 2003.

Vol. 1829: É. Altman, B. Gaujal, A. Hordijk, Discrete-Event Control of Stochastic Networks: Multimodularity and Regularity. XIV, 313 p, 2003.

Vol. 1830: M. I. Gil', Operator Functions and Localization of Spectra. XIV, 256 p, 2003.

Vol. 1831: A. Connes, J. Cuntz, E. Guentner, N. Higson, J. E. Kaminker, Noncommutative Geometry, Martina Franca, Italy 2002. Editors: S. Doplicher, L. Longo (2004) Vol. 1832: J. Azéma, M. Émery, M. Ledoux, M. Yor (Eds.), Séminaire de Probabilités XXXVII (2003)

Vol. 1833: D.-Q. Jiang, M. Qian, M.-P. Qian, Mathematical Theory of Nonequilibrium Steady States. On the Frontier of Probability and Dynamical Systems. IX, 280 p, 2004.

Vol. 1834: Yo. Yomdin, G. Comte, Tame Geometry with Application in Smooth Analysis. VIII, 186 p, 2004. Vol. 1835: O.T. Izhboldin, B. Kahn, N.A. Karpenko, A. Vishik, Geometric Methods in the Algebraic Theory of Quadratic Forms. Summer School, Lens, 2000. Editor: J.-P. Tignol (2004)

Vol. 1836: C. Năstăsescu, F. Van Oystaeyen, Methods of Graded Rings. XIII, 304 p, 2004.

Vol. 1837: S. Tavaré, O. Zeitouni, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics. Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXI-2001. Editor: J. Picard (2004)

Vol. 1838: A.J. Ganesh, N.W. O'Connell, D.J. Wischik, Big Queues. XII, 254 p, 2004.

Vol. 1839: R. Gohm, Noncommutative Stationary Processes. VIII, 170 p, 2004.

Vol. 1840: B. Tsirelson, W. Werner, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics. Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXII-2002. Editor: J. Picard (2004)

Vol. 1841: W. Reichel, Uniqueness Theorems for Variational Problems by the Method of Transformation Groups (2004)

Vol. 1842: T. Johnsen, A. L. Knutsen, K₃ Projective Models in Scrolls (2004)

Vol. 1843: B. Jefferies, Spectral Properties of Noncommuting Operators (2004)

Vol. 1844: K.F. Siburg, The Principle of Least Action in Geometry and Dynamics (2004)

Vol. 1845: Min Ho Lee, Mixed Automorphic Forms, Torus Bundles, and Jacobi Forms (2004)

Vol. 1846: H. Ammari, H. Kang, Reconstruction of Small Inhomogeneities from Boundary Measurements (2004) Vol. 1847: T.R. Bielecki, T. Björk, M. Jeanblanc, M.

Vol. 1847: 1.R. Bielecki, T. Bjork, M. Jeanblanc, M. Rutkowski, J.A. Scheinkman, W. Xiong, Paris-Princeton Lectures on Mathematical Finance 2003 (2004)

Vol. 1848: M. Abate, J. E. Fornaess, X. Huang, J. P. Rosay, A. Tumanov, Real Methods in Complex and CR Geometry, Martina Franca, Italy 2002. Editors: D. Zaitsev, G. Zampieri (2004)

Vol. 1849: Martin L. Brown, Heegner Modules and Elliptic Curves (2004)

Vol. 1850: V. D. Milman, G. Schechtman (Eds.), Geometric Aspects of Functional Analysis. Israel Seminar 2002-2003 (2004)

Vol. 1851: O. Catoni, Statistical Learning Theory and Stochastic Optimization (2004)

Vol. 1852: A.S. Kechris, B.D. Miller, Topics in Orbit Equivalence (2004)

Vol. 1853: Ch. Favre, M. Jonsson, The Valuative Tree (2004)

Vol. 1854: O. Saeki, Topology of Singular Fibers of Differential Maps (2004)

Vol. 1855: G. Da Prato, P.C. Kunstmann, I. Lasiecka, A. Lunardi, R. Schnaubelt, L. Weis, Functional Analytic Methods for Evolution Equations. Editors: M. Iannelli, R. Nagel, S. Piazzera (2004)

Vol. 1856: K. Back, T.R. Bielecki, C. Hipp, S. Peng, W. Schachermayer, Stochastic Methods in Finance, Bressanone/Brixen, Italy, 2003. Editors: M. Fritelli, W. Runggaldier (2004)

Vol. 1857: M. Émery, M. Ledoux, M. Yor (Eds.), Séminaire de Probabilités XXXVIII (2005)

Vol. 1858: A.S. Cherny, H.-J. Engelbert, Singular Stochastic Differential Equations (2005)

Vol. 1859: E. Letellier, Fourier Transforms of Invariant Functions on Finite Reductive Lie Algebras (2005)

Vol. 1860: A. Borisyuk, G.B. Ermentrout, A. Friedman, D. Terman, Tutorials in Mathematical Biosciences I. Mathematical Neurosciences (2005)

Vol. 1861: G. Benettin, J. Henrard, S. Kuksin, Hamiltonian Dynamics – Theory and Applications, Cetraro, Italy, 1999. Editor: A. Giorgilli (2005)

Vol. 1862: B. Helffer, F. Nier, Hypoelliptic Estimates and Spectral Theory for Fokker-Planck Operators and Witten Laplacians (2005)

Vol. 1863: H. Führ, Abstract Harmonic Analysis of Continuous Wavelet Transforms (2005)

Vol. 1864: K. Efstathiou, Metamorphoses of Hamiltonian Systems with Symmetries (2005)

Vol. 1865: D. Applebaum, B.V. R. Bhat, J. Kustermans, J. M. Lindsay, Quantum Independent Increment Processes I. From Classical Probability to Quantum Stochastic Calculus. Editors: M. Schürmann, U. Franz (2005)

Vol. 1866: O.E. Barndorff-Nielsen, U. Franz, R. Gohm, B. Kümmerer, S. Thorbjønsen, Quantum Independent Increment Processes II. Structure of Quantum Lévy Processes, Classical Probability, and Physics. Editors: M. Schürmann. U. Franz. (2005)

Vol. 1867: J. Sneyd (Ed.), Tutorials in Mathematical Biosciences II. Mathematical Modeling of Calcium Dynamics and Signal Transduction. (2005)

Vol. 1868: J. Jorgenson, S. Lang, $Pos_n(R)$ and Eisenstein Series. (2005)

Vol. 1869: A. Dembo, T. Funaki, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics. Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIII-2003. Editor: J. Picard (2005)

Vol. 1870: V.I. Gurariy, W. Lusky, Geometry of Müntz Spaces and Related Questions. (2005)

Vol. 1871: P. Constantin, G. Gallavotti, A.V. Kazhikhov, Y. Meyer, S. Ukai, Mathematical Foundation of Turbulent Viscous Flows, Martina Franca, Italy, 2003. Editors: M. Cannone, T. Miyakawa (2006)

Vol. 1872: A. Friedman (Ed.), Tutorials in Mathematical Biosciences III. Cell Cycle, Proliferation, and Cancer (2006)

Vol. 1873: R. Mansuy, M. Yor, Random Times and Enlargements of Filtrations in a Brownian Setting (2006)

Vol. 1874: M. Yor, M. Émery (Eds.), In Memoriam Paul-André Meyer - Séminaire de probabilités XXXIX (2006) Vol. 1875: J. Pitman, Combinatorial Stochastic Processes. Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXII-2002. Editor: J. Picard (2006)

Vol. 1876: H. Herrlich, Axiom of Choice (2006)

Vol. 1877: J. Steuding, Value Distributions of L-Functions

Vol. 1878: R. Cerf, The Wulff Crystal in Ising and Percolation Models, Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIV-2004. Editor: Jean Picard (2006)

Vol. 1879: G. Slade, The Lace Expansion and its Applications, Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIV-2004. Editor: Jean Picard (2006)

Vol. 1880: S. Attal, A. Joye, C.-A. Pillet, Open Quantum Systems I, The Hamiltonian Approach (2006)

Vol. 1881: S. Attal, A. Joye, C.-A. Pillet, Open Quantum Systems II, The Markovian Approach (2006)

Vol. 1882: S. Attal, A. Joye, C.-A. Pillet, Open Quantum Systems III, Recent Developments (2006)

Vol. 1883: W. Van Assche, F. Marcellan (Eds.), Orthogonal Polynomials and Special Functions, Computation and Application (2006)

Vol. 1884: N. Hayashi, E.I. Kaikina, P.I. Naumkin, I.A. Shishmarev, Asymptotics for Dissipative Nonlinear Equations (2006)

Vol. 1885: A. Telcs, The Art of Random Walks (2006)

Vol. 1886: S. Takamura, Splitting Deformations of Degenerations of Complex Curves (2006)

Vol. 1887: K. Habermann, L. Habermann, Introduction to Symplectic Dirac Operators (2006)

Vol. 1888: J. van der Hoeven, Transseries and Real Differential Algebra (2006)

Vol. 1889: G. Osipenko, Dynamical Systems, Graphs, and Algorithms (2006)

Vol. 1890: M. Bunge, J. Funk, Singular Coverings of Toposes (2006)

Vol. 1891: J.B. Friedlander, D.R. Heath-Brown, H. Iwaniec, J. Kaczorowski, Analytic Number Theory, Cetraro, Italy, 2002. Editors: A. Perelli, C. Viola (2006) Vol. 1892: A. Baddeley, I. Bárány, R. Schneider, W. Weil, Stochastic Geometry, Martina Franca, Italy, 2004. Editor: W. Weil (2007)

Vol. 1893: H. Hanßmann, Local and Semi-Local Bifurcations in Hamiltonian Dynamical Systems, Results and Examples (2007)

Vol. 1894: C.W. Groetsch, Stable Approximate Evaluation of Unbounded Operators (2007)

Vol. 1895: L. Molnár, Selected Preserver Problems on Algebraic Structures of Linear Operators and on Function Spaces (2007)

Vol. 1896: P. Massart, Concentration Inequalities and Model Selection, Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIII-2003. Editor: J. Picard (2007)

Vol. 1897: R. Doney, Fluctuation Theory for Lévy Processes, Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXV-2005. Editor: J. Picard (2007)

Vol. 1898: H.R. Beyer, Beyond Partial Differential Equations, On linear and Quasi-Linear Abstract Hyperbolic Evolution Equations (2007)

Vol. 1899: Séminaire de Probabilités XL. Editors: C. Donati-Martin, M. Émery, A. Rouault, C. Stricker

Vol. 1900: E. Bolthausen, A. Bovier (Eds.), Spin Glasses (2007)

Vol. 1901: O. Wittenberg, Intersections de deux quadriques et pinceaux de courbes de genre 1, Intersections of Two Quadrics and Pencils of Curves of Genus

Vol. 1902: A. Isaev, Lectures on the Automorphism Groups of Kobayashi-Hyperbolic Manifolds (2007)

Vol. 1903: G. Kresin, V. Maz'ya, Sharp Real-Part Theorems (2007)

Vol. 1904: P. Giesl, Construction of Global Lyapunov Functions Using Radial Basis Functions (2007)

Vol. 1905: C. Prévôt, M. Röckner, A Concise Course on Stochastic Partial Differential Equations (2007)

Vol. 1906: T. Schuster, The Method of Approximate Inverse: Theory and Applications (2007)

Vol. 1907: M. Rasmussen, Attractivity and Bifurcation for Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems (2007)

Vol. 1908: T.J. Lyons, M. Caruana, T. Lévy, Differential Equations Driven by Rough Paths, Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIV-2004. (2007)

Vol. 1909: H. Akiyoshi, M. Sakuma, Y. Yamashita, Punctured Torus Groups and 2-Bridge Knot Groups (I) (2007)

Vol. 1910: V.D. Milman, G. Schechtman (Eds.), Geometric Aspects of Functional Analysis. Israel Seminar 2004-2005 (2007)

Vol. 1911: A. Bressan, D. Serre, M. Williams, K. Zumbrun, Hyperbolic Systems of Balance Laws. Lectures given at the C.I.M.E. Summer School held in Cetraro, Italy, July 14–21, 2003. Editor: P. Marcati (2007) Vol. 1912: V. Berinde, Iterative Approximation of Fixed Points (2007)

Vol. 1913: J.E. Marsden, G. Misiołek, J.-P. Ortega, M. Perlmutter, T.S. Ratiu, Hamiltonian Reduction by Stages (2007)

1914: G. Kutyniok, Affine Density in Wavelet Analysis (2007)

Recent Reprints and New Editions

Vol. 1618: G. Pisier, Similarity Problems and Completely Bounded Maps. 1995 – 2nd exp. edition (2001)

Vol. 1629: J.D. Moore, Lectures on Seiberg-Witten

Invariants. 1997 – 2nd edition (2001) Vol. 1638: P. Vanhaecke, Integrable Systems in the realm of Algebraic Geometry. 1996 – 2nd edition (2001) Vol. 1702: J. Ma, J. Yong, Forward-Backward Stochas-

tic Differential Equations and their Applications. 1999 -Corr. 3rd printing (2007)

Vol. 830: J.A. Green, Polynomial Representations of GL_n , with an Appendix on Schensted Correspondence and Littelmann Paths by K. Erdmann, J.A. Green and M. Schocker 1980 - 2nd corr. and augmented edition (2007)